
Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA
Regular Meeting

Wednesday, August 22, 2018
6:00 PM

Council Chambers

1.    CALL TO ORDER

2.    PROOF OF POSTING

3.    ROLL CALL

4.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

5.    SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS

5.a    Hooksett Youth Achiever of the Month

5.b    Hooksett Police - Swearing-in ceremony new Police Officers

5.c    Hooksett Fire-Rescue - Swearing-in ceremony new Firefighters/AEMTs and promotions

5.d    Hooksett Municipal Employees – New Hires

6.    SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS

6.a    Todd Rainier, Town Clerk and Marc Miville, Moderator - September 11, 2018 primary
elections

7.    APPROVAL OF MINUTES

7.a    Public:  04/25/18 (tabled from 05/09/18 Town Council Meeting pending verbatim minutes on
pedestrian bridge)

TC Minutes 042518-U.docx

7.b    Public:  06/27/18 (tabled from 07/11/18 Town Council Meeting)
TC Minutes 062718-U.docx

7.c    Public:  07/11/18
TC Minutes 071118-U.docx

7.d    Public:  08/08/18 Workshop
TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U.docx

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225020/TC_Minutes_042518-U.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/212424/TC_Minutes_062718-U.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/224967/TC_Minutes_071118-U.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226902/TC_WORKSHOP_Minutes_080818-U.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

7.e    Non-Public:  07/11/18

8.    AGENDA OVERVIEW

9.    PUBLIC HEARINGS

9.a    Public hearing to accept the donation of $19,688 ($11,000 from the Hooksett School District,
$4,344 from  HYAA Baseball and $4,344 from HYAA Softball) to the Town of Hooksett for the
Parks, Recreation & Cemetery Division of Public Works for the purchase of a Toro 3040 Sandpro
(a baseball infield machine) per RSA 31:95-b III (a).

082218 PW DONATION PH-1.doc

Staff Report - Donation of Sand pro.docx

9.b    Public hearing to accept a $25,000.00 grant from the Stanton Foundation, to the Town of
Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department at the Town Council meeting for the acceptance of
this grant under RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and to return said amount to the police department K-9 trust
fund.

082218 HPD GRANT PH.doc

Staff Report - K9 $25,000.docx

20180731101538738.pdf

9.c    Public hearing to accept $10,596.43 donations ($5,000 SNHU and $5,596.43 citizens,
business owners and the Hooksett Police Association) to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett
Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and to return said amount to the police department K-9
trust fund.

082218 HPD K-9 DONATION PH.doc

Staff_Report_K9_August_22.docx

Staff_Report_K9_August_22a.docx

K-9_donations_for_8-22_meeting.docx

10.    CONSENT AGENDA

10.a    Motion to accept the donation of the food, drinks and paper products with a combined
estimated value of less than $2,000.00 from Cup Cake Fairy USA, Poultry Products Northeast,
Freirhofer’s Bakery Outlet, Walmart, Hannaford Supermarket, Shaw’s and Target, of Hooksett,
NH, to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-e:II

Staff Report - 2nd annual NNO event.docx

10.b    Accept the donation of twelve (12) ‘Stop the Bleed’ kits from Catholic Medical Center to the
Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Fire Rescue Department – EMS, valued at $660.00 under RSA
31:95-e II.

2

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225025/082218_PW_DONATION_PH-1.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225026/Staff_Report_-_Donation_of_Sand_pro.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/224958/082218_HPD_GRANT_PH.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/220558/Staff_Report_-_K9__25_000.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/220559/20180731101538738.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225717/082218_HPD_K-9_DONATION_PH.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225723/Staff_Report_K9_August_22.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225724/Staff_Report_K9_August_22a.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225725/K-9_donations_for_8-22_meeting.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/223834/Staff_Report_-_2nd_annual_NNO_event.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

Staff_Report_STB-donation.docx

10.c    Accept donation of back-to-school supplies from local businesses and residents with a
value not to exceed $5,000 to the Town of Hooksett for the Family Services Department
Back-to-School Supply Program per RSA 31:95-e II.

Staff Report - Back to School Supplies Donations.docx

10.d    Release the Severino Trucking Co. surety in the amount of $33,500 for the gravel pit
located at 39 Pine Street

Staff Report-39 Pine Street Bond Release.pdf

Backup for Staff Report 39 Pine Street.pdf

11.    TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT

12.    PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES

13.    NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS

13.a    August Nominations and Appointments
Open Appointed Board and Committees (2018).docx

credentials - August Nominations and Appointments.pdf

august 2018 Nominations and Appointments.doc

14.    15 MINUTE RECESS

15.    OLD BUSINESS

15.a    Town Council Board/Committee Assignments for 2018-2019
Staff_Report - Final Council Assignments.docx

15.b    NHMA Annual Legislative Policy Process
Staff Report NHMA Policies 2018.docx

NHMA POLICY 2018.pdf

16.    NEW BUSINESS

16.a    Carol Andersen, Town Treasurer - establish banking relationship with Norway Bank
SR Banking.docx

16.b    Accept a $25,000.00 grant from the Stanton Foundation, to the Town of Hooksett for the
Hooksett Police Department at the Town Council meeting for the acceptance of this grant under

3

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225825/Staff_Report_STB-donation.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225834/Staff_Report_-_Back_to_School_Supplies_Donations.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225082/Staff_Report-39_Pine_Street_Bond_Release.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225083/Backup_for_Staff_Report_39_Pine_Street.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/224594/Open_Appointed_Board_and_Committees__2018_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/224595/credentials_-_August_Nominations_and_Appointments.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/224596/august_2018_Nominations_and_Appointments.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226102/Staff_Report_-_Final_Council_Assignments.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/212381/Staff_Report_NHMA_Policies_2018.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/212382/NHMA_POLICY_2018.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226745/SR_Banking.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and to return said amount to the police department K-9 trust fund. (see item 9b
for attachment details)

16.c    Motion to accept the donation of $5,000.00 from Southern New Hampshire University, to the
Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (b) and return that
amount to the Police Departments budget, K9 trust Fund.

16.d    Motion to accept the donation of $5,596.43 from citizens, business owners, and the
Hooksett Police Association to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA
31:95-b, III (b) and return that amount to the Police Departments, K9 trust Fund.

16.e    Accept donation of $19,688 ($11,000 from the Hooksett School District, $4,344 from  HYAA
Baseball and $4,344 from HYAA Softball) to the Town of Hooksett for the Parks, Recreation &
Cemetery Division of Public Works for the purchase of a Toro 3040 Sandpro (a baseball infield
machine) per RSA 31:95-b III (a) (see item 9a for attachment details)

16.f    GMI Paving Change Order - Shoulder Work on Hackett Hill Rd.

16.g    Acceptance of Qualifications for Storm Water Asset Management firm
Staff Report - Stormwater Asset Management.docx

16.h    MS 535 Financial Report
SR MS-535 2018.docx

Reconciliation of MS 535 to June 30, 2018 Budget Summary.pdf

MS 535.pdf

16.i    Budget Transfers FY 2018-19
SR Budget Transfers FY 2018-19.docx

Transfer #2019-01.pdf

16.j    Fire Lane Ordinance Waiver Request (Northeast Credit Union site plan Map 25 Lot 52)
Staff Report Fire Lane Ordinance Waiver Request 082218.pdf

16.k    Mutual Aid Agreement for Building Inspection Duties (Town of Pembroke, NH)
Staff Report Mutual Aid Agreement-Pembroke 082218.pdf

16.l    Hooksett Family Services Guidelines
Staff Report - Hooksett General Assistance Guidelines.docx

General Assistance Guidelines.pdf

16.m    Proposed Town Charter Changes for March 2019 ballot (8/8/18 Town Council Workshop)
Staff Report Town Charter Updates 082218.docx

Town Charter Updates 082218.pdf

4

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/221826/Staff_Report_-_Stormwater_Asset_Management.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226063/SR_MS-535_2018.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226064/Reconciliation_of_MS_535_to_June_30__2018_Budget_Summary.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226065/MS_535.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/224940/SR_Budget_Transfers_FY_2018-19.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226066/Transfer__2019-01.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225109/Staff_Report_Fire_Lane_Ordinance_Waiver_Request_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225110/Staff_Report_Mutual_Aid_Agreement-Pembroke_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225845/Staff_Report_-_Hooksett_General_Assistance_Guidelines.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/225846/General_Assistance_Guidelines.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226234/Staff_Report_Town_Charter_Updates_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226235/Town_Charter_Updates_082218.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

16.n    Administrative Code Updates (8/8/18 Town Council Workshop)
Staff Report Administrative Code 082218.docx

Admin Code 082218.docx

16.o    Town Council Rules of Procedures Updates (8/8/18 Town Council Workshop)
Staff Report TC Rules of Procedures 082218.docx

TC Rules 082218.doc

16.p    Town Administrator Goals July 2018-June 2019 (8/8/18 Town Council Workshop)
Staff Report TA Goals 2018-2019 082218.docx

TA GOALS 070118-063019.docx

17.    SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS

18.    PUBLIC INPUT

19.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION

19.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee or
the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges against him or her.

19.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect adversely the
reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.

20.    ADJOURNMENT

Public Input

1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council Meeting. Time
will be divided equally among those wishing to speak, however,no person will be allowed
to speak for more than 5 minutes. 

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any
meeting.Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal or
derogatory about any other person.

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must be
addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town Administrator,
will determine if the question can be answered at that time. Questions cannot be directed
to an individual Councilor and must not be personal in nature. Issues raised during Public
Input, which cannot be resolved or answered at that time, or which require additional
discussion or research, will be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible
for researching and responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by

5

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226111/Staff_Report_Administrative_Code_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226112/Admin_Code_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226100/Staff_Report_TC_Rules_of_Procedures_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226101/TC_Rules_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226143/Staff_Report_TA_Goals_2018-2019_082218.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/226144/TA_GOALS_070118-063019.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

bringing to the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting. The Chair reserves the
right to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to deliberation.

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a subsequent
meeting. 

5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the Chair.
Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted during Public Input.

6



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

1

TOWN COUNCIL Regular Meeting
Wednesday, April 25, 2018

6:00 PM
Council Chambers

MINUTES

CALL TO ORDER
Chairman Sullivan called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.

PROOF OF POSTING
Dr. Shankle provided proof of posting.

ATTENDANCE
Chairman James Sullivan, Councilor Robert Duhaime, Councilor John Giotas, Councilor Marc
Miville, Councilor James Levesque, Councilor David Ross, Councilor Timothy Tsantoulis, 
and Councilor Donald Winterton.
Absent: Councilor Alex Walczyk,

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS
Hooksett Municipal Employees - New Hires

Town Council - District #4 Councilor Marc Miville
Councilor Marc Miville is resigning to become Town Moderator. A plaque was present to him 
In recognition of his years of service.

SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS
Kiwanis - September Trail Race
Mike Horne: Kiwanis is planning to do the race with Old Home Day. It will be called “Book It to 
the Library.” They would like approval. Kiwanis will get insurance for $1 million. They will get 
permission from property owners that are crossed. They are looking to borrow some traffic 
barricades and cones. We hope the Council will support this. This is a family event where it is a 
walk/run event. This is an opportunity to use and see the trail that is available in the town.

Donald Winterton motioned that the Council recommend the Staff does whatever is necessary
to facilitate at the race on September 15. Seconded by David Ross.
Vote unanimously in favor 

Police Chief Bouchard - new department program
The Chief was joined by Officer Jordan McCluskey and Sergeant Michael Zappala. 
Both officers were recently recognized by the American Legion.

7



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

2

Chief Bouchard: We are keeping the department moving forward and implementing new 
programs. I have been speaking to employees and residents and have found there is an interest in 
getting a K-9 unit in Hooksett. We are looking for the Council’s support. 
(See PowerPoint)

D. Winterton motioned that the Council support the Chief and the Police Department in their 
Fundraising efforts to bring the K-9 Program back to the Hooksett Police Department. 
Seconded by D. Ross
Vote unanimously in favor.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Public:  04/11/18
R. Duhaime motioned to approve the minutes of April 4, 2018. Seconded by J. Giotas.
Vote unanimously in favor with corrections

CONSENT AGENDA
D. Winterton motioned to accept the donation of $250.00 from Wal-Mart to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Hooksett Fire-Rescue Dept. per RSA 31:95 b III (b). Seconded by D. 
Winterton.
Vote unanimously in favor
Staff Report Walmart 042518.docx

D. Winterton motioned to accept the donation of $250.00 (two $125.00 checks) from the Wing 
family to the Town of Hooksett under RSA 31:95-b III (b).  These funds will be applied to the 
Town fund and reported as revenue which will increase the Town’s fund balance used to 
offset taxes.  Seconded by R. Duhaime.
Vote unanimously in favor
SR_Unanticipated_Rev_under_10K.docx
Wing Family Donation.pdf

D. Winterton expressed concern that addresses are not provided from the person making the 
donation. 

Staff will provide clarification on how the donation process works.

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
 Working on the Fire Union negotiations. 
 Attended a meeting at the American Legion
 Attended a meeting with SNHU
 In the process of advertising for the DPW Director position.
 There are two new hires

Ricky Demers-Park and Rec Driver/Laborer and 
Joseph Devarenne – Driver/Laborer (part time)

 Resignation
One (1) Driver/Laborer left for a $7/hr. increase.

 One (1) application was received for the Fun in the Sun Health Care position
8



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

3

 Currently searching for Secretary (Part time) in Administration
 A letter was received from Comcast. 

The Letter was read to the Council regarding renewal of their agreement.(see 5/9/18 
agenda & minutes)

Comcast will be placed on the next agenda to discuss how the Council would like to move 
forward.

 Our Police Chief will be going into a Leadership in Public Service Certificate Program. 
At SNHU this morning, they agreed to scholarship that program.

 The Fun in the Sun Program is not full and there is still plenty of space for campers.
 We were accepted to the Municipal Bond bank for the Safety Center bond. wE will need 

a special meeting next Monday night to accept it. It must be done by the 8th of May. 

A meeting will be scheduled for April 30th at 6:00 pm.

 We will discuss the issue of discontinuing Districts for Councilors at the annual 
workshop.
Mr. Miville stated he is in favor of eliminating Districts. 

 State Law permits people to carry weapons, even on School Property. This is particularly 
concerning during an election. With school in session, I don’t know if the School Board 
has addressed that.

Mr. Sullivan: There is a School policy that restricts weapons of any type. I suggest you reach out 
to the Superintendent. It may be an issue that the town and school need to work out.

 The Hooksett Police Department is conducting an active shooter drill at the Cawley 
Middle School this week.

Chief Bouchard: The training is going well. All the officers will participate over three (3) days. It 
is a very realistic training with students involved as actors. We are shooting blanks and the first 
exercise with live shooting of blanks raises the intensity of the training. There is no down time. 
CBS news in Boston is interested in filming this training.

 The Hooksett Preservation has requested a proclamation for Preservation Month, May 
2018. (read letter – see attached)

M. Miville motioned to proclaim May 20th as Preservation Day in Hooksett. Seconded by D. 
Ross.
Vote unanimously in favor.

PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES
Jo Ann McHugh, 14 Jefferson St: I was the town individual who spoke to the Town
Administrator and the Superintendent regarding the incident that happened at the election. I 
Spoke to Chief Bartlett at the time and I didn’t know that public law is if a State has open carry, 
that rules the day; therefore they have the right to come in and open carry at the election. It is the 
concern of both the student and community and what protocol is in place to insure that nothing 

9



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

4

happens. People have suggested they close school every time they vote. That is fine but when 
adding snow days, the calendar gets extended. What about locking the whole section of the 
school? I just brought it up as a concerned parent, grandmother and citizen and I think a decision 
has to be made between the town and the school. Are we forced to hold our election in another 
location? I appreciate Dr. Shankle taking the time to discuss this and I ask that you work with 
the school on this matter.

Peter Salvitti, representing Utility Service Assistance: We submitted a bid for street lighting that 
will be voted on tonight. We saw bid numbers and about three (3) weeks later we were asked to 
show our fixtures. I’ve learned that it is possible that the low bid is going to be accepted by the 
Board which is Pine Ridge Technologies. I have been in touch with Diane and asked Pine Ridge
to provide me with the name of the fixtures to compare apples to apples. We compare the 
wattage so you have enough light. They said they don’t know what manufacturer they are using. 
I called Pine Ridge to get the manufacturers name. I just received it on the way here. The 
company, Leo Tech, uses components from different manufacturers. The company I represent is 
Philips Lighting. I noticed in the parking lots that they are using 18 watt in place of a 50 watt. 
That brings the cost much lower than I can provide at a 25 watts. There was no wattage 
requested by the town. I heard they were going to come in with 15 watt fixtures and undercut us. 
My suspicion is when a union company comes here from Mass with a bid of $9000 lower than 
mine which has been worked on to give a reduced cost, my conclusion is with the information on 
the fixtures they are using, I hoping we can postpone the bid finalization and I can take another 
look. My fixtures have a smart tag. There is a code that can be scanned and goes on a GIS map. 
It has location, date of installation and wattage. It is a feature no one else offers. We build all of 
our fixtures. I don’t know how long Leo Tech has been around. This fixture alone will show why 
it is worth more money. If you can give me some more time before you award the bid, I can 
prepare the information.

Peter Farrwell, 24 Grant Drive: I want to thank Councilor Miville for his work on the Council. 
He has always worked for our neighborhood. 
I’ve talked to several people about the roundabout at 3A and I haven’t found anyone who is 
aware of it and secondly, are in favor of it. They are more concerned about the traffic at Main 
and 3A. I’ve done an informal survey and I see little back-up where the roundabout is going to 
be except for at 4 or 5 o’clock. The infusion of the construction when it is being built including 
the increase in trucks from Route 93will be huge. Ask the State to go two (2) years with a traffic 
light and if it doesn’t work then you can take it out. 
Since we have had the Franchise fee with Comcast; the Farrwells have paid $600 in fees. Not 
everyone pays it. If you have Direct TV, you don’t pay; so only the Comcast people are paying it 
and  that is unfair.
A couple months ago the Kiwanians spoke to you about the splash pad and they worked very 
hard to bring forward a great plan. You slammed the door in their face. Here is an organization 
that worked very hard. Those that are on the Council next term should look at a Rec. Hall for the 
town. I realize there is a cost and insurance but this is a chance for all in the community to work 
together and look at Rec. Hall.
With the Union Leader not having a representative here and the limited Banner, we get little 
information on what is happening here. I talked to Dr. Shankle about asking other directors to 
write weekly articles in the Banner. The story of the K-9 officer is great and we don’t hear about 

10



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

5

it. Maybe we can get an intern to do some publicity for us. 
I was disturbed at the recyclable cost. If it is costing us so much, maybe it is time to get rid of the 
program and discontinue the truck. We should just have one truck to take care of everything.

OLD BUSINESS
Stipend reimbursement (tabled from 04/11/18 Town Council Meeting)
D. Winterton motioned to remove this from the table. Seconded by R. Duhaime.
Vote unanimously in favor

D. Winterton motioned to accept the contract stipend reimbursement of $4,995 from the State 
of New Hampshire Police Standards and Training Council, to the Town of Hooksett for the 
Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b: III(b) and to return the funds to the Police 
Department’s 2017-2018 fiscal budget under the wage line 
Seconded by T. Tsantoulis
Vote unanimously in favor
Staff Report - PSTC Stipend Reimbursement.docx
20180323145852161.pdf

48 Pine Street Map 5 Lot 86 (4/11/18 Town Council Motion for Planning Board Review)
Staff Report - 48 Pine St..docx
J. Sullivan motioned to remove this item from the table. Seconded by D. Winterton.
Vote unanimously in favor

Dr. Shankle: The Planning Board met with Matt Surge. Per the minutes, the Planning Board 
should send a letter to Council recommending approval. The opinion of the Planning Board was 
the town’s liability was removed.

D. Winterton motioned to accept the well radii release form in lieu of the previously approved 
well radii easement. Seconded by R. Duhaime

D. Ross: My concern is the town’s liability. Where is the document that says the town is 
removed forever from causing infiltration to the well?

Dr. Shankle: The Town’s legal counsel says we will not be liable but I agree with Mr. Ross.

D. Ross: This is only a legal opinion. It is advice. There is also a precedent for someone else to 
be allowed to do this as well. Without a document that says we cannot be held liable, I can’t 
support this.

M. Miville: What is the liability? Should we vote no?

Dr. Shankle: If you vote no, they can’t drill a well. I don’t know what they will do. There is 
water near it. There will be a cost. My thoughts are based on the fact that you will never get out 
of the liability and we will spend money defending ourselves in court.

T. Tsantoulis: My concern is for the town and the homeowners as the process plays forward. 

11



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

6

The well radii is needed to keep the well away from contaminants. I understand the contractor’s 
concern and they assumed they could put a well in and since found out they can’t. I don’t like 
putting the town at a future risk because of a water issue down the line. And since there is a 
remedy, although at a great cost, that would be the best thing to do. I would not be in favor of the 
motion.

J. Levesque: I agree with Dr. Shankle and I think we should adhere to our regulations.

J. Sullivan: I don’t know why it is under the authority of the Council to overrule regulations. I 
don’t think the Council has ever ruled against a regulation. I will agree with the recommendation 
of the Planning Board.

D. Winterton: The Planning Board grants waivers and the Zoning Board grants variances. This is 
neither. 

Roll Call Vote
R. Duhaime No
M. Miville No
D. Ross No
J. Levesque No
J. Giotas No
D. Winterton Yes
T. Tsantoulis No
J. Sullivan Yes
Vote 2:6 motion failed

Rte. 3A & Hackett Hill Road Roundabout Update
Dr. Shankle sent a letter last week as requested by the Council. 

New Pedestrian Bridge Update
Staff Report - Change order 2 - ED Swett.docx
Transfer #2018-03.pdf

Diane Boyce introduced Steve Keach, Town consulting engineer and Darin Benoit and Bob 
Durfee from Dubois and King.
Darin Benoit: The bridge section is in place. The structural concrete is done. The sewer line is 
done. They are working on the water line which is not in service yet but should be in a week. The 
next step is to bring in the communication lines. There are four (4) underground ducts of which 
two (2) will be full and two (2) are for future use. The plan is for completion on May 13, 2018. 
The final completion date of the contract is June 1, 2018.

D. Boyce: With this change order we are asking for payments tonight.
ED Swett submitted Change Order #2 in the amount of $240,134.01. of this $240,134.01, 
$100,000 will be coming from contingency money built into the project; the State of NH DOT is 
providing the Town with an additional $100,000 for their share of the project.

12



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

7

J. Sullivan: What is the need for the change?

S. Keach: I came into the project after the change on April 2nd when I attended a meeting with 
Diane and others on the project. I then got the project documents. The Change Order #2 was 
issued on January 18th and was a request of a change, not a change in material as much as the 
logistics of the project. They include winterize the sewer system by- pass, demobilization for 
winter shutdown, installation of site security for shut down, demobilization and increased effort 
to install line and water under-bridge during winter condition and increased effort to install 
timber decking. This results from the temporary shutdown in October. There was a shutdown for 
19 days.

Dr. Shankle: That is incorrect. There was not a shut down. At one point, I asked them if they 
could stop work on that end and they said yes, we can work on the other end, this will not hold 
us up.

S. Keach: That is contrary to what I was told. Per the contract documents, if there was a 
shutdown of work which was not caused by the contractor, and there was a delay in the work at a 
critical time, which the record showed the installation of accommodations for water and sewer; 
the contract is entitled to remedy. The remedy entitled to the contractor per the contract 
documents were to quantify that cost through a change order and submitted by the contractor on 
January 8th and processed by Dubois and King on January 18th. There are six pages of breakdown 
that relate to them. I will leave the matter of the shutdown to Dr. Shankle because he is familiar 
with it and Diane and I are not. Based on the material aspect of the change order, I was asked to 
comment by Diane on Change Order #2 which I wrote on April 5th. 
I have 3 bullets, two are factual and the third is my opinion (read from report)

Darin Benoit: This was supposed to be done in December, so these costs are for storage.

Dr. Shankle: Can you tell me they had everything they needed on site on December 9th because I 
know that it is not true.

Darin Benoit: The role of Dubois and King… there is an understanding that there is an 
adversarial condition. We are just instituting the contract. We started working on this Change 
Order #2 on December 5th. We established the format for this with town staff. When this was put 
in place it was outside of the 30 days we had to put it in place. The contract says after a certain 
amount of item, we don’t wait for future pricing. It is unfair and outside the spirit to look at real 
costs 4 months later. The contractor is taking the risk. We are not trying to put the contractor at a 
disadvantage. We are an arbiter. We verified these costs. Working for the town, we verified the 
numbers. Looking back at the documents, we had regular construction meeting and we said we 
were not working on the water line with these conditions. Month after month they didn’t work on 
the water line. That was agreed by the team. Now you are going outside the bounds of fairness.

S. Keach: The preparation of Change Order 2 was based on the Town’s record and done at the 
request of the Town Engineer at the time and in the time frame requested. 

13



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

8

Dr. Shankle: One of the issues had been the town attorney has told us not to pay the bills and to 
only consider paying Change Order# 2 if it will impact the Town’s ability to receive State 
funding. Have we found out if that is true? The State is not involved in the building of the bridge. 
They were involved in tearing down the old bridge. Do we know that the State has an issue with 
us not paying Change Order #2?

Darin Benoit: The State letter has 3 items. The State doesn’t check all the records and they have 
paid $340,000. They look at the demo and the sewer by-pass. Without us being able to build the 
by-pass, we cannot do that. Demobilization of the sewer line is the third item. Those items have 
been completed and invoiced and have not been paid. The State is looking for those receipts.

Dr. Shankle: What about a partial payment?

Darin Benoit: The issue is you need the contractor to invoice appropriately to make a partial 
payment.

R. Duhaime: I would like more information to make this decision. We hired you as the engineers 
to look out for us. As an engineering firm, there should be some cost savings; where did you save 
us money? You have been clerk of the works; where were our savings?  Instead you are looking 
for more money. You should show us more information on where we are and where we going. 
These are speculative numbers and there are no hours and numbers and you are saying the 
forecasts look about right. Where is the breakdown of the extra hours due to winter?

S. Keach: I believe the information is in the change order.

Darin Benoit: If you look at the work that has been done, we are very close to our budget. But 
when we did the shutdown that changed. We are not looking to be under budget, we have a 
budget and that is how we worked. They were not able to conclude this project in December. 
They demobilized and remobilized with a difficult winter. That delta went from a smooth project 
to these problems.

R. Duhaime: Before work was hindered, was there anything ahead of schedule before this 
happened?

Dr. Shankle: I just didn’t decide it was time to stop the project. We never got what we ordered 
and we still haven’t gotten close and don’t what it will cost to fix it and we have been asking for 
that since December.

D. Winterton: Are you saying that if we had sat silent in October that the bridge would have been
up and operational in December?

Bob Durfee: At the time of the stop work order being issued, on October 10th, we were on 
schedule and on budget to complete in December.

D. Winterton: Was it what we contracted for? There is no one here that thinks we got what we 
contracted for. And who signed the stop order?

14



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

9

Bob Durfee: It was issued by the town and it was signed by either Dean Shankle or Jim Donison. 

D. Winterton: Can we get a copy of that document?

Daren Benoit: Yes and the town should have a copy since they wrote it.

J. Sullivan: There was one span which is not the way we wanted it. That is the root cause. When 
we were told of that discrepancy, we asked for a stop work on that span and asked for work to be 
done outside that area. Of this change order, which is a 19 day stop order, that is where I am 
confused.

Bob Durfee: The stop work order was issued by the town and worded to stop work on the north 
span. That stop work order was in effect for 10 weeks before it was lifted and the contractor 
resumed. That is approximately 10 weeks. That is what this change order is about; the effect of 
that change on the contractor. After the stop work order was issued, we convened a meeting of 
the team, the town, the contractor the engineer, the water precinct and the sewer commission and 
the purpose was to discuss the implications of the stop order and what work the contractor would 
stop work on and what items the engineer and contractor could continue with. At that meeting 
we came to an agreement on several items we wouldn’t continue and some we would continue 
on. Minutes of those meetings have been published.

J. Sullivan: Of the items that could not be done; those are reflected in this $240,000 or are there 
other items?

Bob Durfee: They are in the $240,000 Change Order. There are some items included that we 
determined had to continue because of the extended schedule, for example, because of the 10 
week delay, the contractor still had to do the by-pass pumping and pay electric bills. In that 
Change Order there are cost for some items that were agreed to be stopped under the stop work 
order but when they resumed there was additional cost, for example, we stopped installation of 
the water pipe on the bridge and also stopped installing the timber deck on the bridge in its
entirety because it will be less cost if we stop those items completely. Those costs are in this 
Change Order for the delay and restart up costs. Also, we stopped work on installing the water 
lines. Those are not the best examples of work that was stopped. There were items that once 
started were under winter conditions like digging in frost and concrete that must now be heated.

D. Winterton: Why did the State decide to pony-up an extra $100,000?

Bob Durfee: Because the engineer you hired prepared very good bid documents. The DOT 
agreed to reimburse on three (3) items: demolish the old bridge, pay for the cost of the by-pass 
sewer pumping and mobilization and demobilization of demolishing the bridge and put in the by-
pass. We estimated the cost for those 3 items at $650,000 and we provided our estimate to the 
DOT and they agreed to that $650,000. It went out to bid and then Swett came in with $750,000 
and the State agreed to pay the extra $100,000 which is the actual cost and not the estimate.

15



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

10

D. Ross: We need to know who ok’d the dimensional changes in the span. I have yet to see 
another bridge with dimensional changes because of the span. Who ok’d those dimensional 
changes?

Bob Durfee: The fabricator, Big R Bridges submitted drawings showing the detail and it showed 
different sizes for the north span. Shop drawings are submitted to the engineer and we reviewed 
and accepted it.

D. Ross: Are there others that look like that?

Bob Durfee: The original bridge had different dimensions. We accepted the shop drawings 
because they conformed to the contract.

D. Ross: During the meeting with the town regarding stopping work, was the cost presented to 
the town’s representative?

Bob Durfee: No, at this meeting the engineer and contractor recommended what items should not 
be discontinued. At a previous meeting, when the team had and the town was inquiring about the 
appearance of the north span, the town’s response was we are going to stop work on this project. 
The recommendation from the engineer was to continue and deal with the change in the span 
once the contract was complete.

D. Ross: The issue with DES and the change you made without informing them. Instead of using 
the barges, a lot of extra expense was used with barges.  What about those cost and why should 
the town pay that and who approved that?

Darin Benoit: A project manager on the contractor staff.  That person was terminated and the
new staff person raised his hand. The contractor was the one that self-notified and contacted 
DES. At that time everyone was aware of the situation.

Bob Durfee: The contract went to competitive bid and bids came in and bid evaluation awarded
to the lowest bidder which was Swett. That recommendation was reviewed by DOT and they
concurred. We scheduled a signing and pre-construction meeting and at that time the contract 
was signed. Approximately 5-7 days before that meeting, we were forwarded a notice from the 
town, from Eversource that they were lowering the river. We brought that to the signing meeting. 
The contractor said we will have to do something different. We were going to use barges and 
bridges but now we will have to do a causeway. The contractor said we are not predicting 
additional costs for the barges and to date they have not included any additional costs for that. At 
the signing meeting, the contractor said he would prepare the permit application for the 
causeway.

D. Ross: Was it your responsibility to make sure that happened?

Darin Benoit: We were working with the town and their engineer. Mr. Donison saw the 
application and it was signed by the town. 

16



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

11

J. Sullivan: The contractor said they would apply for the permit; was it done?

Bob Benoit: It was done but not in a timely manner. The contractor indicated he was going to do 
a change and build a causeway and a permit was needed from DES for that revision.
At that pre-construction meeting, the contractor said that. The next meeting was a month later for 
a construction progress meeting. At that time, with the contractor and the town, we had a new 
project manager from the contractor and he apologized and said he learnt that they never applied 
for the permit. The contractor took full responsibility for that error and would now apply and 
deal with the consequences. The contractor had already started construction of the causeway 
because they believed from the old manager that they had a permit. They admitted the error and 
were going to fix it.

Dr. Shankle:  My recollection, there was specifically a conversation that they had a permit for so 
many cubic yards and they believed, and you agreed, that the permit that they already had was 
adequate for what they were going to need to do. That was my understanding. I asked Mr. 
Donison and he said there is no reason to doubt them. So we were told specifically, because the 
question was asked; “Is this the same and will this work?”, and both you and the contractor said 
yes.

Bob Durfee: We had that conversation. The town had a permit for the original work in the
contract and that permit allowed the town and town’s contractor to disturb a certain areas of the 
river bottom, length and width. The contractor thought he could build his barge within that foot 
print and he could construct that causeway in that footprint. The engineer agreed that if he could 
do that it would be ok. They came back and said they can’t build the causeway in the footprint 
because it is too close to the project so we will have to go for an amended permit to extend the 
footprint. Some could be built under the original permit.

Dr. Shankle: The contractor never said he needed a new permit until the State came and said he 
was in violation and needed a new permit.

Bob Durfee: The town, Jim Donison, promised all the support the town could offer to get the 
amended permit which include going before the Conservation Commission. When the contractor 
eventually filled a permit for the causeway and sent it to DES; my recollection is DES rejected 
that permit application and that the town and the contractor are in violation of water regulation 
rules by putting the causeway in the river. They went ahead with the construction of the 
causeway assuming they were going to get the permit eventually.

D. Ross: The contractor said he was basing it on square footage not on the footprint. It is in the 
minutes. He thought he could rearrange the square footage. You can’t rearrange. Then the permit 
was denied and they were told to stop but they went ahead without a permit and removed it. That 
is called a dredging and needs a dredge permit. We don’t know what the town will be fined and 
what the penalty will be. You saw the road in the river. The State would never approve that. You 
were there too. We live in NH; what are winter conditions? Relocating the sewer was always part 
of the contract. We shouldn’t be paying a dime. This wasn’t our fault. This is in the center of 
town and the biggest concern from the beginning was how it would look. I am not impressed 
with SWETT or your outfit. And now to ask us for another $240,000 is ridiculous.

17



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

12

Information needed:
R. Duhaime: Our town engineer doesn’t build bridges, you were the bridge engineers. Did you 
have someone there daily overseeing this operation?

Bob: We have a contract that spells out the time and the town was to provide supplemental 
inspections.

R. Duhaime: We have a town engineer that could do some inspections but when there are 
savings, the contract defines who gets the cost savings. If you don’t want to lay the whole deck 
for costs and now you are doing the whole thing later and you want us to pay the increase. 
Maybe you should have done 2/3 and then done the rest. What he didn’t do in the fall may have 
saved him costs. You are now saying you have over runs. You are supposed to be protecting the 
town. I would expect a log.

Bob Durfee: That information is available. The Change Order is six (6) pages and breaks down 
all the costs.

Darin Benoit: The information you requested for equipment on and off the job, that isn’t done.

Bob Durfee: You need to see the complete Change Order which was proposed by the contractor. 
Under the contract, the engineer reviews it and we had our staff review the costs, the quantities 
and times and we found this request fair and reasonable. We found that the contractor had
provided enough justification that it was fair, reasonable and accurate.

R. Duhaime: The contractor said it wasn’t cost prohibitive to do this. That is the list I want.

Bob Durfee: You need to get the copy of the meeting minutes where we discussed the 
implications of the stop work order. 

S. Keach: There is a very complete project record, and without you all having that, you will not 
make a good decision. Your engineers Dubois and King have copious minutes. The other thing 
that is revealing; this project is set up with a critical document. Mr. Durfee advised that the
dispute and the interruption was clearly initiated by the town (October 6th) and concluded on 
November 14th.  You should have a copy of the project schedule that was in place in October and 
you will see where the project was tracking then. After the interruption, if you compare the two,
you will see the result of the true interruption. You will see what was allowed to continue and 
what Mr. Durfee said concurs with the meeting minutes. I understand I’m coming in as the 
Monday morning quarter back, but I see two areas that bore the frustration; the structural issues 
with the north span and the environmental issue. In terms of economy, if you have a span that is 
shorter than the other two, you wouldn’t spend the money for the extra steel. I also understand 
there was a tremendous effort to make the new Lilac Bridge resemble the old Lilac Bridge 
including making it look rusty. I also heard that the section of the shorter old span was different 
as well. That was news to me but if it were true, maybe that is what someone wanted. I don’t 
know. What is important isn’t where we were. We are trying to deliver this bridge; if not, I don’t 
belong here. This bridge needs to be finished. These matters of payment must be resolved if that 

18



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

13

is going to happen. If that is not, we need to put up some orange fence around it tomorrow.  We 
need to resolve this as quickly and cost effectively as possible. The only way this can happen is 
with town officials, Dubois and King and Swett. The State needs to be dealt with separately
because we don’t control that outcome. If we want the bridge done and May is Heritage month, 
isn’t that the spirit of the project.

J. Sullivan: We will table this and the entire document will be made available in the Planning 
Department.

S. Keach: As you read this, use the analytics to figure out how to bring this to successful fruition. 
We know what went wrong; we don’t want someone in a black robe telling us who is at fault.

Dr. Shankle: It would be helpful if we got what we asked for since the fall. We want a number of 
what it will cost to fix it.

Bob Durfee: The reason the town doesn’t have that is because of the mistrust. When the 
contractor was asked for a budget, they said “you’re asking for that budget number so that is the 
value of the lawsuit in a claim, so why should I provide that”. The contractor’s attorney has 
contacted the town’s attorney that if the contractor provided that number they don’t want it used 
against them.

D. Ross motioned to extend the meeting. Seconded by D. Winterton.

R. Duhaime: You keep saying what the problems are but I haven’t heard what the solutions are. 
Who is going to pay for the solutions? Not just the town. I am so uninformed; I am nowhere 
near ready to make a decision. After tonight, I feel I don’t trust you.

M. Miville: I don’t recall any discussion by the Council on having a different metal on the short 
span. I never even knew there was shorter span. We heard about the color and the deck but never 
the span. It is a goof up on the town because we paid someone big bucks but now it is a joke. I 
am now ashamed of that bridge. It looks like a bridge it shouldn’t look like. I don’t want to look 
at it. You need to be accountable for this. Either you or the contractor but it isn’t us.

J. Levesque: We were led to believe there would be three (3) spans that would be the same. I 
would think you could use the same outside diameter with a lighter metal. We all thought the 
bridge would have symmetry. We understand it was cheaper but I don’t think you were looking 
out for our best interest. Why wasn’t that brought to us. Maybe we should have had more 
meetings and recorded them. It didn’t come out like it was supposed to. I am disappointed; it can 
be fixed but at a big cost.

D. Ross: Was the consideration taken that steel has color? The color of the steel is different on 
the north section. Will that equalize with time or is it going to get worst?

Bob Durfee: The steel for the south, center and north are all the same. Depending on when it was 
fabricating, it is rusting at different times. It is the same steel. It should be weatherizing the same. 
Eventually it should look the same with the exception if it weathers with exposure to air, sunlight 

19



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

14

and water. The RR Bridge is providing shade to some sections differently so they may not 
weatherize the same throughout.

D. Winterton: When the shop drawings came in, were they shown to anyone at the town?

Bob Durfee: No, that was not part of the contract.

D. Winterton: The first night this issue came to the Council, I said having gone through the 
sewer situation in this town, it took eight (8) years to come to a settlement. It will come down to 
who has the best lawyer and that is sad.

R. Duhaime motioned to table the motion. Seconded by D. Winterton,
Vote unanimously in favor (T. Tsantoulis abstained)

NEW BUSINESS
Acceptance of Bid for Installing Town wide LED Street Lights
Staff Report - Town wide LED Street lights.docx
Transfer #2018-04.pdf
LED Bid Spreadsheet.pdf
Pine Ridge LED Bid.pdf
Power Secure LED Lighting.pdf
Affinity LED Lighting.pdf
Utility Service - Low LED Bid.pdf

Dr. Shankle recommends throwing out all the bids and starting again.

D. Boyce: We wanted to encumber the funds so we want to move quickly.

J. Sullivan: We followed the bid process and we don’t have to always go with the low bid.

Dr. Shankle: The issue they raised was whether the wattage of the lights will do what we want. If 
we put those lights up and they are not as bright as we expect we will be disappointed. S. Keach 
stated that we didn’t put the wattage we wanted in the bid. One bidder gave the cheapest way.

D. Winterton: I suggest since we contract engineers, we should hire a lighting engineer to help us 
with this bid process.

T. Tsantoulis: I sat in on the presentations by the bidders. The LED is not that different. 
Currently we have vapor lights and RPS which take a lot of energy with a refractor that gets 
dirty. When they came up with LED, they can have open bottom with clear white light. You 
can’t replace the LED with the same wattage that you had or you get too much light. You also 
want to keep light out of peoples’ windows. If you didn’t reduce the wattage, you wouldn’t get 
the savings. When Manchester went to LED, they used Philips they got complaints that they 
were too bright. You always get complaints. I liked USA and would like to see them closer to 
what we want. LED lights have a 10 year warrantee because not much goes wrong except for an 
accident or tree limbs. In Manchester, 90% of the lights are on. If you looked prior to LED’s 

20



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

15

75% were on. They are different but you will get used to it. I’m in favor of the bid but I’m ok 
with postponing it. You will save over a short period of time.

J. Giotas: My concern is there didn’t seem to be an apple to apple comparison so I’m in favor of
postponing this.

Dr. Shankle: If we are going to get someone to write the specs, I don’t think we should try and 
do it this year.

R. Duhaime: Just ask everyone to rebid with the same wattage. They don’t have to redo the 
whole bid.

D. Winterton: When a business comes in for approval from the Planning Board, we have 
regulation on the light and the lumens and we require them to get that from an engineer. We 
should do the same.

D. Ross: It is not just costs; it is how it will look. Having a numerical equivalency is important. 
We may want to consider the look. To encumber funds is a bad idea to push something through.

D. Winterton motioned to accept the recommendation of the DPW Director of awarding Pine 
Ridge Technology Inco the bid for the Town wide LED streetlights.
Seconded by D. Ross.
Vote 0:8 motion failed

D. Winterton motioned to reject all other bids for LED streetlights. Seconded by T. Tsantoulis.
Vote unanimously in favor

D. Winterton motioned to direct the Town Administrator to engage in a new bid project and 
engage a lighting engineer to assist in the process. Seconded by J. Levesque.

J. Levesque: I would like to see a sample of the complete model.

Vote unanimously in favor

Acceptance of Bid for Crack Sealing
Staff Report - 2018 Crack Seal Bids.docx
2018 Crack seal bid-Superior Sealcoat.pdf
2018 Crack seal Bid-Sealcoating, Inc..pdf

D. Winterton motioned to accept the lowest bid from Superior Sealcoat in the amount of 
$38,300 for the 2018 roadway crack sealing project. Seconded by D. Ross.

Roll Call
J. Giotas Yes
D. Ross Yes
M. Miville Yes

21



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

16

R. Duhaime Yes
T. Tsantoulis Yes
J. Levesque Yes
D. Winterton Yes
J. Sullivan Yes
Vote unanimously in favor

Natural Gas Supply Bids
SR Natual Gas Bid 2018.docx

D. Winterton motioned to have the Town Administrator sign a natural gas contract for 36 
months with UMB Bulk Energy as the agent. Seconded by R. Duhaime
Vote unanimously in favor

Volunteer Appreciation Day Dinner - Selecting a Date 
Volunteer appreciation 2018.pdf
Nick Germaine: Last year and in previously years it has been a Friday in June. 

D. Winterton motioned to set the date for the Volunteer Dinner as Friday, June 15, 2018. 
Seconded by T. Tsantoulis
Vote unanimously in favor

Town Personnel Plan Update(s) - Town Drug Testing Program
Staff Report TPP 042518.docx
DRAFT Personnel Plan 042518.docx

R. Duhaime motioned to approve the amendments to the Town Personnel Plan as presented 
effective April 25, 2018. Seconded by T. Tsantoulis.

D. Fitzpatrick: The testing will be change to opioids to comply with the US Department of 
Transportation.

D. Ross: Will these tests cost more?

D. Fitzpatrick: They are one dollar more with six randomly selected each quarter.

Vote unanimously in favor

District #4 Town Councilor Vacancy as of 05/01/18
Staff Report TC District #4 Vacancy 050118.docx

D. Ross motioned to declare the vacancy of Councilor in District #4 as of May 1st per Charter 
3.3. Seconded by M. Miville.
Vote unanimously in favor

D. Ross motioned to appoint John Durand to fill the District #4 Council seat vacancy through 

22



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

17

June 30, 2018 per Town Charter Section 3.3. Seconded by M. Miville.
Vote 7:1 

Subcommittee
J. Levesque: The transfer station met regarding the glass and decided to continue as is and see 
what the other towns do. 

D. Winterton: The Planning Board challenged a subdivision but the Board did allow it.
The new dorm proposed at SNHU has been postponed.

The meeting with SNHU today included a public safety meeting which included Chief Bouchard. 
It was effective and included internships with students. SNHU was very impressed with the 
active shoot drills conducted by the Hooksett PD. The leadership class that the Chief will take 
was granted a scholarship during our meeting.
The proposed SNHU sign has been cancelled.

R. Duhaime: Fire Union negotiations are off to a good start.

M. Miville: I distributed a document from the Local Officials workshop I attended in 
Peterborough. There is some valuable information. 
At the Economic Development meeting they discussed the sewer and zoning on the 28 By-Pass.
Park and Rec Advisory Board- There is another Eagle Scout project proposed for a practice wall 
for Lacrosse.
HYAA said there was a request from Amoskeag Rugby Team to use the field.
HYAA is looking to fundraise $200,000 for lighting for the Peterbrook Fields.
The Board is also looking for Hooksett email addresses in light of the Right to Know law.
Marc Miville thanked the Council and has enjoyed his time on the Board.

D. Winterton: The Sewer Commission has a workshop scheduled for Monday, April 30th at 10 
am.

D. Winterton motioned to appoint Alex Walczyk as Council Secretary. Seconded by D. Ross.
Vote unanimously in favor

PUBLIC INPUT
No public comment.

ADJOURNMENT
R. Duhaime motioned to adjourn at 10:45 pm. Seconded by D. Winterton. 
Vote unanimously in favor.

Respectfully submitted,

Lee Ann Moynihan

23



TC Minutes 062718-U 1

TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES - UNOFFICIAL1
Regular Meeting2

Wednesday, June 27, 20183
6:00 PM4

Council Chambers5
6
7

1.    CALL TO ORDER8
9

Chairman Sullivan called the meeting to order at 6:50 p.m.10
11

2.    PROOF OF POSTING12
13

Dr. Dean Shankle, Town Administrator, reported that Donna Fitzpatrick posted the meeting 14
notice on June 22, 2018.15

16
3.    ROLL CALL #117

18
In Attendance:  Councilor Donald Winterton, Councilor John Giotas, Councilor Timothy 19
Tsantoulis, Councilor James Levesque, Councilor Alex Walczyk, Councilor Robert  Duhaime, 20
Councilor John Durand, Councilor David Ross, Chairman James Sullivan.21

22
4.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE23

24
5.    SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS25

26
5.a    Hooksett Municipal Employees 27

28
Dr. Shankle reported that there were no new hires; one retirement from Lt. John Drew.29

30
6.    SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS31

32
6.a    Chris Pierson, Chair - Delivering an Activity Update on Behalf of the Zoning Board of 33
Adjustment 34

35
Chris Pierson and Roger Duhaime, Chair and Vice Chair respectively of the Zoning Board of 36
Adjustments, came forward to provide an annual report to the Council on the Board’s activities.  Mr. 37
Pierson and Mr. Duhaime commented that it was nice to have at least one new fresh member of the 38
Board and mentioned the length of service of other members.  Everyone was happy to finally have a 39
full complement of members on the Zoning Board.40

41
Mr. Pierson said 2017 was a light year with only 19 applications having been received.  With 42
the economy picking up, 2018 has already proven to be busier with 14 applications received 43
to date.  Mr. Duhaime thanked the Council for giving the Board an opportunity to provide 44
input on the SNHU sign.45

46
The two Board members indicated that they are seeing a lot more activity with in-law 47
apartments, or accessory dwellings, as they are sometimes called.  Chairman Sullivan asked 48
if this might require zoning ordinances to address the matter.  Mr. Pierson said the zoning 49
regulations were solid.  He also said they have shortened the length of approval time on 50
festival grounds.  When asked how many times they visit pits by Councilor Duhaime, Mr. 51
Pierson said they monitor pits very closely and welcomed any Council member to join them 52

24



TC Minutes 062718-U 2

on future site walks.  Councilor Ross asked if assessing was notified about accessory 53
apartments.  Dr. Shankle said the Code Enforcement Officer would notify assessing and 54
sewer after signing off but he will check on that.55

56
7.    APPROVAL OF MINUTES57

58
7.a    Public:  06/13/1859
TC Minutes 061318-U.docx60
7.b    Non-Public:  06/13/1861

62
Councilor Tsantoulis moved, second by Councilor Winterton, to approve the Town Council 63
meeting minutes of June 13, 2018, as amended.  Motion passed 7-0-2 [Councilors Levesque 64
and Ross abstained].65

66
Councilor Levesque moved, second by Councilor Winterton, to approve the non-public Town 67
Council meeting minutes of June 13, 2018, as presented.  Motion passed 7-0-2 [Councilors 68
Levesque and Ross abstained].69

70
8.    AGENDA OVERVIEW71

72
9.    PUBLIC HEARINGS73

74
10.    CONSENT AGENDA75

76
11.    TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT77

78
Dr. Shankle reported the following:79

80
The last three weeks, with a Council meeting every week, has been busy.  Earlier in the 81

week, SNHU held a groundbreaking for their new Engineering building.  82
There was an auction on Friday for the Mount St. Mary’s property – hope to make money 83

on that.84
Attended the Economic Development Committee meeting last night.  A representative on 85

the committee is to be appointed at the July Council meeting.86
A bid went out on Monday for the Old Town Hall structural repairs.  It will come up later 87

under discussion of encumbrances.88
89

Diane Boyce, DPW Director, came forward to state that an RFP was quickly put together for 90
the Old Town Hall repairs.  Two bids were received – from Target and Broadview -- at a 91
higher cost than anticipated.  TF Moran went over the bids and it is administration’s 92
recommendation to hold off on making the repairs and place the matter on the ballot as a 93
warrant article in February at which time the Council can decide to fund the project with tax 94
dollars or from the Fund Balance.95

96
Councilor Giotas asked why Target did not address reinforcing underneath the stage that was 97
outlined in the bid.  Dr. Shankle suggested that perhaps in their mind anything on the plan 98
they would do but “we don’t know that since we don’t have it in writing”.  Chairman Sullivan 99
said looking at the project as a whole the goal of the Council was to complete the restoration 100
by the time the building turns 200 years old.  He said he would prefer to use surplus funds 101
rather than additional funds.  A lot of funds have already been committed to the project and, if 102
done now, funds can be encumbered.  Chairman Sullivan said “do we commit to funds or 103

25



TC Minutes 062718-U 3

hold off and if we hold off until next year, nothing can be done; then we have an empty 104
building that we’ve committed funds to”.105

106
Councilor Ross said he loves the building and fought to not have the building sold but a lot 107
has been done, town employees have worked on it, but this is a $100,000 question which is 108
way too much to jump into quickly.  He said “we shouldn’t be in a big hurry to spend $100,000 109
and voters deserve an opportunity to weigh in”.  He suggested an architectural person review 110
the plan and provide advice.  In response to Councilor Giotas, Dr. Shankle said the bidders 111
were informed they could wait until next year to do the work.  Chairman Sullivan said this 112
covers three projects and perhaps it would make sense to take it in smaller steps and do the 113
work in portions.  Councilor Duhaime said this is winter work and contractors would be glad to 114
be inside.  Dr. Shankle said that is why they were given a year to do the work.  He said a lot 115
of money went into studies and at the start the engineer didn’t think the work was a big deal 116
so it was put off.  He continued saying “if we would have known it was this extensive, we 117
wouldn’t have put in that much money into it; now, all this work needs to be done and if not 118
done, the building could have a problem”.  He said “we’ve been spending money out of 119
building repair because that’s a building the town is trying to keep up…we had no idea it 120
would be this much”.  Chairman Sullivan said the Council needed to make a commitment on 121
how to approach this.  Dr. Shankle said “if we don’t do this now then there’s no use for it; 122
we’re on notice that this building has structural problems and have created a liability for 123
ourselves”.124

125
Councilor Ross asked if there were structural problems in terms of being occupied or that the 126
building will fall down.  Dr. Shankle said he did not know but they were not trying to bring it to 127
20th century standards.  Councilor Ross said most of the money spent was received through 128
fundraising and he did not feel comfortable spending $100,000.  Councilor Winterton echoed 129
what Councilor Ross said and feels it is the Council’s responsibility to the taxpayers to tell 130
them how much this will cost and let them decide”.  He is reluctant to spend more not 131
knowing what else will go into the project.  Councilor Tsantoulis said it was not the right time 132
to spend another $100,000 and since “construction is very expensive right now, [he] can’t 133
support this at this time”.134

135
Chairman Sullivan said he didn’t know how much was spent already and he/the Council 136
should have told the voters what the cost will be.  Councilor Giotas said “wait and see what 137
the voters want to do”.  Councilor Levesque said given what was in that building long ago, if it 138
was going to cave in, it would have then.  Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor 139
Ross, to reject all bids received for the structural repairs to the Old Town Hall.  Motion passed 140
8-1 [Chairman Sullivan opposed].141

142
12.    PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES143

144
Mr. Dan Belanger of 13 Corriveau Drive came forward to express his objection to the town’s 145
new procedure on registration of dogs.  He said there was no prior notice of the increase to 146
$25 as an administrative fee to have the police come to his home.  He said his wife went 147
online to register the dog which cost $6.50 plus an online fee of $4.00 which he finds too 148
extravagant.  He suggested the Council look at this and think about the time and effort of 149
having the town clerk call (as he did again tonight) to let him know that the police will be 150
coming.  He said the expense of taking him to court will be a lot more than it is to collect $25.  151
He asked that the Council look into this and thanked the Councilors for their time.  152

153
26



TC Minutes 062718-U 4

13.    NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS154
155

13.a    June 2018 Nominations and Appointments156
157

Nick Gerrmain said a last minute application for an Alternate to the Zoning Board was 158
received from Sasha DeYoung of 34 Sterling Drive.  Not all forms have been completed.  159
Councilor Winterton said he’d prefer going through the standard process and make the 160
nomination when all necessary information/forms are provided.  He thanked the citizen for 161
being willing to serve.  The matter will be addressed at the next Council meeting.162

163
14.    15 MINUTE RECESS164

165
15.    OLD BUSINESS166

167
15.a    New Pedestrian Bridge Update (Change Order #2 tabled from 6/13/18 Town Council 168
Meeting)169
Staff Report - Lilac Pedestrian Bridge Discussion 6-13-18.docx170

171
Councilor Ross moved, second by Councilor Giotas, to remove the matter from the table.  172
Motion passed unanimously, 9-0.173

174
Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Ross, to escrow funds in the amount of175
$210,936.50 for invoice numbers 9, 10, and 11.  These funds are withheld pursuant to the 176
towns claim set off against payments due to potential litigation by the NH Department of 177
Environmental Services.  Motion passed 8-0-1 [Councilor Tsantoulis abstained due to a 178
conflict of interest].179

180
Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Ross, to escrow funds in the amount of 181
$218,615.08 for invoice numbers 12 and 13 to be held in escrow until the town examines 182
verification of said invoices.  Motion passed 8-0-1 [Councilor Tsantoulis abstained due to a 183
conflict of interest].184

185
Dr. Shankle indicated that his office has received requests about when the bridge will open.  186
He wanted to make sure everyone understood that the bridge will not be open until legal 187
issues have been taken care of.  Chairman Sullivan asked that this information be placed on 188
the town website.189

190
15.b    FY 2017-18 Budget Encumbrances and Budget Transfers191

192
Christine Soucie, Finance Director, went over the list of encumbrances which are attached to 193
these minutes.  Director Soucie pointed out the Council’s earlier vote to contract with Block 5 194
for IT services and that a portion of needed funds will be rolled over.195

196
Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Duhaime, to encumber $1,700 for the Old 197
Town Hall alarm panel.  Motion passed 7-1-1 [Chairman Sullivan opposed; Councilor Ross 198
abstained].199

200
Chairman Sullivan asked what the difference was between the list of encumbrances and the 201
list of purchase orders.  Director Soucie said the list of purchase orders were obligations 202
outside of the operating budget.203

204
27



TC Minutes 062718-U 5

Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Levesque, to approve all encumbrances as 205
presented, except for #12, the Old Town Hall alarm panel, in the amount of $12,888,768.65.  206
Roll Call #2: Councilor Duhaime-yes, Councilor Durand-yes, Councilor Ross-yes, Councilor 207
Levesque-yes, Councilor Walczyk-yes, Councilor Giotas-yes, Councilor Winterton-yes, 208
Councilor Tsantoulis-yes, Chairman Sullivan-yes.  Motion passed unanimously, 9-0.  209

210
Dr. Shankle referred to the purchase order listed for the library door and stated that the library 211
staff was aware that they don’t technically need to do this but wanted to be as transparent as 212
possible and have it be on record.  213

214
15.c    Comcast Renewal215
Comcast Letter 041018.pdf216

217
Dr. Shankle indicated that the main issue with the Comcast renewal is eliminating the 218
franchise fees and whether to extend the Comcast contract that Dr. Shankle is opposed to.  219
Councilor Ross moved, second by Councilor Winterton, to instruct the Town Administrator to 220
advise Comcast that the town will no longer receive franchise fees and that the town will sign 221
a first amendment to the 12/16/12 contract.  Councilor Tsantoulis asked what benefit this was 222
for individuals in town and was informed by Councilor Winterton “three percent of their bill”.  223
Councilor Ross added that cable customers are being charged a fee for something they don’t 224
use.  Chairman Sullivan said it adds up to about $36.00 a year per customer.  Dr. Shankle 225
said that according to Finance Director Soucie getting rid of the revenue will add about ten 226
cents to the tax bill.  Motion passed 8-1 [Councilor Tsantoulis opposed].227

228
15.d    Town of Hooksett Municipal Reorganization (tabled from 06/20/18 Town Council Meeting)229
Reorganization proposal 2018.docx230

231
Dr. Shankle proposed separating out a Community Development Division since it will relieve 232
the Public Works Director and will allow the Town Planner to focus on planning rather than on233
budgets and other administrative matters.  Chairman Sullivan said it makes sense to have the 234
Town Administrator serve as the Community Development Director.  Councilor Tsantoulis 235
moved, second by Councilor Winterton, to accept the reorganization proposal as presented.236

237
Councilor Ross said he is not against this proposal but is concerned as to the blurring of the 238
lines.  He said “we need to be cautious about making changes”.  Councilor Tsantoulis said 239
nothing is cast in stone.  Dr. Shankle said the reorganization could be temporary but would 240
provide stability now.  The motion passed unanimously, 9-0.241

242
16.    NEW BUSINESS243

244
16.a    Town Administrator Contract for effective date 07/01/2018245

246
Chairman Sullivan stated that Dr. Shankle’s three-year contract expires on June 30th.  247
Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Tsantoulis, to offer Dr. Shankle a one-year 248
contract as presented, a copy of which is to be included on the town website and as part of 249
these meeting minutes, and to approve the Chairman sign the contract on behalf of the 250
Council. The benefits included in the current contract are similar to those in the Town 251
Administrator’s last contract and includes an increase of about 2.5 percent which is in line 252
with other employees increases.  Dr. Shankle said he’d been with the town for seven years 253
and he has enjoyed his time here.  He said he appreciates the Council’s willingness to give 254
him another contract and he looks forward to the next year and what “we’ll do well together”.  255

28



TC Minutes 062718-U 6

Dr. Shankle suggested putting copies of his previous contract and current contract on the 256
web so that people could compare.257

258
Roll Call #3: Councilor Giotas-yes, Councilor Ross-yes, Councilor Walczyk-yes, Councilor 259
Durand-yes, Councilor Duhaime-yes, Councilor Tsantoulis-yes, Councilor Levesque-yes, 260
Councilor Winterton-yes, Chairman Sullivan-yes.  Motion passed unanimously, 9-0.261

262
17.    SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS263

264
Councilor Levesque said Recycling Committee met last night.  Diane Boyce will be putting a 265
letter out suspending recycling because of cost: $114.85/ton versus $72/ton for trash and 266
suggesting residents bring cardboard and aluminum cans to the station.  Councilor Winterton 267
commended the committee for taking this hard step given what their goals have been.  268
Councilor Levesque said the committee will be thankful to be backed by the Council.  269
Chairman Sullivan questioned whether this required a Council vote.  Dr. Shankle said at an 270
earlier meeting Council told Administration that they could use their own judgment on getting 271
rid of trash/recycling.  Councilor Winterton moved, second by Councilor Giotas, to support the 272
Administration’s and Recycling Committee’s action.  Motion passed unanimously, 9-0.273

274
Councilor Giotas attended a preservation alliance workshop; budget is being prepared for the 275
Heritage Commission.  Chairman Sullivan said there have been suggestion that the “lilac 276
pedestrian bridge” continue with that moniker.  Councilor Ross said that deserves some 277
discussion.278

279
Councilor Ross said two trucks from Maine have been using fire hydrants and he wasn’t sure 280
it was legitimate.  Dr. Shankle said they do get keys from the village district who moves the 281
meters around.282

283
18.    PUBLIC INPUT284

285
Marc Miville came forward stating that as Councilor he worked on the Comcast fee matter for 286
six years.  He thanked the Council for their actions saying the citizens will be thrilled.  Dr. 287
Shankle told Mr. Miville that Comcast will handle the matter as quickly as they can.  Mr. 288
Miville said he was surprised the Council gave the Town Administrator just a one year 289
contract.  Mr. Miville was also informed that all recycling is metal, aluminum cans, and 290
cardboard; everything else is trash.291

292
Donna Fitzpatrick announced that the Council only has one meeting in July on July 11th that 293
will start with a non-public session at 5:30 p.m.294

295
19.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION296

297
19.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee 298
or the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges against him or her.299

300
19.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee.301

302
19.c    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect adversely the 303
reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.304

305 29



TC Minutes 062718-U 7

19.d    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (d) Consideration of the acquisition, sale, or lease of real or personal 306
property which, if discussed in public, would likely benefit a party or parties whose interests are 307
adverse to those in the general community.308

309
J. Sullivan motioned to enter non-public session of 06/27/18 at 8:55pm. Seconded by R. 310
Duhaime.311

312
Roll Call #4313
A. Walczyk – yes314
J. Levesque – yes315
D. Ross – yes316
R. Duhaime – yes317
J. Durand – yes318
D. Winterton – yes319
T. Tsantoulis – yes320
J. Giotas - yes321
J. Sullivan - yes322
Vote in favor (9-0).323

324
D. Winterton motioned to exit non-public session of 06/27/18 at 9:20pm. Seconded by R. 325
Duhaime.  Vote unanimously in favor (9-0).326

J. Sullivan motioned to seal the non-public session minutes of 06/27/18. Seconded by R. 327
Duhaime. Vote unanimously in favor (9-0).328

329
20.    ADJOURNMENT330

331
J. Sullivan motioned to adjourn the public session of 06/27/18 at 9:20pm. Seconded by D. 332
Ross.  Vote unanimously in favor (9-0).333

334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342

NOTE:  The town website may have attachments to these Town Council minutes for 343
documents referred to in the minutes, reading file materials, and/or ancillary documents that 344
the Town Council has signed as agent to expend as a result of the Council’s prior approval of 345
the documents.346

347
Respectfully submitted,348

349
350

Suzanne Beauchesne351
Recording Clerk352

30



TC Minutes 071118-U

1

TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES - UNOFFICIAL1
Regular Meeting2

Wednesday, July 11, 20183
5:30 PM4

Council Chambers5
6
7

ITEMS 1-8 LED BY TOWN ADMINISTRATOR8
9

10
1.    CALL TO ORDER11

12
Dr. Dean E. Shankle, Jr. called the meeting of 7/11/18 to order at 5:32pm.13

14
2.    PROOF OF POSTING15

16
Town Administrator, Dr. Dean E. Shankle, Jr., provided proof of posting. 17

18
3.    ROLL CALL - NON-PUBLIC SESSION #119
D. Ross motioned to enter non-public session of 07/11/18 at 5:35pm. Seconded by J. Giotas.20

21
Roll Call #122
D. Winterton – yes23
J. Giotas – yes24
J. Levesque – yes25
A. Walczyk – yes26
R. Duhaime – yes27
J. Durand – yes28
D. Ross – yes29
J. Sullivan - yes30
Vote in favor (8-0).31

32
4.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION #133

34
4.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public 35
employee or the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges 36
against him or her.37

38
4.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee.39

40
4.c    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect 41
adversely the reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.42

43
D. Ross motioned to exit non-public session #1 of 07/11/18 at 6:41pm. Seconded by D. Winterton.44
Vote unanimously in favor (8-0).45

D. Ross motioned to seal the non-public session #1 minutes of 07/11/18. Seconded by D. Winterton. 46
Vote unanimously in favor (8-0).47

31



TC Minutes 071118-U

2

5.   CALL TO ORDER - PUBLIC SESSION WILL BEGIN IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE 48
NON-PUBLIC SESSION NOTED ABOVE.49

50
Dr. Dean E. Shankle, Jr. called the public session of the meeting to order at 6:45 pm.51

52
6.    ROLL CALL (# 2) - PUBLIC SESSION53

54
In attendance: 55
Councilor Donald Winterton, Councilor John Giotas, Councilor James Levesque, Councilor 56
Robert Duhaime, Councilor David Ross, Chairman James Sullivan, Councilor Alex Walczyk, 57
and Councilor John Durand.  58

59
Missed: Councilor Tim Tsantoulis.60

61
7.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE62

63
8.    TOWN COUNCIL REORGANIZATION - PART I64

65
8.a    Town Clerk swearing-in of all new Councilors as a group66

67
Todd Rainier, Town Clerk, swearing-in of new Councilors. (Councilors John Durand & Alex 68
Walczyk)69

70
8.b    Election of Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary71

72
Councilor Winterton motioned to nominate/appoint Councilor James Sullivan as Chair 73
of the Council. Seconded by Councilor Duhaime,74
Vote 7 in favor 1 abstain (Sullivan). 75

76
Councilor Levesque motioned to nominate/appoint Councilor Robert Duhaime as Vice-77
Chair of the Council. Seconded by Councilor Giotas.78
Vote 7 in favor 1 abstain (Duhaime). 79

80
Councilor Ross motioned to nominate/appoint Councilor Tsantoulis as Secretary of 81
the Council.  Seconded by Councilor Walczyk.82
Vote in favor (8-0)83

84
9.    SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS85

86
10.    SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS87

88
10.a    Town Clerk, Todd Rainier - Civil Forfeitures for Unlicensed Dogs (see new 89
business item 21a for details)90

91
Todd Ranier, Town Clerk distributed dog licensing report & sample civil forfeiture documents 92
(see attached for details).93

94
T. Rainer provided council a list that 148 dogs out of 1603 registered in Hooksett remain 95

32



TC Minutes 071118-U

3

unregistered as of July 11, 2018. In January 2018, 1195 renewal reminder postcards were96
mailed & stated how licenses can be renewed and what’s required and penalties that may97
follow. All information is on the town website. Rabies should be on file up & to date. Todd 98
has been calling to follow up also. Todd met with Chief Bouchard HPD & it was very99
constructive. Trying to reach out to residents, what can they do to help? Police have social 100
media which will get the word out and assist us. Todd requests direction on how to handle the101
remainder of the dogs. Send emails, postcards, signs in office? Based on notices sent a 102
couple of people registered their dogs today. On the town clerks page on town website there 103
is a dog status update form. 104

105
Councilor Levesque advised of a resident last week complaining about a $25.00 late fee. 106
Todd advised it was very late if it reached that amount since it is only $1.00 a month starting107
June 1st every year & keeps accruing until paid. When is the earliest you can register your108
dog? Todd advised the first of January.109

110
Councilor Ross said well-known resident last week was upset over a “not” friendly reminder111
and was threatened by stating police would be called? Resident claims it is not on notice112
about police. Todd is familiar with resident who explained process to resident & explained the 113
process & penalties might be incurred. Notice from police department is one step then district114
court all by RSA if not paid it is supposed to be a process we follow. 115

116
Councilor Ross thinks more bedside manor/caution due to that resident being so upset over 117
his dog being unlicensed. The level of frustration and anger was over the top for a dog118
license. 119

120
Councilor Duhaime questioning not as many notices sent last year. 121

122
Todd Ranier Town Clerk advised down to 18 unlicensed dogs by October last year so that 123
was good. Hopefully not that long this year due to late fees. Todd how do you get the word 124
out to people?  What can we do that more that won’t affect budgets?  125

126
Chair Sullivan saying it might be quirky but maybe K9 officer should make a video with chief 127
showing him bringing dog into clerk to get licensed. He also suggested a workshop how to128
interact with a scheduled appointment.129
  130
17. PUBLIC INPUT – 15 MINUTES131

132
Alan Stein of 17 Autumn Run Hooksett has a bicycle safety issue in the town. He would like133
the council’s help to make it safer for bicyclists. He is a bicycle commuter. He commutes from134
his home at Autumn Run to his work. Only option is to go on route 28. Most people drive135
faster than speed limit. Few sections of the road there is no shoulder one at Campbell Hill &136
turn off to Main Street. He has to ride in traffic lane. It’s the only North South Road on this 137
side of the river to ride. Mr. Stein contacted DOT who told him to contact your town so he 138
then contacted Diane Boyce at DPW. Diane said it’s a state road & contact the state. He 139
received a 30 page description on what can be done but needs help from council. How to140
help highway department to make it safer. Chair Sullivan will post something to the highway 141
safety committee per Dr. Shankle. Mr. Stein will send information he received from the 142
highway department to Dr. Shankle.   143

33



TC Minutes 071118-U

4

144
145

21.a    Civil Forfeitures for Unlicensed Dogs146
staff report - Dogs 2018-1.docx147

148
Civil Forfeiture RSA 466 14.docx149

150
Dr Shankle distributed Dog License Civil forfeiture paper (See attached for details). He went 151
through the law because it keeps coming up as an issue. Police Chief is on vacation & he 152
advised her not to come to the meeting the council would make the decision. Other than153
Dr.Shankle’s recommendation everything is direct quotes of the law. If we are going to try to 154
follow the law we should follow the law. The highlights are his. The owner of the dog needs to155
be responsible. Dr. Shackle’s recommendation is to not seize the dogs to not take up the156
police time in courts or sending them after unlicensed dogs. His opinion is this has gotten157
way too complicated. The number of dogs in the city or town that have been seized should be 158
zero. The number of owners who have received a summons to a district or municipal court for159
failure to pay should be zero. He can’t tell the town clerk what to do but he is going to tell the 160
police chief this is how he wants it handled and if anyone wants to override it. He says it too 161
late to do anything now.162
       163

164
Councilor Winterton as an inquiry if we want to follow the town administrator’s165
recommendation. We don’t have to do anything and it doesn’t require a motion to tell him how166
to do his job. 91/92% compliance rate now on dogs and thinks we are ok. His feeling is to go 167
with the town administrator’s recommendation.168

169
Councilor Ross agrees to not send police however we will get a list of people who have 170
ignored the notice. There has to be a way everyone knows if a dog is safe or not if the owner171
does not get a license.172
. 173
Councilor Winterton questioned chair Sullivan if we need still receive the list. Should be public 174
list. It should be apparent and not paying the license.175

176
Dr. Shankle advised we will have a running list of dogs unlicensed. Three years for taxes 177
maybe follow the same for dog licenses.178

179
Todd Ranier advised we have been following this process for 2 years and it works well. Dogs 180
cannot be on a list that can be made public in response to Councilor Ross’ statement. We do181
not have an animal control officer so the police department gets a list of licensed dogs & they 182
don’t have the list in database. Police chief did not want to grapple on the list this year or last183
year.184

185
Dr. Shankle thinks the list becomes public with the civil forfeiture. He will check on it. People186
who don’t pay their bills should be public. Taxes etc. 187

188
Todd advised taxes are different they are public. Motor vehicle and dogs are not public.189

190
Chair Sullivan advised Todd to do what he is supposed to do. He asked Todd to come in191

34



TC Minutes 071118-U

5

June 12, 2019 to give us what’s required. 192
193

Todd wants to know how to proceed this year? Notices have been sent. We have a list of194
dogs not registered. Should we just let it sit and let the late fees accrue?195

196
Dr.Shankle said it’s too late to get a warrant this year but advised Todd he can do whatever197
else he needs. Dr. Shankle advised we cannot the civil forfeiture process. This has never 198
been an issue and we need to do it right despite of 46613 not in place? 199

200
Councilor Duhaime would like a list from last year showing this year who is still on it and201
would like a list next year. Nothing we are going to pursue this year.202

203
Dr. Shankle advised Todd to do what he needs to being an elected official. You would help204
the people that voted for you. 205

206
Todd views his job as an elected official a little different than that but he gets the gist. 207

208
Chair Sullivan is impressed with this council and the way they address the issues in a proper209
way.210

211
11.    TOWN COUNCIL REORGANIZATION - PART II212

213
11.a    First meeting of the New Town Council, complete section 2a 3-11 of Town Council 214
Rules of Procedures215
TC Rules 041118.pdf216

217
Adm Code Annual Review 063018.pdf218

219
Admin Code 080917.pdf220

221
Hooksett_s_Post_Issuance_Compliance_Policy.pdf222

223
Councilor Winterton motioned to adopt section 2a 3-11 of the Town Council Rules of 224
Procedures. Seconded by Councilor Giotas225
Vote in favor (8-0)226

227
Councilor Winterton read section 2a 3-11 of the Town Council Rules of Procedures into the 228
record:229

230
2.  Procedures for electing officers are as follows:231

a. Annually, at the first meeting of the new Town Council: 232
1. The Town Clerk shall swear-in all new Councilors as a group.233

The members thereof shall:234
2. Choose, from among their members, a Chair, a Vice Chair and a Secretary.  235

In addition to the powers conferred upon the Chair, the Vice Chair and the 236
Secretary, they shall continue to have all the rights, privileges and 237
immunities of a member of the Town Council.238

35



TC Minutes 071118-U

6

3. Motion that the Town Council confirms by a roll call vote, that the Town 239
of Hooksett will adopt RSA 31:104, 31:105 and 31:106 to provide 240
immunity and indemnify all Town Councilors, other elected officials, 241
employees, agents as well as appointed officials that serve on committees 242
and boards within the Town of Hooksett; specifically covering immunity 243
from civil liability for discretionary acts, according to RSA 31:104, 244
indemnification for costs of defense of civil suits, according to RSA 245
31:105 and indemnification for civil rights claims, according to RSA 246
31:106.247

4. Motion to have the Town Council Chair sign ancillary documents as agent 248
to expend as a result of Town Council prior approval of the documents.249

5. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete the Council’s section of 250
the Annual Report.251

6. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete Tax Deed Waivers.252
7. Motion to adopt the Town Council Rules of Procedures.253
8. Motion to adopt the Administrative Code (which includes the Investment 254

and Fund Balance Policies).255
9. Motion to have the Tax Collector sign payment plans for deedable 256

properties.257
10. Motion to have the Town Administrator approve payment plans for 258

deedable properties (Town Administrator cannot forgive interest or 259
principal).260

11. Motion to have a Councilor work with the Administrative Services 261
Coordinator to coordinate the Town Council Old Home Day booth (3rd262
Saturday in September) and Employee Appreciation Picnic (Friday in 263
October prior to Columbus Day holiday) 264

265
11.b    Town Council Board/Committee Assignments for 2018-2019 266
Staff_Report - Council Assignments.docx267

268
Board of Assessors – Ross, Walczyk, Giotas Alternate - Durand269
Budget – Alternate Winterton (tabled to 8-22-18 town council meeting)270
Conservation Commission – Ross Alternate - Duhaime 271
Economic Development Advisory Committee – Alternate Winterton (tabled to 8-22-18)272
Heritage – Sullivan, Giotas273
THPC – Sullivan, Giotas 274
Hooksett Youth Achiever - Winterton, Walczyk, Tsantoulis 275
Parks and Recreations Advisory Committee - Duhaime Alternate Durand276
Transfer & Recycling – Levesque Alternate Giotas 277
Planning Board – Winterton  Alternate Duhaime 278
Sewer – Winterton Alternate Tsantoulis279
ZBA – Levesque 280
Union Negotiations  - Winterton/Duhaime Fire Rescue Winterton/Duhaime/Durand Police281
Perambulation  - Duhaime 282
Cable TV Franchise - None 283
Record Retention Committee – Ross 284
SNHU Relations Sub-Committee – Walczyk, Winterton Alternate Durand285
TIF – Winterton286

36



TC Minutes 071118-U

7

287
12.    APPROVAL OF MINUTES288

289
12.a    Public:  06/20/18290
TC Minutes 062018-U.docx291

292
Councilor Winterton motioned to approve the public minutes of 06/20/18 as edited.      293
Seconded by Councilor Duhaime294
Vote in favor (8-0)295

296
12.b    Public:  06/27/18297

298
Councilor Sullivan motioned to table the public minutes of 06/27/18 to the Council 299
08/22/18 meeting.   Seconded by Councilor Winterton300
Vote in favor (8-0)301

302
303

12.c    Non-Public:  06/20/18304
305

Councilor Winterton motioned to approve the non-public minutes of 06/20/18. 306
Seconded by Councilor Levesque307
Vote in favor (8-0)308

309
12.d    Non-Public:  06/27/18310

311
Councilor Winterton motioned to approve the non-public minutes of 06/27/18. 312
Seconded by Councilor Levesque313
Vote in favor (8-0)314

315
13.    AGENDA OVERVIEW316

Chair Sullivan provided overview of tonight’s agenda.  317
318

14.    PUBLIC HEARINGS319
320

14.a    Public Hearing to accept $11,951.44 in grant funds from the Merrimack 321
Conservation Partnership Land Transaction Grant Program to the Town of Hooksett for 322
the Conservation Easement known as the Heroux Property "Clay Pond III"  project 323
Heroux Property 73.5 acres, Tax Map 4, Lot 9 North Candia Road per RSA 31:95-b III (a) 324
(see New Business item 21b for details).325
071118 CONCOM GRANT PH.doc326

327
Chair Sullivan read the public hearing into the record and opened the public hearing.328

329
15.    CONSENT AGENDA330

331
15.a    On April 25, 2018, the Town Council approved accepting donations to fund the K9 332
Program.333

334
37



TC Minutes 071118-U

8

Motion to accept the donation of $1,985.00 from citizens and business owners, to the Town 335
of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (b) and return that 336
amount to the Police Departments, K9 trust Fund.337

338
Staff Report K9 July 11.docx339

340
20180627122211546.pdf341

342
Councilor Duhaime motioned to accept the consent agenda. Seconded by Councilor 343
Ross344
Vote in favor (8-0)345

346
347

16.    TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT348
349

Dr. Shankle provided the following overview:350
Interviewing for public works director position351
Recycling 352
(Block 5) Working with new town IT contract353
Meeting with his new community Development Department and attended one of their 354

master plan meetings355
Met Mayor Craig Manchester, NH (meet & greet)356
SNHU (CEDA) groundbreaking. He has invited the new town planner to future SNHU 357

meetings358
Mount Saint Mary’s condominium auction $74,000. Condo association received $35,000 359

in fees. Auctioneer was surprised it went for over $40,000. If held onto for three years 360
would have profited, kept all proceeds.361

Councilor Levesque argued with past town councilor that after three years of back taxes 362
we can auction property.363

After new year technology (7-1-18)364
Recruiting DPW director & engineer365
Manchester water works increase 2 ½% in user fees366
Trimbur case (Corriveau Drive) – Town won the case367
Transcript for 4-25-18 town council minutes town received pedestrian bridge368
Council discussion on towns LED lighting further updates at council 8-22-18 meeting369

370
17.    PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES371

(Moved up under 10A)372
373

18.    NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS374
375

19.    15 MINUTE RECESS376
377

20.    OLD BUSINESS378
379

20.a    Budget Transfers380
381

38



TC Minutes 071118-U

9

Christine Soucie, Finance Director distributed budget transfer request form (see attached for 382
details).  3 transfer requests tonight last fiscal year moving health insurance lines. Rental 383
rates for the hydrants also requested.384

385
Councilor Winterton questioned if rental prices are negotiable?386

387
Councilor Ross questioned have we ever compared other cities/towns?388

389
Councilor Duhaime also questioned and compared. substantial increase.390

391
Chair Sullivan questioned we don’t own so if someone uses and we rent them? 392

393
Councilor Ross good to know what it’s really worth.394

395
Chair Sullivan agrees and requests they come in or have them send letter to explain.396

397
C. Soucie advised transfer 5 overages public works resurfacing/fleet main department over398
because new employee hired higher then budget.399
Under budgeting and doesn’t know why will check with Dr. Shankle.400

401
Chair Sullivan questioned admin can transfer within department.402

403
C. Soucie says fleet is separate account transfer money so doesn’t show negative.404

405
406

Councilor Duhaime motioned to approve 3 budget transfers407
#2018-04 131,000.00408
#2018-05 220,298.00409
#2018-06 55,750.00410
Seconded by Councilor Giotas 411
Vote in favor (8-0)412

413
NEW ITEM:  PAVING CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER 414

415
Dr. Shankle advised as part of budget transfers above that Diane Boyce, PW Directgor, has a 416
change order for paving.417

418
Diane Boyce DPW Director stated paving change order for additional paving on Hackett Hill 419
Rd.  and additional paving for Cross Road (see attached for details).420

421
Councilor Ross change order number #1 is for $362,209.00422

423
Councilor Duhaime questioned extending contract. More commuters on Hackett Hill Road 424
these days request leave unpaved heavy truck traffic and need to protect residents. There 425
should be a weight limit first year of paving full length of Hackett Hill.426

427
Councilor Ross motioned to approve the change order #1 for 2018 paving contract for 428
GMI Asphalt in the amount of $362,209.00 (for a total contract of $991,224.00) 429

39



TC Minutes 071118-U

10

Seconded by Councilor Levesque   430
431

ROLL CALL # 3432
J. Giotas- yes433
D. Ross- yes434
A. Walczyk- yes435
J. Durand- yes436
R. Duhaime- yes437
J. Levesque- yes438
D. Winterton- yes439
J. Sullivan- yes 440
Vote in favor (8-0)441

442
21.    NEW BUSINESS443

444
21.a    Civil Forfeitures for Unlicensed Dogs445
staff report - Dogs 2018-1.docx446

447
Civil Forfeiture RSA 466 14.docx448

449
21a was moved under section 10a. 450

451
Chair Sullivan closed the public hearing from 14a above. 8:45pm452

453
21.b   Accept $11,951.44 in grant funds from the Merrimack Conservation Partnership 454
Land Transaction Grant Program to the Town of Hooksett for the Conservation Easement 455
known as the Heroux Property "Clay Pond III"  project Heroux Property 73.5 acres, Tax 456
Map 4, Lot 9 North Candia Road per RSA 31:95-b III (a).457
Staff Report - Clay Pond III - Staff Report.pdf458

459
Conservation Grant - Clay Pond III.pdf460

461
Councilor Ross motioned to accept $11,951.44 in grant funds from the Merrimack  462
Conservation Partnership Land Transaction Grant Program to the Town of Hooksett 463
for the Conservation Easement known as the Heroux Property "Clay Pond III"  project 464
Heroux Property 73.5 acres, Tax Map 4, Lot 9 North Candia Road per RSA 31:95-b III 465
(a).  Seconded by Councilor Duhaime466

467
Roll Call # 4 468

A. Walczyk- yes469
J. Levesque- yes470
D. Ross-yes471
R. Duhaime- yes472
J. Durand- yes473
D. Winterton- yes474
J. Giotas- yes475
J. Sullivan- yes476

Vote in favor (8-0)477
40



TC Minutes 071118-U

11

478
21.c    Street Name Approval off Post Road479
Staff Report-Street Name Approval off of Post Road.pdf480

481
Chief Burkush indicated Ok for 911.482

483
Councilor Levesque motioned to approve Pond View Drive as the road name to access 484
Map 6, Lot 22-39.  Seconded by Councilor Duhaime.485
Vote in favor (8-0)486

487
21.d    Town Report Business488
Staff_Report - Council Report Business.docx489

490
Nick Germain, Project Coordinator, distributed draft Council Chair report. Councilors 491
reviewed and made edit of draft report as appropriate. Nick provided town report cover 492
pictures and themes to council.493

494
COUNCIL CONCENSUS to approve the town report cover picture “Welcome To 495
Hooksett” and Council Chair’s annual report and other relevant details. 496

497
21.e    NHMA Annual Legislative Policy Process498
Staff Report NHMA Policies 2018.docx499

500
NHMA POLICY 2018.pdf501

502
Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator (HR), provided an overview of the 503
NHMA annual legislative policy process. At councils 8-22-18 meeting councilors should be 504
prepared to vote on policy’s presented in tonight’s packet and designate a delegate to the 9-505
14-18 policy conference to vote on behalf of the full council.506

507
22.    SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS508

509
Councilor Levesque:  At ZBA meeting Good Morning Sales site was denied to allow a body510
shop and replied for rehearing.511

512
Councilor Ross:  Need to schedule a Board of Assessor’s meeting.513

514
Councilor Winterton:  Unable to attend Sewer Commission meeting but understands they 515
have contracted to start under river sewer lines with a goal of completion by spring 2019. Still 516
in Fire-Rescue union negotiations.517

518
23.    PUBLIC INPUT519

520
24.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION #2521

522
24.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public 523
employee or the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges 524
against him or her.525

41



TC Minutes 071118-U

12

526
24.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee.527

528
24.c    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect 529
adversely the reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.530

531
J. Sullivan motioned to enter non-public session #2 of 07/11/18 at 9:12pm. Seconded by D. 532
Winterton.533

534
Roll Call #5535
D. Ross – yes536
R. Duhaime – yes537
A. Walcyzk – yes538
J. Levesque – yes539
D. Winterton – yes540
J. Durand – yes541
J. Giotas – yes542
J. Sullivan – yes543
Vote in favor (8-0).544

545
J. Sullivan motioned to exit non-public session #2 of 07/11/18 at 9:48pm. Seconded by J. Levesque.546
Vote unanimously in favor (8-0).547

J. Sullivan motioned to seal the non-public session #2 minutes of 07/11/18. Seconded by D. Ross. 548
Vote unanimously in favor (8-0).549

550
PUBLIC SESSION CONTINUED AT 9:48pm551

552
D. Winterton motioned that the Council, as recommended by the Town Administrator and per Town 553
Charter Section 4.6, advises and consents to Earl Labonte for a conditional offer of employment as 554
the new Public Works Director. Seconded by J. Levesque.555
Vote unanimously in favor (8-0).556

557
25.    ADJOURNMENT558

559
J. Sullivan motioned to adjourn the public session of 07/11/18 at 9:50pm. Seconded by R. Duhaime.560
Vote unanimously in favor (8-0).561

562
NOTE:  The town website may have attachments to these Town Council minutes for documents 563
referred to in the minutes, reading file materials, and/or ancillary documents that the Town Council has 564
signed as agent to expend as a result of the Council’s prior approval of the documents.565

566
Respectfully submitted,567

568
569

Paula Dalton570
Recording Clerk571

572

42



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

1

1
2

TOWN COUNCIL Minutes - Unofficial3
Workshop4

Wednesday, August 08, 20185
6:00 PM6

Council Chambers7
8
9

1.    CALL TO ORDER10
11

1.a    The purpose of the public session is to have the Town Council's annual workshop.  They will be 12
discussing various topics including but not limited to, the Town Charter, Council Rules of Procedures and 13
Administrative Code.14

15
Chair Sullivan called the meeting of 8/8/18 to order at 6:03 pm.16

17
18

2.    PROOF OF POSTING19
20

Town Administrator, Dr. Dean E. Shankle, Jr, provided proof of posting on 8/1/18.21
22
23

3.    ROLL CALL #124
Roll Call - Attendance 25

Chairman James Sullivan and Councilors Donald Winterton, John Giotas, James Levesque, Alex Walczyk, 26
Robert Duhaime, Tim Tsantoulis, John Durand and David Ross.27

28
29

4.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE30
31
32

5.    WORKSHOP ITEMS33
34

Chair Sullivan states we do not have a place for public input at workshops, but have a request and will 35
keep it within our guidelines.36

37
Mr. Marc Miville of 42 Main St has comments on 2-3 issues he wants to bring up again as he has in the 38
past when he was a councilor back in February, March, April. He distributed three papers to the council. 1.) 39
Title LXIII Elections Chapter 669 Town Elections General Provisions Section 669:7 Incompatibility of 40
Offices. 2.) Title III Towns, Cities, Village Districts, and Unincorporated Places Chapter 49-D Local Option-41
Town Charters Section 49-D: 3 Optional Forms of Legislative Body. 3.) Title III Towns, Cities, Village 42
Districts, and Unincorporated Places Chapter 31 Power and Duties of Towns Power to Make Bylaws 43
Section 31:39- a Conflict of Interest Ordinances.    First item on agenda is #5a Serving on multiple Boards-44
conflicts of interest. He believes he was the one who instituted it and wanted it placed on the agenda. He 45
claims terms were different and he is concerned, because he wanted to stay on Town Council until July 1st46
but he was denied. He also can’t serve just as moderator. He is reading what a moderator can and can’t47
do (RSA 49.D.3, 669.7, and Town Charter 7.1.C). He is in agreement, but it seems the Town is much more 48
restrictive. What is the conflict that the moderator can’t join another commission? It doesn’t make sense to 49
him. Why?  What’s the conflict that he can’t be on the Heritage committee? He wanted to stay active. Mary 50
Farwell wrote it 30 years ago and he asked her why did that? They didn’t give it a second thought back 51
then. He would like council to reconsider 7.1.C for a Charter change?  52

53
Chair Sullivan advised no comments today. This is a workshop only and Council can listen to public, but 54
not comment.55

43



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

2

56
Mr. Miville said he was surprised he couldn’t volunteer anywhere else in town on boards and committees. 57
He also stated this board (see Town Charter 10.2.B) is the only one that starts July 1st; other boards start 58
May 1st. Claiming again he was forced to resign. He suggests either bring town council to May 1st or bring 59
all other positions to July 1st. 60

61
Mr. Miville advised stipends are next issue (see Administrative Code 5.8). He had to leave council in April,62
so he served 4 months and didn’t get paid in July. He thinks something should be done about it and 63
referred to Adam Jennings who he claims didn’t get paid for 6 months as Councilor. Stipends should be 64
prorated to whatever someone has served. His final point he started speaking about personnel plan.65

66
Chair Sullivan and Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator (HR), advised the personnel 67
plan is not on the workshop agenda.  68

69
1. Town Charter Updates70

a. Update Article 3.1 – remove Councilor districts/at-large (pg.3)71
b. Update Article 3.2 – remove Councilor districts/at-large (pg. 4)72
c. Update Article 3.3 – remove Councilor districts/at-large (pg. 4)73
d. Update Article 5 Finance (pgs. 12 – 17) & Article 11 Administrative and Judicial Boards (pg. 29) 74

– discussion on proposal to remove Budget Committee 75
76

Chair Sullivan facilitated Town Charter discussion on items a,b,c above (3.1, 3.2, 3.3 removing 77
Councilor districts/at-large).78

79
Councilor Ross believes issues are legitimate. Town is broken onto 6 districts which is fairly reasonable. 80
Hooksett Road has different needs then other districts. He questioned how districts get redrawn?81

82
Councilor Tsantoulis agrees with Councilor Ross on the concept about assigning districts. He thinks it 83
works well. Why people would be opposed to doing anything differently? He is not big on changing 84
things just for the sake of changing things. 85

86
Councilor Winterton thinks it would be a good change, and says that we should ask the voters if they 87
want it changed.88

89
Chair Sullivan stated the districts were a change in 1989 when the Town wanted to keep zoning. In90
2011 the Town did an extensive Town Charter review. Chair Sullivan and Councilor Levesque made91
many changes in the Town Charter at that time.92

93
Councilor Giotas agrees with Councilor Winterton and thinks it’s an unfair restriction on people who 94
want to serve.95

96
Councilor Leveque stated if it isn’t broken don’t fix it. Look at how many times we have an empty seat 97
that someone in the district will put their name in. He doesn’t understand why there is an issue. He likes 98
the 6 districts and 3 at large. What’s wrong with the system we have now?99

100
Councilor Winterton knows people who wanted to serve, but live on the other side of the street. A 101
previous Councilor couldn’t serve after the new districting.102

103
Councilor Ross stated it needs to be addressed with the Supervisors of the Checklist.104

105
Councilor  Duhaime is worried about all roads in town just not his district. Granite Hill condos have 400 106
units and at the time they were built wealthy people moved in. Older citizens felt threatened at the time 107
without districts. In his district University Heights and Head’s Pond developments are already approved108
for hundreds of homes.  It is only a matter of time before everything in his district gets built. He stated 109
there is a shortage of people on boards. He is not on either side of whether there should or should not 110
be districts, but rather let the citizens decide.111

44



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

3

112
Dr. Shankle states there are times when someone can’t run. Now, there can’t be two at-large Councilors 113
from the same district.114

115
Councilor Ross where is the public outcry? Some districts have low voter turnout. Demographics not 116
very ambulatory. Some sections of town don’t vote. The needs in Town are different from the valley than 117
on the hill and on the west side and this side of the river. Districting is smart and wise. We have nine 118
councilors here all the time and we are here to serve because we really care. Why change the Charter 119
when only a couple of people are requesting a change out of 14,000?120

121
Councilor Winterton has a compromise discussion eliminating the number of at-large Councilors per 122
district. At-large Counclors have never been a majority of this board. He states it’s sad when they123
(candidate) live on the wrong side of the street and can’t serve the Town.124

125
Chair Sullivan states the removal of districts was recommended by three individuals. Maybe Councilor126
Winterton is onto something about eliminating districts for at-large?127

128
Councilor Winterton states the term at-large is not accurate. 129

130
Chair Sullivan states maybe we need a motion?131

132
Donna Fitzpatrick reminded Chair Sullivan that there are no motions at workshops, however a 133
consensus of the Council may be taken.134

135
Chair Sullivan is questioning to eliminate the sentence in the Town Charter 3.2 “No two councilors 136
elected at-large or appointed to fill a position at large shall be residents of the same district.137

138
Councilor Ross says neighborhoods should be in the same district.139

140
Chair Sullivan stated redistricting has to be done every ten years. The voters can petition a warrant on 141
the ballot to remove the districts from the Town Charter.142

143
Chair Sullivan facilitated Town Charter discussion on item d above (5 & 11 proposal to remove 144
Budget Committee)145

146
Councilor Winterton states Dr. Shankle brings budget here and we are responsible and spend a lot of 147
time on its review. The Budget Committee then takes the Town Administrator and Town Council budget 148
and reviews that for sixteen Thursday nights in a row. There are fourteen members on the Budget 149
Committee. Last year the Budget Committee changed our budget by .43%; they agreed with our budget 150
99.57%. The Budget Committee sixteen meetings are at least two hours each. The Budget committee is 151
elected. Many members have left this committee. This Council does its job and he does not think the 152
Budget Committee is needed in 2018. No one from the Town Council wants to become the Budget 153
Committee representative.154

155
Councilor Tsantoulis stated the Budget Committee process appears redundant.156

157
Councilor Ross stated it is supposed to be hard to spend money. Change is supposed to be difficult. 158
The Budget Committee’s job is to check on us. They serve a purpose. We should put the removal of the 159
Budget Committee on the ballot and let the voters decide, but he can’t see it passing. 160

161
Chair Sullivan stated in all his years here he only recalls one major change from the Budget Committee.162
There is no public outcry to remove the Budget Committee. This committee has term limits. He thinks 163
there is a good purpose to the Budget Committee. 164

165
Councilor Duhaime states it is a system that does a double check on the budget. The size of the 166
committee and number of meetings may need to be reduced so people on the committee show up.167

45



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

4

Chair Sullivan facilitated other Town Charter recommended changes as follows:168
169

Chair Sullivan question on 3.5.3 roll call?170
171

Councilor Ross stated maybe last sentence could be removed in Town Charter 3.5.3 “All votes shall be 172
recorded by roll call except votes on procedural matters”.173

174
Chair Sullivan question on judicial vs. administrative boards?175

176
Councilor Ross states one makes decision and one takes action. 177

178
Dr. Shankle states the restrictions of Moderator servicing on other Boards/Committees has come before 179
you twice before for changes to the Town Charter, but you decided not to move forward with any 180
changes. If I recall when the woman came before you, it was unanimously not recommended for 181
change...182

183
Councilor Duhaime states a Moderator would be in conflict with being on a Budget Committee, Planning 184
Board and others..  185

186
Councilor Ross states Moderator should not service on ZBA.187

188
Councilor Winterton states that Moderator may be able to serve on advisory Boards/Committees that 189
have no voting power.190

191
Dr. Shankle states by having a Moderator on an advisory Board/Committee you are putting someone on 192
who has an outside impact on that Board/Committee.  193

194
Councilor Ross states there is also the appearance to the public of the Moderator on a 195
Board/Committee.196

197
Dr. Shankle reminds the Council the reason we kept Councilors on the July 1st term is to complete their 198
budget cycle.199

200
Councilor Winterton states July 1st terms for everyone makes sense.201

202
Councilor Tsantoulis states July 1st terms for all Boards/Committees could result in attendance issues.  203
The current member(s) finds out he/she was not re-elected in March, but he/she still needs to complete 204
their term through June 30th.205

206
Councilor Winterton states there are rules for attendance whereby a member can be removed if missing 207
a certain number of meetings.208

209
Councilor Ross states 7.1.C add “ . . . unless otherwise requires or allowed by law or this Charter.”210

211
Chair Sullivan states 7.1.F new section “F” “Any person elected as Moderator shall not simultaneously 212
be on any other judicial or administrative board.213

214
Chair Sullivan states 10.2.B update “ . . . elected officials in the Town shall take or continue on the first 215
day of July next following their election . . .”216

217
In Summary, motions on the following to be addressed at 8/22/18 Town Council Meeting: 218

219
Councilor Districts/At-Large220

1. 3.1 – remove Councilor districts/at-large221
2. 3.2 – remove Councilor districts/at-large222
3. 3.3 - remove Councilor districts/at-large223

46



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

5

Note:  1,2,3 above, if recommended by Council, remove any other language in Town Charter 224
associated with Councilor districts/at-large.225

226
Councilor At-Large227

4. 3.2 – only remove paragraph 3 "No two councilors elected at large or appointed to fill a position at large 228
shall be residents of the same district”.   229
Note:  Recommending only #4 above would keep districts, but remove restricts from at-large seats.230

231
Roll Call Votes232

5. 3.5.d – remove “All votes shall be recorded by roll call except votes on procedural matters.”233

234
Budget Committee235

6. 5 & 11 – remove Budget Committee236
Note:  If #5 above recommended, remove any other language in Town Charter associated with Budget 237
Committee.238

239
Moderator240

7. 7.1.C – add “  . . . unless otherwise required or allowed by law or this Charter.”241
8. 7.1.F – add new section “F” “Any person elected as Moderator shall not simultaneously be on any other 242

judicial or administrative board.”243

244
Elected Officials First Day in Office245

9. 10.2.B – update “ . . . all elected officials in the Town shall take or continue in office on the first day of 246
May July next following their election . . .”247

248
249

2. Administrative Code Updates250
a. Update  Section 2 – Departmental Organization – add “Community Development” (pg. 4)251
b. Update Section 3 – Departmental Functions252

i. Add 3.3 “Community Development Department” (pg. 5)253
ii. Update 3.4 – Family Services  add “and Guidelines adopted by the Town Council” (pg. 254

5)255
iii. Remove 3.7 “Community Development” from Public Works Department (pgs. 6 & 7)256

c. Update 5.3.3 – Special Exceptions – add GSA Purchases (Town Council approved 01/10/18) 257
(pg. 13)258

d. Add New Section 5.9 - Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-Exempt 259
Obligations (Town Council Approved 5/9/18) (pgs. 15 & 16)260

261
Chair Sullivan facilitated discussion on Administrative Code items above:262

 Items a, b i, biii – updates due to Community Development Department reorganization263
 Item b ii – update due to recommendation by Town Financial Auditor264
 Items c, d – updates already approved by Town Council at previous meetings this year265

266
D. Fitzpatrick provided overview of Community Development Department reorganization.267

268
Chair Sullivan questions the Parks, Recreation & Cemetery Division of Public Works and if the 269
recreation should be taken out of any descriptions of this division.270

271
D. Fitzpatrick recommends we table the Parks, Recreation & Cemetery Division discussion to a future 272
Town Council meeting, since there are personnel changes coming to the Public Works Department.273

274
Chair Sullivan requests to add the recreation discussion on a future agenda.275

276

47



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

6

D. Fitzpatrick provided overview of Family Services Guidelines as recommended by Town Finance 277
Auditor.278

279
Dr. Shankle doesn’t know if the Town Council has ever adopted these guidelines.  This will be added to 280
the Council’s next meeting for the Council to adopt.281

282
D. Fitzpatrick recommends we add to the Council’s Rules of Procedures to adopt at their first meeting in 283
July.284

285
Chair Sullivan questions on Library and Wastewater as departments of the Town.286

287
Dr. Shankle confirms yes Library and Wastewater fall under the Town Administrator although they have 288
trustees/commissioners in between.289

290
Chair Sullivan states section 5.8 stipends, how should they be paid .. prorated? 291

292
Councilor Ross recommends quarterly stipends.293

294
In Summary, motions on the following to be addressed at 8/22/18 Town Council Meeting: 295

296
1. 2 – Departmental Organization – add “Community Development” “Economic and Community 297

Development Director”298
2. 3 – Departmental Functions (renumber appropriately)299

a. Add “Community Development Department”300
b. Remove “Community Development” from Public Works Department301

3. 3.4 - Family Services – add “and Guidelines adopted by the Town Council”302
4. 5.3.3 – Special Exceptions – add GSA Purchases (Town Council approved 01/10/18)303
5. 5.8 – update “Stipends paid . . . shall be made bi-annually quarterly in the second pay date of December 304

and June. . . “305
6. Add New Section 5.9 - Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-Exempt Ob 306

ligations (Town Council Approved 5/9/18)307
308

3. Town Council Rules of Procedures Updates309
a. Update Section 2.a.11 – reword for Administration (pg. 1)310
b. Update Section 2.c.3.d – remove minutes “attachments” (pg. 2)311
c. Review Section 7.b – public input (pg. 4) Best practices to oversee the public speaking before 312

the Council.313
d. Review Section 7.d – scheduled appointments (pg. 5) Best practices to oversee the 314

appointments speaking before the Council.315
e. Review Section 7.f – new business (pg. 5) new business should not be presented and 316

addressed the night of the meeting via public input or scheduled appointment, but rather 317
introduced and determined by the Council for a future new business agenda item.318

f. Update Section 7.f.2 – new business submission deadline clarified (pg. 5)319
g. Update Section 9.a – filing agenda items submission deadline clarified (pg. 5)320
h. Review Section 10 – addressing the Council (pg. 6) Best practices to oversee individuals 321

speaking before the Council.322
323

Chair Sullivan facilitated discussion on Town Council Rules of Procedures’ items above:324
325

D. Fitzpatrick states posting attachments to minutes is very time consuming.  The attachments are 326
coming from various sources in different formats and then need to be consolidated into one paper 327
version to then scan as one document to post on the Town’s website.  Attachments that would be 328
posted are available at Town Hall should someone request a copy.329

330
Chair Sullivan questions if attachments are permanent records.331

332

48



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

7

D. Fitzpatrick replies yes per RSA 33A and someone requesting a document may receive via hard copy 333
or e-mail attachment.334

335
Councilor Winterton states the Council should revisit section 3.c Council electronic method(s) of 336
participation, attendance, or quorum at Council meetings.337

338
Councilor Ross doesn’t think a Councilor should be voting if he is not here.339

340
Councilor Walczyk states he believes it’s a Hooksett Town thing regarding restrictions on electronic341
attendance at meetings.342

343
Dr. Shankle states the electronic meeting restrictions could be a state law and he will bring information 344
at the Council’s next meeting.345

346
D. Fitzpatrick states it may be difficult for the minutes taker to hear (live or video) to transcribe minutes if 347
attendance via electronic methods.348

349
Chair Sullivan states section 3.g add “The Secretary shall be seated next to the Town Council 350
Recording Clerk.”  This may help with the transcribing of the minutes.351

352
Council consensus on public input (7.b) and scheduled appointments (7.d) is to keep current rules 353
and have the Council Chair monitor times with speakers for compliance with these rules.  Some 354
Councilors recommended timers.355

356
D. Fitzpatrick provides overview of agenda submission deadline process:357

 Two Thursday’s end of business day prior to Council meeting is the deadline for submitting 358
items359

 Two Friday’s prior to meeting draft agenda sent to Council Chair and Town Administrator for 360
review361

 Two Monday’s prior to meeting Council Chair and Town Administrator approved agenda to 362
departments heads for their final review363

 Two Tuesday’s prior to meeting final edits to agenda364
 Wednesday prior to meeting add in previous meetings draft minutes and process final agenda 365

packets, post on Town website and e-mail & US Postal Mail to Councilors366
367

In Summary, motions on the following to be addressed at 8/22/18 Town Council Meeting: 368
369

1. 2.a – add “Motion to adopt the Family Services Guidelines”370
2. 2.a – update item 12 for general “Administration” and “annual” vs. specific position and dates371
3. 2.c.3.a – remove “if available taped voice vote may be used”372
4. 2.c.3.d – remove “Minutes and attachments shall be posted separately from each other.”373
5. 2.c.3.d – add “Minutes shall be posted on the Town website.”374
6. 3.c – update “The Council shall not recognize a Councilor’s electronic method(s) of participation, 375

attendance, or quorum.”376
7. 3.g – update “The Chair and Vice-Chair and Secretary shall be seated at the head of the Council table 377

in Chambers. 378
8. 3.g – add “The Secretary shall be seated next to the Town Council Recording Clerk.”379
9. 7.f.2 – update “New Business submitted by noon the Wednesday end of business two Thursdays”380
10. 7.f.3 - update “New Business submitted after noon the Wednesday end of business two Thursdays”381
11. 9.a – update “no later than noon the Wednesday end of business two Thursdays”382

383
4. Town Administrator Goals for July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019384

385

49



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

8

Chair Sullivan facilitated discussion on Town Administrator Goals for period July 1, 2018 – June 30, 386
2019.  Even if some of the goals have been met (since it is now 08/08/18), the goals should be listed.387

388
In Summary, motions on the following to be addressed at 8/22/18 Town Council Meeting: 389

390
391

Goal 1:  Old Town Hall – complete project sooner.392
393

Goal 2:  Find new Director of Public Works and Town Engineer.394
395

Goal 3:  Solve Parks & Recreation despite no full-time Director – solutions.396
397

Goal 4:  Evaluate new hires under probationary period.398
399

Goal 5:  Evaluate the current Town Fire Department needs based on data on number of fires and ambulance 400
calls.401

402
Goal 6:  Work with SNHU to determine if PILOT (payment in lieu of taxes) is appropriate.403

404
Goal 7:  Create a Community Development guidebook for developers as a checklist for compliance with 405
Hooksett requirements to promote continuity of developments in town.406

407
Goal 8:  Promote Hooksett to “go green”.  Evaluate the potential to expand for expanding alternate providers for 408
utilities in Town (i.e. alternate to Comcast).409

410
Goal 9:  Work with the Hooksett Sewer Commission on the evaluation of a warrant article for a TIF District.411

412
413

5. Other414
a. Serving on multiple Boards/Committees – conflicts of interests (J. Sullivan)415

See previous discussion at beginning of this workshop.416
417

b. Town Shuttle Bus Program Restrictions (J. Sullivan)418
419

D. Fitzpatrick provides an overview of the Town’s shuttle program.  The grant funds and shuttle 420
program are managed through the MTA   Our Town Planner has informed us that an issue with 421
one rider monopolizing the system is no longer.422

423
c. Town Council Budget Committee Rep. – create guidelines/rules (J. Sullivan)424

425
Chair Sullivan states that this item is pending the outcome of the Town Charter proposal to 426
remove the Budget Committee.427

428
M. Miville states the Budget Committee received letters from the water precinct lawyers that the 429
precincts would not be in attendance at any Budget Committee meetings; therefore the 430
committee has a by-law not to include them in their quorum numbers.  The committee quorum is 431
11 members.  I see the guidelines for the Council Budget Committee Rep. as defending the 432
Council’s budget and explaining to the committee why the numbers are there.  When he was 433
the rep. and voted twice against what the Council had voted for, he informed the Council why.434

435
d. LED lighting (D. Ross)436

437
Councilor Ross says if we are going to do LED lighting across Town we need to know the 438
correct details before we bid.  The last bid was inaccurate.  Councilor Tsantoulis is 439
knowledgeable in this area and could assist us with creating a correct bid.440

441

50



TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U

9

Councilor Tsantoulis states now that he is retired from Eversource, he is does not have a 442
conflict of interest and can assist in developing the bid.443

444
e.  Miscellaneous445

446
Councilor Duhaime requests the Community Development Department create a development 447
guide “checklist” book to promote consistency in Town for developers to comply with building 448
standards.449

450
Dr. Shankle states the standards exists, however if the Planning Board waives them this causes 451
the inconsistency.  He will look into a guide book.452

453
454

ADJOURNMENT455
J. Sullivan motioned to adjourn the meeting at 9:00pm. Seconded by R. Duhaime.456
Vote unanimously in favor (9-0).457

458
459

51



TOWN OF HOOKSETT
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE

The Hooksett Town Council will be holding a public hearing on Wednesday, August 22, 
2018 @ 6:00pm at the Hooksett Town Hall Chambers, 35 Main Street, Hooksett, NH. 
The purpose of the public hearing is to accept the donation of $19,688 ($11,000 from the 
Hooksett School District, $4,344 from  HYAA Baseball and $4,344 from HYAA 
Softball) to the Town of Hooksett for the Parks, Recreation & Cemetery Division of 
Public Works for the purchase of a Toro 3040 Sandpro (a baseball infield machine) per 
RSA 31:95-b III (a).  For documentation or questions contact the Hooksett Public Works 
Department at 603-668-8019.

52



Staff Report
Donations towards the purchase of Sandpro Infield Groomer

8/22/18
Background Discussion of Issues
The Parks and Recreation Department has an aging sandpro infield groomer that needs to be 
replaced.  The following organizations will donate the following funds to put towards the 
groomer.  The cost of the machine is $22,488

SAU (Cawley School)      will donate  $11,000.00
HYAA Softball                 will donate  $  4,344.00
HYAA Baseball                will donate  $  4,344.00

The Town will have to pay $2,800 from the Parks and Recreation Budget

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
I recommend that the Council accept the donation of $19,688 ($11,000 from the Hooksett 
School District, $4,344 from HYAA Baseball and $4,344 from HYAA Softball) to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Parks, Recreation and Cemetery Division of Public Works for the purchase of a 
Toro 3040 Sandpro (a baseball infield machine) per RSA 31:95-b III(a).

Fiscal Impact
$2,800 will come from Parks and Recreation Budget

Prepared By: Diane Boyce
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

53



TOWN OF HOOKSETT
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE

The Hooksett Town Council will be holding a public hearing on Wednesday, August 22, 
2018 @ 6:00pm at the Hooksett Town Hall Chambers, 35 Main Street, Hooksett, NH. 
The purpose of the public hearing is to accept a $25,000.00 grant from the Stanton 
Foundation, to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department at the Town 
Council meeting for the acceptance of this grant under RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and to return 
said amount to the police department K-9 trust fund. For documentation or questions 
contact the Hooksett Police Department at 603-624-1560.

54



Staff Report
Title: Acceptance of Donation / Grant Funding

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
The Stanton Foundation has awarded the Hooksett Police Department with a $25,000.00 K-9 
Grant.  The grant is provided to enable the Town to establish a K-9 Unit and is intended to cover 
the costs associated with such a program.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Public hearing to accept a $25,000.00 grant from the Stanton Foundation, to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department at the Town Council meeting for the 
acceptance of this grant under RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and to return said amount to the police 
department K-9 trust fund.

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Captain Jake Robie
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

55



56



TOWN OF HOOKSETT
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE

The Hooksett Town Council will be holding a public hearing on Wednesday, August 22, 
2018 @ 6:00pm at the Hooksett Town Hall Chambers, 35 Main Street, Hooksett, NH. 
The purpose of the public hearing is to accept $10,596.43 donations ($5,000 Southern 
New Hampshire University and $5,596.43 citizens, business owners and the Hooksett 
Police Association) to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department at the 
Town Council meeting for the acceptance of these donations under RSA 31:95-b, III (a) 
and to return said amount to the police department K-9 trust fund. For documentation or 
questions contact the Hooksett Police Department at 603-624-1560.

57



Staff Report
Title: K9 Program Donation 

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Southern New Hampshire University has donated $5000.00 to the Hooksett Police Department.  
The money donated is to be used to help fund the K9 Program.  

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
On April 25, 2018, the Town Council approved accepting donations to fund the K9 Program.

Motion to accept the donation of $5,000.00 from Southern New Hampshire University, to the 
Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (a) and return that 
amount to the Police Departments budget, K9 trust Fund.

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Captain Jake Robie
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

58



Staff Report
Title: K9 Program Donation 

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Citizens, business owners, and the Hooksett Police Association have donated a combined total 
of $5,596.43 to the Hooksett Police Department.  The money donated is to be used to help fund 
the K9 Program.  Attached is a list of the citizens and business owners who have donated.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
On April 25, 2018, the Town Council approved accepting donations to fund the K9 Program.

Motion to accept the donation of $5,596.43 from citizens, business owners, and the Hooksett 
Police Association to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-
b, III (a) and return that amount to the Police Departments, K9 trust Fund.

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Captain Jake Robie
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

59



Donations to be accepted at the 8/22/18 meeting

Sharon Smith Hooksett, NH   50.00

Madison & Travis Harressy Hooksett, NH   15.00

Hooksett Kiwanis Foundation Hooksett, NH 500.00

Donations at Concessions for NNO Hooksett, NH 178.00

Donations from the 

Hooksett Police Association

T-Shirt Sales on-line and GoFund Me Hooksett, NH 4,192.43

Grill Raffle and T-shirt sales at NNO Hooksett, NH    661.00

TOTAL              $ 5,596.43

60



Staff Report
Title: Donations

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Cup Cake Fairy USA, Poultry Products Northeast, Freirhofer’s Bakery Outlet, Walmart,
Hannaford Supermarket, Shaw’s and Target of Hooksett, NH donated food, drinks and paper 
products to the Hooksett Police Department for our 2nd annual National Night Out event.  The 
event was held on August 7, 2018.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to accept the donation of the food, drinks and paper products with a combined 
estimated value of less than $2,000.00 from Cup Cake Fairy USA, Poultry Products Northeast, 
Freirhofer’s Bakery Outlet, Walmart, Hannaford Supermarket, Shaw’s and Target, of 
Hooksett, NH, to the Town of Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-
e:II

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Captain Jake Robie
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

61



Staff Report

Title:  Donation from Catholic Medical Center
Date:   8/22/2018

Background and Discussion of Issues
The Hooksett Fire Rescue Department recently received a donation of twelve (12) ‘Stop the Bleed’ kits to be distributed around 
the town of Hooksett. The intention of these kits to provide bystanders with life-saving medical equipment in the event of an 
active shooter event. These kits will be placed at various town buildings including the schools, the library, town offices and the 
transfer station. 

Recommendation (including suggested motion, if appropriate)
Accept the donation of twelve (12) ‘Stop the Bleed’ kits from Catholic Medical Center to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Hooksett Fire Rescue Department – EMS, valued at $660.00 under RSA 31:95-e II.

Fiscal Impact
None

Report prepared by:   Captain Joseph P Stalker

Town Administrator’s Recommendation 
Click here to enter text.

62



Staff Report
Title: Back to School Supplies Donations

Date: 8/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Annually, the Family Services Department coordinates a Back to School Supply Program where 
local businesses and residents donate school supplies for Hooksett children in need. The 
acceptance of donations will not be for a specific amount, as we will continue to receive 
donations leading up to the event. A list of the supplies and residents/businesses who donated 
can be provided upon request. 

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to accept these school supply donations, not to exceed the value of over $5,000, from 
local residents and businesses, to the Town of Hooksett for the Family Services Department 
Back to School Supply Program, per RSA 31:95-e, II.

Fiscal Impact
N/A

Prepared By: Abby Reeves, Family Services Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

63



64



65



Administration/Nominations & Appointments/Boards & Committees Open July 2018, Updated as of 7/12/2018

Conservation Commission
Alternate, Term Expiring 6/30/2021

Heritage Commission
Full Member, Term Expiring 6/30/2021
Full Member, Term Expiring 6/30/2020
Alternate, Term Expiring 6/30/2021
Alternate, Term Expiring 6/30/2021

Planning Board
Full Member, Term Expiring 6/30/2021

Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee
Alternate, Term Expiring 6/30/2021

Southern New Hampshire Planning Committee
Hooksett’s Representative, term expiring 6/30/2022

Zoning Board of Adjustment 
Alternate, Term Expiring 6/30/2019

Town Hall Preservation Committee
Full Member, Term Expiring 6/30/2021
Full Member, Term Expiring 6/30/2021
Full Member, Term Expiring 6/30/2021

These are unpaid volunteer positions. If interested in being nominated for an appointed position, please fill out the volunteer 
application form and send it to:

Town of Hooksett, Administration Department, 35 Main Street, Hooksett, NH 03106

Town of Hooksett
Available Appointed Positions

66



Toutn of Hooksett

APPLICATION FOR APPOINTED TOWN BOARD POSIT¡ON

Datesubmitted: b /20 / tz
Name: Phone 6o3- 3/o -q/7s-
Address ¿L

EmailAddress: S L0/t'1

Signature

Return completed form to: Town of Hooksett, 35 Main Street, Hooksett NH 03106,

Attn: Administration Department or email to NGermain@hooksett.orq
*************************tr********************tt***************t(**

I am willing to serue on the following Town Boards/Committees/Commissions. I understand if
appointed, I am required to attend the regular meetings.

BOARDS. COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES
Role Preference

Alternate, Regular, or None?

Conservation Commission

Economic Development Advisory Committee

Heritage Commission

Parks & Recreation Advisory Board

Planning Board

Recycling & Transfer Advisory Committee

Town Hall Preservation Committee

-V(Zoning Board of Adjustment

_ Other (Please specify.)

67



68



Town of Hooksett

Date Submitted:

- AÞp l i cATr o N- Fo n np po r r.r te D'-ÎõwñBoÁn o Þo5r no m = -'

3-l'/-to/7
tó C6LL

Cz'lcz.Name: Clp/S SíE¿nÊ C H Phone 6

Address: 2A Ral Ra iL,o ks'E1l , ,r1/r{ ¿t3toÇ

EmailAddress

Signature

*************************************************

Pae Cà¡1r'Aa

Return completed form to: Town of Hooksett, 35 Main Street, Hooksett NH 03106,

Attn: Administration Department or email to NGermain@hooksett.orq
****rk***********************************************************t(***********************************

I am willing to serve on the following Town Boards/Committees/Commissions. I understand if
appointed, I am required to attend the regular meetings.

BOARDS. COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES

_ Conservation Commission

_ Economic Development Study Committee

- 
Heritage Commission

_ Parks & Recreation Advisory Board

I
d Planning Board

_ Recycling & Transfer Advisory Committee

Town Hall Preservation Committee

_ Zoning Board of Adjustment

_ Other (Please specify.)

69



2

How long have you been a resident of Hooksett?

q7 tënl?S

Why are you seeking this position? 'fi{=.L4r fi,,'t t t'zTlÌes /é4 - 7-År -

PLn^n/n/ê ßetlC Tc> ¡t?eTuf?uÚ d'frr>-té{'T
7716 ONpp4.r¿l¿ af /æ/rSt=l-

Do you have any specific goals or objectives?

-/a câ41ttuLt Ta /?ew¿:t¿ PeÑ'écT;/ L4/b Ls{
A¡tO !áéàn optt c-. tsu?¿(ptu¿rnf t tz laa,ßtt T-

Please list special skills, talents or experience pertinent to the position sought:

St,rÉ PL¿*tnê(,ans?ur'va 
^ 

Ø9¿ /( /Qn"r79

EX c4 t/4-/tar\
Please list any potential conflicts of interest you may have if appointed for a board or commission

þdr{

Please list any work, volunteer, and/or educational experience you would like to have considered:

PÊtan S¿s/à)tû b or1 pL4nntlt b Ba,fC d.

llavtcsrrff e¿/ê Saovî WLunt€éft

Please list any currenlprior Town board membership and the dates of service:

On curzl?é,nr /nnntnþ &a,{àO rde "Hæxs5ry
6'3o*fu¡7
Uryp,4tzSALrsr¿ll4É paeTrt 3-A-/é To

70



Hooksett,

FR.AUD POLICY

Recognition & Awareness Form

Aoftnowledgement:

lrrfy signattre úgniûes fhat I have read the Towu of Hooksettos Fraud Policy aod tb¿t I
*¿oltr"¿ my 

-responsibilities 
related to the prevention, detection and reporting of

suspected misconduct and clishonesty.

Signatrrre:

hÍntName: -s -þßo{

Date Sþed: *-/3-}otz
Deparheirt Head Signafire:

Page 5 71



Nominations 

Sasha DeJong, Zoning Board of Adjustment, Alternate

Christopher Stelmach, Planning Board, Full-Member

Appointments

None at this time

72



Staff Report
Title:  Town Council Reassignments

Date: 8/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Every new fiscal year, Council votes to determine which members will serve as the council representative for various 
boards and committees throughout the town. Below is the list as of July: 

Board of Assessors – Ross, Walczyk, Giotas Alt. Durand
Budget – Undecided
Conservation Commission – Ross Alternate Duhaime 
Economic Development Advisory Committee – Undecided
Heritage – Sullivan, Giotas
THPC – Sullivan, Giotas 
Hooksett Youth Achiever - Winterton, Walczyk, Tsantoulis 
Parks and Recreations Advisory Committee – Duhaime, Alternate
Transfer & Recycling – Levesque Alternate Giotas 
Planning Board – Winterton  Alternate Duhaime 
Sewer – Winterton, Alternate Tsantoulis
ZBA – Levesque 
Union Negotiations  - Winterton / Duhaime 
Perambulation  - Duhaime 
Cable TV Franchise - None 
Record Retention Committee – Ross 
SNHU Relations Sub-Committee – Walczyk, Winterton, Alt. Durand
TIF – Winterton

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Determine the final council member assignments for town boards and committees.

Fiscal Impact

Prepared By: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

73



Staff Report
Title: NHMA Policies 2019-2020

Legislative Policy Process
Date: 7/11/2018

Background Discussion of Issues
Annually, the New Hampshire Municipal Association (NHMA) requests members to review and vote on legislative
policies:

Floor Policies (07/11/18 Town Council Meeting):  Our Town, approved by a majority vote of the governing 
body, may propose a policy to include: 1) to see if the NHMA will support/oppose, 2) the municipal interest to be 
accomplished by the proposal and 3) an explanation on the proposal.  These floor policies are due to the NHMA by 
08/10/18.  See attached Floor Policy Proposal form.

Voting on NHMA Policies (08/22/18 Town Council Meeting):  The Town Council will vote on the attached 
“Final Policy Recommendations for Legislative Policy Conference” and provide direction to a Council delegate 
who will attend the Friday, September 14, 2018 9:00am conference and cast our municipality’s vote.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
07/11/18   1) receive NHMA policy packet and begin reviewing, and 2) create any floor policies from the Town of 
Hooksett, if applicable.

08/22/18   1) Vote on all NHMA policies in packet, 2) identify who will be the Council delegate to the 09/14/18 
NHMA conference, and 3) provide Council delegate direction on voting at the conference.

Fiscal Impact
To be determined based on final outcome of 09/14/18 NHMA conference.

Prepared By: Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



Staff Report
Northway Bank

8/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues

Currently the Town has relationships with Citizens Bank, TD Bank, People’s United Bank, NH 
Investment Pool, Merrimack County Savings Bank; Optima Bank and Trust and Century Bank.

The Treasurer would like to open a new relationship with Northway to be able to invest excess 
funds.  Northway is chartered bank and will issue the Town a letter of credit for collateral.

The following are current interest rates for each bank:

Citizens Bank 1.60%
TD Bank 2.10%
People’s United Bank 2.00%
Century                                              2.10%

            Optima Bank and Trust 1.98%
            Merrimack County Savings Bank      1.60%
            Northway                                           2.25%

The Town’s investment policy states that no more than 80% of Town funds can be invested 
with any one financial institution.  The Treasurer plans to invest the excess fund from the June’s 
tax bills at Northway.

Motion to authorize the Town Treasurer to establish a banking relationship with Northway for 
the Town of Hooksett and authorize the Council Chair to sign the resolution if necessary.

Fiscal Impact

Prepared By: Christine Soucie, Finance Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

90



Staff Report
Title: Stormwater Asset Management

Date: 8/22/18
Background Discussion of Issues
The Town received bids to provide engineering services related to stormwater asset 
management and compliance with the National Pollutant Discharge and Elimination System 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System.  The Town of Hooksett was awarded $30,000 NH 
DES (forgivable) loan to support the development of this program.  The following bidders 
submitted their qualifications.:
Hoyle, Tanner and Associates
Comprehensive Environmental Inc.
Wright-Pierce
Weston and Sampson

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
All 4 companies are highly qualified for developing this program.  They all have the same goals 
to comply with water quality regulatory requirements and will assist the Town with GIS 
mapping assistance, developing workflows to capture information needed for MS4 compliance 
and reporting and training employees. They will help create an inventory for future capital 
improvement projects.
I am recommending Hoyle, Tanner and Associates.  They have been helpful as they are 
presently working with the Hooksett Sewer in preparing these documents, and their bid 
package was specific to Hooksett.  
I Recommend the Town Council accept the qualifications from Hoyle,Tanner & Associates for 
the Stormwater Asset Management Program.
Fiscal Impact
The Program is funded by the NHDES State Revolving loan ($30,000)

Prepared By: Diane Boyce, Director DPW
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

91



Staff Report
MS - 535 Financial Report

8/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues

The Town is required to complete the State’s Form MS-535 Financial Report of the Town
Budget prior to setting the Tax Rate.  This report is prepared following the NH Department of 
Revenue Administration Rev 1700 Rules, Financial Accounting for Cities and Towns.

The Finance Director using the unaudited trial balance for the period ending June 30, 2018 
completed this form and believes it to be in accordance with the NH Department of Revenue 
Administration Rev 1700 Rules.

See attached reconciliation of the MS-535 to the June 30, 2018 Budget Summary.

Motion to authorize the Town Council to sign the 2018 MS-535 Financial Report of the Budget
for period ending June 30, 2018 as presented.

Fiscal Impact

Prepared By: Christine Soucie, Finance Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

92



93



94



95



96



GOVERNING BODY CERTIFICATION
Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined the information contained in this form and to the best 
of my belief it is true, correct and complete.

Name Position Signature

Hooksett
For the period ending June 30, 2018

This form must be signed, scanned, and uploaded to the Municipal Tax Rate Setting Portal:
https://www.proptax.org/

For assistance please contact:
NH DRA Municipal and Property Division

(603) 230-5090
http://www.revenue.nh.gov/mun-prop/

Page 1 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Financial Report of the Budget

97

https://www.proptax.org/
http://www.revenue.nh.gov/mun-prop/


Account Purpose Voted Appropriatons Actual Expenditures

General Government

4130-4139 Executive $610,661 $375,590

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($224,754)

4140-4149 Election, Registration, and Vital Statistics $29,167 $28,776

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($40)

4150-4151 Financial Administration $629,183 $602,029

Explanation: Budget Transfer $49,203

4152 Revaluation of Property $173,623 $157,500

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($2,277)

4153 Legal Expense $90,000 $96,413

Explanation: Budget Transfer $20,000

4155-4159 Personnel Administration $201,808 $158,153

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($9,073)

4191-4193 Planning and Zoning $504,151 $280,174

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($35,002)

4194 General Government Buildings $495,446 $532,084

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($2,009)

4195 Cemeteries $2,841 $870

4196 Insurance $265,000 $219,925

4197 Advertising and Regional Association $14,000 $13,837

4199 Other General Government $1 $378

General Government Subtotal $3,015,881 $2,465,729

Public Safety

4210-4214 Police $4,638,745 $4,114,563

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($119,737) Grants $43,694

4215-4219 Ambulance $0 $0

4220-4229 Fire $4,047,035 $4,137,150

Explanation: Budget Transfer $129,748 Grants $47,549

4240-4249 Building Inspection $100,150 $89,906

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($8,882)

4290-4298 Emergency Management $8,050 $27,094

Explanation: Grant $26,018

4299 Other (Including Communications) $0 $0

Public Safety Subtotal $8,793,980 $8,368,713

Airport/Aviation Center

4301-4309 Airport Operations $0 $0

Airport/Aviation Center Subtotal $0 $0

Page 2 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Expenditures

98



Account Purpose Voted Appropriatons Actual Expenditures

Highways and Streets

4311 Administration $221,187 $196,670

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($4,866)

4312 Highways and Streets $1,758,730 $1,508,161

Explanation: Budget Transfer $183,191

4313 Bridges $1 $3,879,708

Explanation: Emergency Expenditure Approved 6/22/17

4316 Street Lighting $62,000 $61,221

4319 Other $195,582 $218,889

Explanation: Budget Transfer $24,641

Highways and Streets Subtotal $2,237,500 $5,864,649

Sanitation

4321 Administration $147,913 $145,729

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($564)

4323 Solid Waste Collection $305,605 $321,516

Explanation: Budget Transfer $28,698

4324 Solid Waste Disposal $654,522 $617,684

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($7,115)

4325 Solid Waste Cleanup $0 $0

4326-4329 Sewage Collection, Disposal and Other $0 $0

Sanitation Subtotal $1,108,040 $1,084,929

Water Distribution and Treatment

4331 Administration $0 $0

4332 Water Services $0 $0

4335-4339 Water Treatment, Conservation and Other $0 $0

Water Distribution and Treatment Subtotal $0 $0

Electric

4351-4352 Administration and Generation $0 $0

4353 Purchase Costs $0 $0

4354 Electric Equipment Maintenance $0 $0

4359 Other Electric Costs $0 $0

Electric Subtotal $0 $0

Health

4411 Administration $2,000 $0

4414 Pest Control $0 $0

4415-4419 Health Agencies, Hospitals, and Other $0 $0

Health Subtotal $2,000 $0

Page 3 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Expenditures

99



Account Purpose Voted Appropriatons Actual Expenditures

Welfare

4441-4442 Administration and Direct Assistance $148,548 $93,111

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($455)

4444 Intergovernmental Welfare Payments $46,403 $27,355

4445-4449 Vendor Payments and Other $0 $0

Welfare Subtotal $194,951 $120,466

Culture and Recreation

4520-4529 Parks and Recreation $564,878 $513,579

Explanation: Budget Transfer ($20,907)

4550-4559 Library $779,452 $779,452

4583 Patriotic Purposes $2,945 $2,945

4589 Other Culture and Recreation $13,250 $13,250

Culture and Recreation Subtotal $1,360,525 $1,309,226

Conservation and Development

4611-4612 Administration and Purchasing of Natural Resources $1,277 $1,277

4619 Other Conservation $0 $0

4631-4632 Redevelopment and Housing $0 $0

4651-4659 Economic Development $500 $656

Explanation: Budget Transfer $200

Conservation and Development Subtotal $1,777 $1,933

Debt Service

4711 Long Term Bonds and Notes - Principal $0 $0

4721 Long Term Bonds and Notes - Interest $0 $0

4723 Tax Anticipation Notes - Interest $1 $0

4790-4799 Other Debt Service $0 $0

Debt Service Subtotal $1 $0

Capital Outlay

4901 Land $1 $0

4902 Machinery, Vehicles, and Equipment $0 $0

4903 Buildings $0 $0

4909 Improvements Other than Buildings $0 $0

Capital Outlay Subtotal $1 $0

Page 4 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Expenditures

100



Account Purpose Voted Appropriatons Actual Expenditures

Operating Transfers Out

4912 To Special Revenue Fund $15,578 $0

4913 To Capital Projects Fund $0 $0

4914A To Proprietary Fund - Airport $0 $0

4914E To Proprietary Fund - Electric $0 $0

4914O To Proprietary Fund - Other $0 $0

4914S To Proprietary Fund - Sewer $2,093,341 $2,093,341

4914W To Proprietary Fund - Water $0 $0

4915 To Capital Reserve Fund $540,000 $540,000

4916 To Expendable Trusts/Fiduciary Funds $0 $0

4917 To Health Maintenance Trust Funds $0 $0

4918 To Non-Expendable Trust Funds $0 $0

4919 To Fiduciary Funds $0 $0

Operating Transfers Out Subtotal $2,648,919 $2,633,341

Payments to Other Governments

4931 Taxes Assessed for County $0 $5,535,834

4932 Taxes Assessed for Village District $0 $0

4933 Taxes Assessed for Local Education $0 $22,354,979

4934 Taxes Assessed for State Education $0 $4,149,940

4939 Payments to Other Governments $0 $0

Payments to Other Governments Subtotal $32,040,753

Total Before Payments to Other Governments $19,363,575 $21,848,986

Plus Payments to Other Governments $32,040,753

Plus Commitments to Other Governments from Tax Rate $32,040,753

Less Proprietary/Special Funds $2,093,341 $2,093,341

Total General Fund Expenditures $49,310,987 $51,796,398

Page 5 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Expenditures

101



Account Source of Revenues Estimated Revenues Actual Revenues

Taxes

3110 Property Taxes $0 $42,803,237

3120 Land Use Change Tax - General Fund $0 $0

3121 Land Use Change Taxes (Conservation) $0 $0

3180 Resident Tax $0 $0

3185 Yield Tax $10,000 $18,020

3186 Payment in Lieu of Taxes $0 $0

3187 Excavation Tax $7,500 $9,101

3189 Other Taxes $0 $0

3190 Interest and Penalties on Delinquent Taxes $300,000 $171,195

9991 Inventory Penalties $0 $0

Taxes Subtotal $317,500 $43,001,553

Licenses, Permits, and Fees

3210 Business Licenses and Permits $1 $500

3220 Motor Vehicle Permit Fees $3,442,000 $3,524,722

3230 Building Permits $100,000 $128,062

3290 Other Licenses, Permits, and Fees $18,500 $25,917

3311-3319 From Federal Government $0 $72,812

Explanation: Grants - $80,481

Licenses, Permits, and Fees Subtotal $3,560,501 $3,752,013

State Sources

3351 Shared Revenues $0 $0

3352 Meals and Rooms Tax Distribution $745,580 $745,579

3353 Highway Block Grant $307,603 $307,428

3354 Water Pollution Grant $0 $0

3355 Housing and Community Development $0 $0

3356 State and Federal Forest Land Reimbursement $578 $567

3357 Flood Control Reimbursement $0 $0

3359 Other (Including Railroad Tax) $593 $736,894

Explanation: Grants -$30,697 Bridge $700,000

3379 From Other Governments $0 $0

State Sources Subtotal $1,054,354 $1,790,468

Charges for Services

3401-3406 Income from Departments $115,644 $91,415

3409 Other Charges $0 $0

Charges for Services Subtotal $115,644 $91,415

Page 6 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Revenues

102



Account Source of Revenues Estimated Revenues Actual Revenues

Miscellaneous Revenues

3501 Sale of Municipal Property $1,500 $117,070

3502 Interest on Investments $50,000 $148,706

3503-3509 Other $309,253 $906,513

Explanation: Grants $19,000 Bridge $593,030

Miscellaneous Revenues Subtotal $360,753 $1,172,289

Interfund Operating Transfers In

3912 From Special Revenue Funds $15,578 $0

3913 From Capital Projects Funds $0 $0

3914A From Enterprise Funds: Airport (Offset) $0 $0

3914E From Enterprise Funds: Electric (Offset) $0 $0

3914O From Enterprise Funds: Other (Offset) $0 $0

3914S From Enterprise Funds: Sewer (Offset) $2,093,341 $2,546,278

Explanation: Bridge $500,000

3914W From Enterprise Funds: Water (Offset) $0 $0

3915 From Capital Reserve Funds $0 $63,985

3916 From Trust and Fiduciary Funds $5,000 $3,957

3917 From Conservation Funds $0 $0

Interfund Operating Transfers In Subtotal $2,113,919 $2,614,220

Other Financing Sources

3934 Proceeds from Long Term Bonds and Notes $0 $0

Other Financing Sources Subtotal $0 $0

Less Proprietary/Special Funds $2,093,341 $2,093,341

Plus Property Tax Commitment from Tax Rate $43,067,701

Total General Fund Revenues $48,497,031 $50,328,617

Page 7 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Revenues

103



Account Description Starting Balance Ending Balance

Current Assets

1010 Cash and Equivalents $15,423,381 $12,884,442

1030 Investments $6,929,345 $10,975,635

1080 Tax Receivable $4,337,812 $2,630,169

1110 Tax Liens Receivable $1,693,177 $1,819,972

1150 Accounts Receivable $50,140 $49,149

1260 Due from Other Governments $8,634 $445,451

1310 Due from Other Funds $364,220 $586,402

1400 Other Current Assets $35,787 $53,406

1670 Tax Deeded Property (Subject to 
Resale $633,220 $607,012

Current Assets Subtotal $29,475,716 $30,051,638

Current Liabilities

2020 Warrants and Accounts Payable $838,186 $669,631

2030 Compensated Absences Payable $465,583 $421,623

2050 Contracts Payable $0 $50

2070 Due to Other Governments $2,100 $1,005

2075 Due to School Districts $0 $0

2080 Due to Other Funds $0 $0

2220 Deferred Revenue $21,678,120 $23,357,851

2230 Notes Payable - Current $0 $0

2270 Other Payable $105,190 $682,723

Current Liabilities Subtotal $23,089,179 $25,132,883

Fund Equity

2440 Non-spendable Fund Balance $669,015 $660,650

2450 Restricted Fund Balance $0 $0

2460 Committed Fund Balance $0 $0

2490 Assigned Fund Balance $2,052,772 $890,469

2530 Unassigned Fund Balance $3,664,749 $3,367,636

Fund Equity Subtotal $6,386,536 $4,918,755

Page 8 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Balance Sheet

104



Source County Village Local Education State Education Other Property Tax

MS-535 $5,535,834 $0 $22,354,979 $4,149,940 $0 $42,803,237

Commitment $5,535,834 $0 $22,354,979 $4,149,940 $43,067,701

Difference $0 $0 $0 $0 ($264,464)

General Fund Balance Sheet Reconciliation
Total Revenues $50,328,617

Total Expenditures $51,796,398

Change ($1,467,781)

Ending Fund Equity $4,918,755

Beginning Fund Equity $6,386,536

Change ($1,467,781)

Page 9 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Tax Commitment

105



Description (Purpose)
Original 

Obligation
Annual 

Installment Rate
Final 

Payment Start of Year Issued Retired End of Year

SRF Loan (Upgrade Wasterwater Plant)

$3,500,000 $0 2.728 2030 $2,602,815 $0 $154,339 $2,448,476

SRF Loan (ARRA) (Upgrade Wastewater Plant)

$6,212,940 $0 1.104 2013 $2,174,529 $0 $155,323 $2,019,206

$9,712,940 $4,777,344 $0 $309,662 $4,467,682

Page 10 of 10110700 Hooksett 2018 MS-535  8/14/2018 8:18:44 AM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2018
MS-535

Long Term Debt

106



Staff Report
Budget Transfer 2018-19

8/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues

Transfer funds from Town Administration Full-time Employees line to the departments for the 
discretionary wage adjustment pool approved by the voters.  There was seven positions that 
received adjustments:  Police Sergeant, Bookkeeper, Technical Services Assistant at the 
Library, Administrative Services Coordinator, Finance Director, one laborer and Code 
Enforcement Officer.  The remaining funds were distributed to non-union full-time and part-time 
employees, which provided an increase of 20 cents per hour.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)

Motion to have the Chairman sign Budget Transfer #2019-01 in the amount of $43,289.00 to 
allocate the discretionary wage adjustment pool for non-union employees as approved in 
article #9 in March 2018.  

Fiscal Impact
The budget transfers has no fiscal impact.

Prepared By: Christine Soucie, Finance Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

107



108



109



11
0



11
1



11
2



11
3



11
4



11
5



11
6



11
7



11
8



11
9



12
0



12
1



12
2



Staff Report
Title: Family Services General Assistance Guidelines

Date: 8/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
The recommendation of the Town Auditor is to have the Hooksett Town Council review the 
Town of Hooksett General Assistance Guidelines, and to adopt the Welfare Guidelines 
Allowances (Appendix J) annually. The Hooksett Family Services Director is updating the 
Hooksett General Assistance Guidelines, which includes the Welfare Guidelines Allowances, 
and they are ready for review by the Town Attorney.  

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to accept the Town of Hooksett General Assistance Guidelines. 

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Abby Reeves, Family Services Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

123



12
4



12
5



12
6



12
7



12
8



12
9



13
0



13
1



13
2



13
3



13
4



13
5



13
6



13
7



13
8



13
9



14
0



14
1



14
2



14
3



14
4



14
5



14
6



14
7



14
8



14
9



15
0



15
1



15
2



15
3



15
4



15
5



15
6



15
7



15
8



15
9



16
0



16
1



16
2



16
3



16
4



16
5



16
6



16
7



16
8



16
9



17
0



17
1



17
2



17
3



17
4



17
5



17
6



17
7



17
8



17
9



18
0



18
1



18
2



18
3



18
4



18
5



18
6



18
7



18
8



18
9



19
0



19
1



19
2



19
3



19
4



19
5



19
6



19
7



19
8



19
9



20
0



20
1



20
2



20
3



20
4



20
5



20
6



20
7



20
8



20
9



21
0



21
1



21
2



21
3



21
4



21
5



21
6



21
7



21
8



21
9



22
0



22
1



22
2



Staff Report
Title: Town Charter UPDATES

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
The Town Council, at their annual workshop of 08/08/18, discussed amendments to the Town Charter to include 
Articles:

Councilor Districts/At-Large
1. 3.1 – remove Councilor districts/at-large
2. 3.2 – remove Councilor districts/at-large
3. 3.3 - remove Councilor districts/at-large

Note:  1,2,3 above, if recommended by Council, remove any other language in Town Charter associated 
with Councilor districts/at-large.

Councilor At-Large
4. 3.2 – only remove paragraph 3 "No two councilors elected at large or appointed to fill a position at large 

shall be residents of the same district”.   
Note:  Recommending only #4 above would keep districts, but remove restricts from at-large seats.

Roll Call Votes
5. 3.5.d – remove “All votes shall be recorded by roll call except votes on procedural matters.”

Budget Committee
6. 5 & 11 – remove Budget Committee

Note:  If #5 above recommended, remove any other language in Town Charter associated with Budget 
Committee.

Moderator
7. 7.1.C – add “  . . . unless otherwise required or allowed by law or this Charter.”
8. 7.1.F – add new section “F” “Any person elected as Moderator shall not simultaneously be on any other 

judicial or administrative board.”

Elected Officials First Day in Office
9. 10.2.B – update “ . . . all elected officials in the Town shall take or continue in office on the first day of 

May July next following their election . . .”

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to recommend amendments to the Town Charter for Article(s) #x,x,x above for the 
March 2019 ballot.

Fiscal Impact
To be determined.

Prepared By: Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

223



22
4



22
5



22
6



22
7



22
8



22
9



23
0



23
1



23
2



23
3



23
4



23
5



23
6



23
7



23
8



23
9



24
0



24
1



24
2



24
3



24
4



24
5



24
6



24
7



24
8



24
9



25
0



25
1



25
2



25
3



25
4



25
5



25
6



25
7



25
8



25
9



26
0



26
1



26
2



26
3



26
4



Staff Report
Title: Administrative Code UPDATES

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
The Town Council, at their annual workshop of 08/08/18, discussed amendments to the Administrative Code to 
include sections:

1. 2 – Departmental Organization – add “Community Development” “Economic and Community 
Development Director”

2. 3 – Departmental Functions (renumber appropriately)
a. Add “Community Development Department”
b. Remove “Community Development” from Public Works Department

3. 3.4 - Family Services – add “and Guidelines adopted by the Town Council”
4. 5.3.3 – Special Exceptions – add GSA Purchases (Town Council approved 01/10/18)
5. 5.8 – update “Stipends paid . . . shall be made bi-annually quarterly in the second pay date of December 

and June. . . “
6. Add New Section 5.9 - Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-Exempt Ob 

ligations (Town Council Approved 5/9/18)

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to approve the amendments to the Administrative Code as presented.

OR

Motion to approve amendments to the Administrative Code for item(s) # x,x,x above.

Fiscal Impact
Item #4 GSA purchases are federal rates for municipal purchases.
Item #5 quarterly stipends will increase staff processing time.

Prepared By: Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

265



T O W N   O F   H O O K S E T T

ADMINISTRATIVE CODE

Adopted:  January 29, 1992

Amended
August 9, 2017 August 22, 2018

266



2

ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
(Adopted January 29, 1992)

Table of Contents

Sec. 1  Purpose . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Sec. 2  Departmental Organization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Sec. 3  Departmental Functions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5-7

Sec. 4  Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials . . . . 8-10

Sec. 5  Administrative Financial Policies and Procedures . . . . . . . . .11-15

Sec. 6  Administrative Operational Policies and Procedures . . . . . . .16

Amendments details . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .17-19

Exhibit A – Record Retention Policy . . . . . . . . . . 20-25

Exhibit B – Investment Policy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .26-31

Exhibit C – Fund Balance Policy . . . . . . . . . . . . . .32-34

Exhibit D – Cellular Phones in the Workplace . . .35-38

Exhibit E - Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and 
Procedures for Tax-Exempt Obligations . . . . . . 39-  

267



3

1. PURPOSE.

This Administrative Code is hereby established for the Town of 
Hooksett for the purpose of dividing the administrative service of the 
Town into departments, divisions and bureaus, and for the purpose of 
defining the functions and duties of each such department, division and 
bureau. 

1.1 Severability.

The sections of this Administrative Code and the parts hereof are 
separable.  If any portion or section of the Code of the application 
thereof to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid by a court 
of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Code shall not be 
affected thereby.  If a clause, portion of or section of this Code is so 
held invalid, then the applicable provisions of State law, if any, shall 
govern. 

1.2 Review.

This document will be reviewed at the beginning of each fiscal year by 
all included Town organizations.  Recommended changes will be 
submitted to the Town Administrator within 30 days. 

268



4

2. DEPARTMENTAL ORGANIZATION.

Department Official Head
Administration  Town Administrator
Assessing Town Administrator or Assessor
Community Development Economic and Community 

Development Director
Family Services Family Services Director
Finance Finance Director
Fire-Rescue Fire Chief
Public Works Public Works Director
Library Library Director
Police Chief of Police 
Tax Collector Tax Collector 
Wastewater Superintendent

269



5

3. DEPARTMENTAL FUNCTIONS.

3.1 Administration Department:
The Town Administrator shall supervise and be responsible for the administrative and 
financial affairs of the Town and shall carry out the policies enacted by the Council.  
His/her office shall be charged with the preservation of the health, safety and welfare of 
persons and property and shall see to the enforcement of the ordinances of the Town, 
the Town Charter and the laws of the State of NH.  The Town Administrator shall 
supervise and direct the administration of all Town departments included under Section 
3 of this ordinance and the personnel therein.

The Administration Department shall consist of the Town Administrator and other 
support staff as required; recommended by the Town Administrator and approved by the 
Council.  

3.2 Assessing Department:
The Assessing Department is responsible for establishing and maintaining the value of 
all real property in the Town of Hooksett, for the purpose of taxation.  The department is 
responsible for working with the Town Council, Board of Assessors and Department of 
Revenue Administration.  This department shall prepare all tax warrants and bills, and 
provide assessing information to the general public.

The Department shall be under the supervision of the Town Administrator, if the 
Assessor position is contracted.  If the Assessor position is filled by a hired employee, 
the department shall be under the supervision of the Assessor and shall consist of other 
support staff as required.  

3.3 Community Development Department:

The Community Development Department shall be responsible for planning, 
engineering, and code enforcement.  Planning and engineering shall be responsible for 
all business relating to land use and will be instrumental in the development and 
implementation of a comprehensive plan for the orderly growth and development of the 
Town. Code Enforcement shall be responsible for addressing the enforcement of all 
building codes, ordinances, regulations and laws, where such enforcement is not 
specifically granted to other parties.  Code Enforcement shall also be responsible for the 
review of applications and plans for all construction projects in the Town and subsequent 
inspections in accordance with all local and State rules and regulations.

The Community Development Department shall be under the supervision of the 
Economic and Community Development Director and shall consist of other support staff 
as required.  

3.4 Family Services Department:
The Family Services Department administers General Assistance to families in need 
under RSA 165 and guidelines adopted by the Town Council.  It shall assess, investigate 
and authorize requests for assistance and refer applicants to other social services as 
needed.

270



6

Family Services shall be under the direction of the Family Services Director and shall 
consist of support staff as required.

3.5 Finance Department:   
The Finance Department’s major areas of responsibility include budget management, 
accounts payable, cash management and financial reporting.  

The Department shall be under the supervision of the Finance Director and shall consist 
of other support staff as required.

3.6 Fire-Rescue Department:
The Fire-Rescue Department shall protect the lives and property of the inhabitants of the 
Town of Hooksett from the adverse effects of fire, sudden medical emergencies or 
exposure to dangerous conditions created by either man or nature.

The Fire-Rescue Department shall implement fire suppression, emergency response, 
rescue, prevention, inspection, haz-mat, Emergency Management, and investigation 
throughout the Town of Hooksett and as needed through Mutual Aid.

The Department shall be under the supervision of the Fire Chief with additional support 
staff as required.

3.7 Public Works Department:  
The Public Works Department shall be responsible for the Divisions of Highway, 
Recycling & Transfer, and Parks, Recreation, & Cemetaries, and Community 
Development and shall provide support services to other Town departments as 
necessary.

The Highway Division shall be responsible for road maintenance, fleet maintenance, 
building maintenance and support services to other town departments as necessary.  

The Recycling & Transfer Division shall be responsible for solid waste collection, 
recycling and transportation to solid waste disposal sites.  The division shall also 
maintain and operate the transfer station, recycling center and post-closure of the 
Town’s landfill site.

The Parks, Recreation & Cemeteries Division is responsible for the maintenance of all 
public playgrounds, athletic fields, parks, equipment, and related facilities as well as the 
grounds of all Town owned property.  This Division is also responsible for the planning 
and coordination of recreational activities, and providing supervision of Town sponsored 
recreational activities. This Division also coordinates activities with the Cemetery 
Commission and funeral directors, mows, trims the grass and excavates graves in town 
cemeteries.

The Community Development Division shall be responsible for planning, engineering, 
and code enforcement.  Planning and engineering shall be responsible for all business 
relating to land use and will be instrumental in the development and implementation of a 
comprehensive plan for the orderly growth and development of the Town. Code 
Enforcement shall be responsible for addressing the enforcement of all building codes, 
ordinances, regulations and laws, where such enforcement is not specifically granted to 

271



7

other parties.  Code Enforcement shall also be responsible for the review of applications 
and plans for all construction projects in the Town and subsequent inspections in 
accordance with all local and State rules and regulations.

The Highway, Recycling & Transfer, and Parks, Recreation, & Cemeteries Divisions 
shall be under the supervision of the Public Works Director and shall consist of other 
support staff as required. The Community Development Division shall be under the 
supervision of the Assistant Public Works Director/Engineer and shall consist of other 
support staff as required.  The Assistant Public Works Director/Engineer shall be under 
the supervision of the Public Works Director.

3.8 Library Department:
The Library shall provide services in accordance with RSA 202A.  

The Department shall be under the supervision of the Library Director and shall consist 
of other support staff as required.  

3.9 Police Department:
The Police Department is responsible for the enforcement of the laws, maintaining order 
in the community, protecting life and property, and assisting the public-at-large in a 
manner consistent with the rights and dignity of all persons as provided for by the law 
and under the Constitution of the United States and the State of New Hampshire.  

The Department shall be under the supervision of the Police Chief with additional 
support staff as required.

3.10 Tax Collector Department:
The Tax Collector shall be responsible for issuing all tax notices, maintaining documents 
of reported payment, depositing monies in a timely fashion, assessing tax liens on 
delinquent accounts and issuing all licenses and permits, including motor vehicle 
permits, while collecting all fees and all other duties as required.  

The Department shall be under the supervision of the Tax Collector and shall consist of 
other support staff as required.

3.11 Wastewater Department:
The Wastewater Department shall manage the treatment of wastewater within the Town 
of Hooksett and all collection and treatment systems.  

The Department shall be under the supervision of a Superintendent, under the general 
supervision of the Sewer Commission, and shall consist of other support staff as 
required.

272



8

4. Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials
(to include elected or appointed officials.)

The appropriate State laws, The Town Charter, and Town Ordinances, direct the 
listed Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials.  The following 
descriptions are for guidance only in the daily conduct of business.

4.1 Budget Committee (9 Elected and 4 Appointed) - Review annual budgets 
submitted by the Town Council, School Board, all Precincts and the Sewer 
Department.  Submit recommended budgets to the Town Voters and 
periodically review all expenditures.

4.2 Cemetery Trustees (Elected) - Arrange for cemetery lot visits and sales, 
maintain vital records relative to burials, manage day-to-day care of 
cemeteries, and manage expenditures of allocated funds.

4.3 Conservation Commission (Appointed) - Research and catalog all open 
space, natural, ecological, wetland or aesthetic areas within the Town; 
develop a program to protect listed areas; and obtain land in the name of 
the Town through gift, purchase, grant, bequest or other legitimate means 
for continued preservation.  

4.4 Economic Development Committee (Appointed) – Enhance the vitality 
of the local economy by retaining existing businesses and attracting new 
ones.

4.5 Health Officer (Appointed) – Enforce the state public health rules and 
laws as well as local ordinances and regulations.  Serve as a liaison 
between state officials and the local community on issues concerning local 
public health.  

4.6 Heritage Commission (Appointed) – Handle transactions relating to all 
cultural resources including hiring consultants and contractors as needed 
and receiving gifts of money and property, both real and personal, in the 
name of the Town, subject to the approval of the Town Council.  Such gifts 
shall be managed and controlled by the commission for their proper use.

4.7 Library Trustees (Elected) - Manage the Town Library and all property of 
the Town Library; control expenditures of funds received from Town 
appropriations, fines, gifts, and copying charges; and appoint and remove 
with due process the Librarian and other Library staff.

4.8 Moderator (Elected) - Preside over town meetings, regulate the business 
thereof, decide questions of order, and make a public declaration of every 
vote passed.  May prescribe rules of procedure, but such rules may be 
altered by the town.

273



9

4.9 Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (Appointed) - Under the 
jurisdiction of the Town Council, assist the Public Works Department in an 
advisory capacity on recreational projects, recreational budgetary items,
recreational capital improvements, and with the submittal of applications 
for federal, state, and other grant monies relating to parks and/or 
recreation. Develop plans and work with the Conservation Commission in 
obtaining and receiving land for recreational purposes.

4.10 Planning Board (Appointed) - Prepare and amend the Master Plan, 
review and recommend Zoning Ordinance amendments to the local 
legislative body and review and act on all subdivision and site plan 
applications.

4.11 Record Retention Committee (Appointed) - In accordance with RSA 33-
A:3, The Town will establish and maintain a Municipal Records Committee 
charged with governing the retention and disposition of municipal records.

4.12 Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee (Appointed) - Advise the 
Council on matters related to the management of municipal solid waste 
and recycling.

4.13 Sewer Commission (Elected) - Make regulations and decisions as may 
be necessary for the proper functioning of the sewer system and overall 
operation of the Sewer Department, levy special assessments upon land 
benefited by the sewer, establish sewer charge procedures for defraying 
the cost of plant and system operations and manage the maintenance and 
repair of sewer systems.

4.14 Supervisor of the Checklist (Elected) - Care for the checklist in 
compliance with Federal HAVA (Help America Vote Act); determine 
whether or not each individual is qualified to vote; and amending the 
districts within two (2) years of the census.  

4.15 Town Clerk (Elected) - Record and maintain all permanent documents 
and perform all other related functions per state statute.

4.16 Town Council (Elected) - Consists of nine elected members, one from 
each District and three At-Large members.  Is the governing body of the 
Town and directed by the specifications of the Town Charter.  Prepares 
and passes ordinances, submits a proposed budget to the Budget 
Committee and gives direction to the Town through the Town 
Administrator and appointed Boards and Committees.

4.17 Town Hall Preservation Committee (Appointed) – Work toward the 
preservation of the old Town Hall.

274



10

4.18 Town Treasurer (Appointed) – The Treasurer shall have custody of all 
monies belonging to the Town, and shall pay out the same only on orders 
of the body designated by the Town to expend such funds. The Treasurer 
shall deposit such funds in institutions and in such a manner as 
designated by law, and according to the Town’s investment policy, keep 
suitable records, reconcile the General Fund, and subsidiary account bank 
statements monthly, and perform all other related functions per state 
statute.

4.19 Trustees of the Trust Fund (Elected) - Maintain custody of all trust funds 
held by the Town.  Invest the monies as limited by RSA 31 and other state 
statues as they apply.

4.20 Zoning Board of Adjustment (Appointed) - Hear appeals; and administer 
special provisions of the Zoning Ordinance dealing with variances, special 
exceptions and administrative decisions.  Act as the Building Code Board 
of Appeals per RSA 673:I-V.

275



11

5. Administrative Financial Policies and Procedures.

5.1 Cooperation between Departments.  If possible, it is the duty of 
every department, subject to approval of the Administrator, to furnish to 
any other department such service, equipment, labor and materials as 
may be needed to perform necessary operations.  Expenses will be 
assigned to the appropriate budget when such considerations are 
germane.  

5.2 Payment of Monies.  All monies withdrawn from the Town General 
Fund shall be authorized by the Town Administrator and/or his/her 
designee.  Withdrawals may be in the form of a check, wire transfer, 
ACH transfer or other type of electronic banking format used by the 
Town Treasurer. 

5.3 Purchasing Procedures.  The purchase of all equipment and supplies 
not taken out of petty cash fund may require the use of standardized 
purchase orders and varying levels of control dependent upon the 
dollar amounts.  

5.3.1      Purchase Orders.  Purchase orders shall be used for all purchases of 
     goods and services, including contractual, that in aggregate or 
     individually are $3,001 or more as required by the Town Administrator 
     or recommended by the Finance Director.  It is the responsibility of the 
     department head to complete an electronic purchase order and submit 
     it to the Town Administrator or his/her designee for approval, along 
     with a description of, and reason for, the purchase.  This applies to all 
    items whether being purchased by grant, operating budget, warrant 
    article, capital reserve or other funds.   

5.3.2  Approval of Purchases. The level of approval required on a specific 
purchase shall vary depending upon its dollar amount. Total contract or 
job amounts should be used when determining thresholds.  The 
thresholds do not include costs for shipping/freight.

Artificial Division Prohibited – Purchases shall not be artificially divided 
so as to create lower purchase amounts and therefore avoid some 
requirement of this policy. Whether or not a proposed purchase 
constitutes artificial division shall be determined by the Town 
Administrator.  

Amount                                        Approval Level
           $0 - $3,000                                   Department Head

Purchase up to $3,000 – The Department Head shall have full authority to 
make department purchases of goods or services up to $3,000, which are 

276



12

identified within the department’s annual budget. Electronic purchase 
orders are not required for purchases up to $3,000.

Amount                                        Approval Level
           $3,001 - $15,000                       Town Administrator after three competitive 

                                                   quotes or bids required.

Purchases between $3,001 and $15,000 – The Department Head shall 
contact as many vendors as necessary in order to obtain at least three (3) 
written or verbal quotations or shall issue a request for proposals if 
required by the Town Administrator.  All verbal quotes shall be 
documented by date, vendor contact information and dollar amounts.  
The Department Head shall prepare a purchase order for authorization by 
the Town Administrator, thereby requesting approval of their 
recommended vendor.  In the event less than three (3) quotations are 
available; evidence of the attempt to obtain them should be attached.

Amount                                        Approval Level
$15,001 and over                        Town Council after three competitive bids

Purchases Above $15,001 – Purchases having an estimated cost in 
excess of $15,001 shall be bid pursuant to the Competitive Bid Process 
established in this regulation under Section 5.3.5.  

The results of the three competitive quotes or bids required for purchases 
and contracts over $15,000 shall be attached to the purchase order 
request to the Town Administrator.  If Council’s approval is required, the 
Town Administrator in conjunction with the requesting Department Heads 
shall present the bids for Council review and disposition.  

If the Council has voted to make a purchase or enter into a contract, the 
Administrator shall carry out the vote of the Council and enter into such 
transaction on behalf of the Town. 

5.3.3 Special Exceptions.  No purchase orders are required for the following 
items:
 Utilities (telephone, propane, heating fuel, cable, electricity, etc.)
 Welfare payments
 Vehicle repairs
 Human service agencies and associations that have their own line item

within the approved budget.   

No competitive bids shall be required when only one known sources of 
purchase, and there is no comparable substitute product or services; 
written documentation supporting the sole source may be required by the 
Town Administrator. 

277



13

                         
  No competitive bids shall be required when purchasing through the State 

of New Hampshire or at State of New Hampshire bid prices per Section 
5.12 of the Town Charter

No competitive bids shall be required when purchasing through a Town 
Council approved Cooperative Purchasing Program.  Cooperative 
purchasing programs are arrangements to agree to aggregate demand to 
get lower prices from selected suppliers.  Co-ops are doing competitive 
bidding for the government.  The co-op’s fees are paid by the contractors.  
It is often used by government agencies to reduce costs of procurement 
and makes the procurement process more efficient.

No competitive bids shall be required for GSA Purchases – Federal Supply 
Service GSA Advantage www.GSAAdvantage.gov and www.fss.gsa.gov
authorized Federal Supply Schedule Price List.

Requirements for three competitive bids may be waived in specific 
instances by a 2/3 vote of the Council per Section 5.12 of the Town 
Charter.

5.3.4 Emergency Procurements Emergency procurements may be made 
when a threat to public health, welfare or safety exists, provided that such 
emergency procurement shall be made with such competition as is 
practical under the circumstances.

In case of an emergency requiring immediate purchase of materials, 
supplies, equipment or services, the Town Administrator hereby 
authorizes the Department Heads to approve such emergency purchase if 
the situation permits.  The Town Administrator shall be notified as soon as 
possible as to the emergency and the associated purchases.  A written 
determination for the basis of the emergency and for the selection of the 
particular contractor or vendor shall accompany the purchase order and 
voucher.  As soon as is practicable, standard purchasing procedures will 
be reinstated.

5.3.5 Competitive Bid Process.  A competitive bid process must be followed if 
the procurement of goods or services involves expenditures of more than 
$15,000.  

A. The Administration Department is responsible for the release of all 
bids.  The Town Administrator shall ensure that the requesting 
department provides all relevant information for the time preparation 
and release of bids to be forwarded to the Finance Department.  

B. The Request for Proposal  (RFP) must include:

278



14

a. Listing of required specifications. 
b. Adequate public notice, of a minimum of seven (7) calendar 

days prior to the date set for the opening of the bids; notice shall 
include the town website and newspaper advertisement.

c. Dates for release of bid, return of bid and public bid opening.
d. A statement reserving the right to cancel or reject a bid. 

C. The bid shall be awarded to the lowest bidder that meets the 
specifications and submits proper bond requirements if applicable.  
The low bidders will receive the award unless supporting information 
presented recommends another bid.  The Town Administrator shall 
make the final decision if supporting information justifies other than the 
low bid be awarded.  Local advantage will be considered, but not 
mandated.

D. The RFP, invitation to bid, as well as the bid award notices shall be 
sent from the Department to the Bid Winner, Finance Department and 
the Town Administrator.  

E. The Town of Hooksett may accept guaranteed rates for goods or 
services; however it is not obligated to purchase from the guaranteed 
rate vendor if a lower price if available.  

5.4     Payment for Goods or Services.  Request for payment for any product or 
service shall be sent to the Finance Department.

Payment for any purchase over $3,001 will NOT be processed without a 
Purchase Order that must accompany the invoice.  

Departments are responsible for obtaining new vendor information through 
form W-9.

If any item or service purchased is not acceptable, arrangements must be 
made for a return for credit or an exchange.  A cash refund is prohibited 
unless the vendor insists that a refund must be by cash, and then the 
funds must be returned immediately to the Finance Department for deposit 
to the Town of Hooksett.  

5.5 Budget Development.  The Town Administrator will set a budget 
schedule for the year, to include department submittal dates, Town 
Administrator and Town Council review dates. Each individual department 
or committee shall submit their budgetary requests to the Finance Office.  
These requests will include the account number, account description and 
a written justification for each line item.  This information shall be 
consolidated into a report to be submitted to the Town Administrator for 
his/her recommendations. The Council shall receive copies of each 

279



15

departmental budget one week before their scheduled review. All 
information will be tracked and updated by the Finance Department who 
will ultimately produce a report for the entire Town including the following 
information:

Prior Year Appropriation
Prior Year Expenditures
Current Year Appropriation
Current Year Expenditures
Department Request
Town Administrator Recommended
Town Council Recommended
Budget Committee Recommended
Variance in Dollars
Variance as a percentage
Default

Town Council’s submittal date to the Budget Committee is set by the 
Budget Committee. The Budget Committee should conclude its meetings 
as prescribed by the Town Charter.

5.6 Investment Policy. In accordance with RSA 41:9 VII, the Council shall 
annually review and adopt an investment policy for the investment of 
public funds in conformance with applicable statutes and shall advise the 
treasurer of such policies. See exhibit B for policy details.

5.7 Fund Balance Policy. The Council shall review and adopt the Fund 
Balance Policy annually. The general purpose of this policy is to maintain 
an adequate level of Unassigned Fund Balance to mitigate financial risks 
that can occur from unforeseen revenue fluctuation and unanticipated 
expenditures. See exhibit C for policy details.

5.8 Stipends paid to Boards, Commissions and Committees. Stipends 
paid to Boards, Commissions, and Committees shall be made bi-annually
quarterly in the second pay date of December and June for those 
members currently sitting on the Board, Commission, or Committee on 
that date. The amounts of the stipends are set by the Town Charter for the 
Town Council and by the current budget for all other Boards, 
Commissions and Committees.   

5.9 Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-
Exempt Obligations.   The purpose of this Tax-Exempt 
Obligation Post Issuance Compliance Policy and Procedures is to 
establish policies and procedures in connection with tax-exempt bonds 
and notes (the “Bond” or “Bonds”) issued by the Town of Hooksett, New 
Hampshire (the “Issuer”) so as to maximize the likelihood that all 

280



16

applicable post-issuance requirements of federal income tax law needed 
to preserve the tax-exempt status of the Bonds are met.  See exhibit E 
for policy details.

6. Administrative Operational Policies and Procedures.

6.1 Departmental Records and Reports.  Reports of the major activities 
of each Department shall be made to the Town Administrator each 
month, and an annual written report shall be filed with the 
Administrator within ten days of the end of the fiscal year.  Such 
reports shall be in proper form and of sufficient detail for proper control 
of departmental activities and for publication in the Annual Town 
Report.

6.2 Preservation of Public Records.  Each Department Head shall be 
responsible for the preservation of all public records under the 
department’s jurisdiction and shall provide a system of filing and 
indexing of same.  No public records, reports, correspondence or other 
data shall be removed permanently, unless authorized by law or 
ordinance, or without the knowledge and approval of the Administrator.

6.3 New Ordinances.  The Town Council approves new ordinances.  The 
Town Clerk, or designee, codifies each new ordinance and distributes 
copies of the new ordinance to appropriate departments, boards and 
commissions. 

6.4 Record Retention Policy.  In accordance with RSA 33-A:3, the Town 
will establish and maintain a Municipal Records Committee charged 
with governing the retention and disposition of municipal records.  See 
exhibit A for policy details.

6.5 Cellular Phones in the Workplace.  The purpose of this policy is to 
      establish guidelines and administrative procedures for employees who
      have been identified as needing cellular phones (both Town provided 

                and reimbursed (via allowances) personal phones) during working 
                 hours and for other times as needed for the health, safety, welfare, or 
                 operational efficiency of the Town. See exhibit D for policy details.

281



17

AMENDMENTS

Date Section(s) Amended
January 1, 1995 Section(s) 2 & 3 – Departments/Positions changes.

June 26, 2002 Section 2 – minor changes to correspond with 
department reorganization.
Section 3 – entire section replaced.
Section 4 – minor changes
Section 5 – minor changes to correspond with 
department reorganization.

January 12, 2005 Section 3 – minor changes to correspond with
Department reorganization.

April 13, 2005 Section 5.4

September 9, 2009 Section 5.5.2 – Increased Town Administrator’s 
approval level to $15,000.
Minor housekeeping changes.

September 8, 2010 Section 4.12 – Deleted “Appoint or remove police 
personnel as necessary, while make and enforce all 
necessary rules for the orderly running of the 
department.”
Section 4.15 – Added “...amending the district within 2 
years of the census”.
Minor housekeeping items.

January 1, 2012 Changes to eliminate the Building Department and 
create the Code Enforcement Division under Public 
Works Department.
Minor housekeeping items.

February 13, 2013 Section 3.6 Fire Department – addition of “Emergency 
Management” to first paragraph.
Section 4.5 Emergency Management Director –
deletion of entire section. 

282



18

AMENDMENTS, Continued

Date Section(s) Amended
June 26, 2013 Section 3.1 removed Human Resource Coordinator,

Section 3.3 added Code Enforcement, and section 
3.7 removed Code Enforcement to correspond with 
Department reorganization.
Section 3.9 and section 4.10 removed Police 
Commission to correspond with the legislative 
abolishment of the commission.
Section 5.5.2 added contracts to correspond with 
Town Charter.
Minor housekeeping items.

August 13, 2014 Section 5.5 to 5.6 reworded entire sections and 
increased department head approval level for 
purchases up to $3,000.
Section 5.9 added new section Record Retention 
Policy with new exhibit A

September 24, 2014 Section 5.10 added new section Investment Policy 
with new exhibit B
Section 5.11 added new section Fund Balance Policy 
with new exhibit C

May 27, 2015 Section 2 removed departments Community 
Development  AND Recycling & Transfer
Section 3.3 removed Community Development 
Department
Section 3.7 added division Recycling & Transfer AND 
Community Development
Section 3.10 removed Recycling and Transfer 
Department

August 12, 2015 Section 4 – add:  Record Retention Committee and 
renumber section for alphabetical listing.
Section 5 – add: Stipends paid to Boards, 
Commissions and Committees

283



19

AMENDMENTS, Continued

Date Section(s) Amended
August 24, 2016 Section 5.3.3 – updated to add policy on Cooperative 

Purchasing Program
Section 5.5 – clarified Budget Development
Section 5.6 – updated Investment Policy exhibit B 
policy details to clarify IV Delegation of Authority
Section 5.13 – new section to add policy on Cellular 
Phones in the Workplace

August 9, 2017
Section 5.7 Fund Balance Policy.  Remove “In accordance with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB)”.

1) Exhibit B Investment Policy Section II. Scope.  Last paragraph last sentence “This 
investment policy does not apply to the Town of Hooksett’s Trust Funds, Capital 
Reserves or Library Funds.”  The Library funds are held by the Library Trustees and not 
the Town Treasurer per RSA 202-A:23.

Exhibit C Fund Balance Policy Section 4. Deficit Fund Balance.  Remove the entire section and 
replace with “The Town will follow RSA 32:11 Emergency 
expenditures and over expenditures for situations which may 
cause an over expenditure of the total appropriations in the 
Town’s General Fund.” 

August 22, 2018

1. 2 – Departmental Organization – add “Community Development” “Economic and Community 
Development Director”

2. 3 – Departmental Functions (renumber appropriately)
a. Add “Community Development Department”
b. Remove “Community Development” from Public Works Department

3. 3.4 - Family Services – add “and Guidelines adopted by the Town Council”
4. 5.3.3 – Special Exceptions – add GSA Purchases (Town Council approved 01/10/18)
5. 5.8 – update “Stipends paid . . . shall be made bi-annually quarterly in the second pay date of 

December and June. . . “
6. Add New Section 5.9 - Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-Exempt Ob 

ligations (Town Council Approved 5/9/18)

284



20

Exhibit A

Record Retention Policy
Town of Hooksett New Hampshire

2014
SECTION I: PURPOSE:

The purpose of this Records Retention Policy is to ensure compliance with all applicable State and Federal 
laws and regulations regarding record retention including, but not limited to those listed in RSA 33-A; 
while simultaneously recognizing the Town of Hooksett’s (hereby referred to as The Town) administrative 
need to manage its’ records and provide for their systematic destruction after all legal requirements have 
been satisfied and the record no longer has value to The Town or its’ constituents.

SECTION II: AUTHORITY: 

This policy is adopted in accordance with the Town Charter and the governing laws of the State of New 
Hampshire: RSA 33-A (Appendix A).

SECTION III: APPLICABILITY:

This policy applies to all physical records generated in the course of The Towns’ operation, including 
original, traceable reproductions as recorded with the Town Clerk, and electronic records.

SECTION IV: DEFINITIONS:
MUNICIPAL RECORD – As used herein, shall refer to all municipal records, whether in paper, electronic 
or any other form, prepared or received by The Town in connection with the conduct of its’ official 
governmental function. A department that creates a record shall be considered the primary owner of that 
particular record as defined in RSA 33-A.

SECTION V: MUNICIPAL RECORDS COMMITTEE:
A. In accordance with RSA 33-A:3, The Town will establish and maintain a Municipal Records 

Committee charged with governing the retention and disposition of municipal records. Said 
Committee shall be comprised of the following: A member of Town Council or designee; Town 
Clerk; Tax Collector; Treasurer; Town Assessor, and representatives from each of the  following 
departments:

1. Administration 
2. Community Development
3. Police Department
4. Public Works
5. Recycling & Transfer
6. Wastewater

B. The Town has adopted a Town-wide Record Retention Schedule (Appendix B) detailing the initial 
maintenance, retention and disposal schedule for municipal records of The Town in accordance 
with RSA 33-A. To ensure that this Schedule is followed, the Committee shall:

1. Monitor local, State and Federal laws affecting record retention, and;

285



21

2. Modify the Record Retention Schedule as necessary to ensure that it complies with 
Local, State and Federal laws and/or addresses the appropriate document and record 
categories for the Town.

C. The Municipal Records Committee shall monitor compliance with (Section VI - Storage, 
Retention, and Disposal of Municipal Records) of this policy and, if necessary, develop additional 
operational procedures to ensure that records are properly stored and accessible.

1. Any such additional procedures will be developed in a manner which takes into 
account the organizations’ operational capabilities. The Municipal Records 
Committee may elect to use electronic methods of document storage, where 
appropriate.

2. Any such additional procedures and/or storage processes will be incorporated as an 
Appendix to this Policy and be periodically reviewed by the Committee in order to 
ensure their level of efficiency and adequacy.

D. The Committee shall monitor compliance with (Section VI, C – Destruction of Municipal 
Records) of this policy and, if necessary, develop additional operational procedures to ensure that 
records are consistently disposed of in a proper manner.

1. Any such procedures shall take into account:
i. Statutory requirements.
ii. The Towns’ operational capabilities.
iii. That certain records contain sensitive and/or confidential information, and, 

as a result, must be destroyed, unless Section VII (Suspension of Record 
Disposal) applies, and eliminated with particular care.

2. These destruction processes will be periodically reviewed in order to ensure their 
adequacy and level of efficiency.

E. The Committee shall review, in February/March  of each year, the Record Retention Policy as a 
whole, including the Town-wide Record Retention Schedule (Appendix B) and recommend 
amendments as appropriate to comply with regulatory requirements and/or procedural changes.

SECTION VI: STORAGE, RETENTION, AND DISPOSAL OF MUNICIPAL RECORDS:

A. Minimum Storage Procedures: Each department shall store their archived records in a box or 
cabinet and provide the following information on the exterior of the storage device: the department 
name, box number, retention period, scheduled disposition date, authority granting or allowing the 
disposition, and a general description of the contents.  It is recommended a master list of each 
location and box contents be maintained by each department head.

B. Retention of Municipal Records: The Town-wide Records Retention Schedule (Appendix B) 
details the retention period for specific types and categories of records in order to ensure legal 
compliance. In addition, this schedule is designed to accomplish other objectives such as the 
preservation of confidential and valuable administrative information, cost effectiveness, and space 
management. Scheduled records are those that, by Town, State and Federal Regulations, need only 
be retained for a stated period.

286



22

The Municipal Records Committee may determine that such records (i.e., grants from State, 
Federal or private agencies) are to be maintained by The Town for a period longer that the 
minimum required period. If so, such determination shall be made a matter of record by 
incorporation into the Town-Wide Records Retention Schedule.

C. Destruction of Municipal Records: 
1. Documents to be destroyed shall first be reviewed by the applicable Department Head. If no 

reason exists to maintain the record beyond the retention schedule, the documents shall then 
be destroyed as follows:

i. Non-Confidential Documents – shall be disposed of with other paper recycled products or 
shredded.

ii. Confidential Documents – shall be shredded or burned.
iii. Electronic Files – shall be deleted from the individuals’ computer as well as any backup 

or permanent media storage.

2. Each Department Head is responsible for maintaining a Document Destruction Log which 
shall contain the following minimum information:

i. Department destroying the record
ii. What record was destroyed
iii. The date the record was destroyed
iv. Who destroyed the record
v. RSA or authority giving the right to destroy the record

D. Unauthorized Activities: All Municipal Records belong to The Public in perpetuity and shall not 
be destroyed, maliciously damaged, or retained by any person not entitled to do so by local, State 
and/or Federal regulations.

SECTION VII: SUSPENSION OF RECORD DISPOSAL:

In the event any official or employee of The Town is served with any subpoena or Right-to-Know request; 
or becomes aware of an investigation or audit concerning The Town or commencement of any litigation 
against or concerning The Town; such individual shall ensure that all records are preserved, regardless of 
Retention Schedule, until The Towns’ legal counsel determines that the records are no longer needed.

SECTION VIII: ADOPTION: 

The Town of Hooksett has adopted this Record Retention Policy effective ____August 13__ 2014.

287



23
288



24
289



25
290



26

Exhibit B

Town of Hooksett
35 Main Street

Hooksett, NH  03106

INVESTMENT POLICY

I. PREFACE

The investment policy establishes a framework for the safe and prudent investment of public 
funds.  While attempting to achieve the best possible results, an investment program must 
consider the safety and liquidity necessary to effectively meet the operational needs of the Town.

It also provides guidance and direction for the Town Treasurer in the daily conduct of investing 
activity in addition to improving consistency, creating and defining accountability and in ensuring 
that laws are followed.

II. SCOPE

The investment policy applies to all financial assets in the custody of the Town Treasurer of the 
Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire.  These funds are accounted for in the Town's annual audited 
financial reports and include the following:

 General Fund
 Special Revenue Funds
 Capital Project Funds
 Proprietary Funds
 Fiduciary Funds
 Any new funds created by the Town, unless specifically exempted by the governing 

body, in accordance with law, or by-law.

Furthermore, the investment policy applies to all transactions involving the financial assets and 
related activity of all the foregoing funds.  This investment policy does not apply to the Town of 
Hooksett Trust Funds, Capital Reserves or Library Funds.  The Library funds are held by the 
Library Trustees and not the Town Treasurer per RSA 202-A:23.

III. OBJECTIVES

The priority of investment objectives shall be safety, liquidity, and yield: 

1. Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program. 
Investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of capital in the overall portfolio. The objective will be to 
mitigate credit risk and interest rate risk.

291



27

a) Credit Risk is the risk of loss due to the financial failure of the security issuer or 
backer. The Town will minimize credit risk by: 

 Limiting exposure to poor credits and concentrating the investments in the 
safest types of securities.

 Pre-qualifying the financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries, and 
advisers with which the Town will do business. 

 Diversifying the investment portfolio so that potential losses on individual 
securities will be minimized. 

 Actively monitoring the investment portfolio holdings for ratings changes, 
changing economic/market conditions, etc. 

b) Interest Rate Risk The Town will minimize the risk that the market value of 
securities in the portfolio will fall due to changes in general interest rates, by: 

 Structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash 
requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell 
securities on the open market prior to maturity. 

 Investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities or short-term 
investment pools. 

2. Liquidity The investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all
operating requirements that may be reasonably anticipated. This is accomplished 
by structuring the portfolio so that securities mature concurrent with cash needs to 
meet anticipated demands. Furthermore, since all possible cash demands cannot be 
anticipated, the portfolio should consist largely of securities with active secondary 
or resale markets. 

3. Yield The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a 
market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into 
account the investment risk constraints and liquidity needs. Return on investment is 
of secondary importance compared to the safety and liquidity objectives described 
above. The majority of the portfolio is limited to highly rated/low risk securities in 
anticipation of earning a fair return relative to the risk being assumed. Securities 
shall not be sold prior to maturity with the following exceptions: 

 A security with declining credit may be sold early to minimize loss of 
principal. 

 A security swap would improve the quality, yield, or target duration in the 
portfolio. 

 Liquidity needs of the portfolio require that the security be sold. 

4. Legality The investment portfolio shall remain in conformance with Federal, State 
and other legal requirements. 

IV. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

The investment policy delegation of authority is stated below:

292



28

1. In accordance with RSA 41:29 VI, the responsibility for conducting investment 
transactions resides with the Town Treasurer.   The Town Treasurer may delegate 
authority, with the approval of Town Council.  

       RSA 41:29 VI – in addition to this state RSA language, the Town Council adds 
“and the Town Treasurer shall be for a specific term.”

2.  No person may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the 
terms of this policy and the internal procedures and controls hereby established.

V.        PRUDENCE

The investment policy will be conducted in accordance with the "prudent person" standard which 
requires that:

     Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under          
     circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion 
     and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not 
     for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of 
     their capital as well as the probable income to be derived.

The Town Treasurer involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business 
activity that could conflict (or appear to conflict) with proper execution of the investment 
program, or which could impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions.

The Town Treasurer shall disclose to the Town Council any material financial interest in financial 
institutions that conduct business within this jurisdiction, and they shall further disclose any large 
personal financial/investment positions that could be related to the performance of this 
jurisdiction's portfolio.

The Town Treasurer shall subordinate their personal investment transactions to those of this 
jurisdiction, particularly with regard to the timing of purchases and sales.

VI. INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with RSA 41:29 II and IV funds of the Town of Hooksett may be invested in the 
following:

1.  Deposits, including money market accounts or certificates of deposit, of federally 
insured banks chartered under the laws of New Hampshire or the federal government 
with a branch within the state; or funds may be deposited in federally insured banks 
outside the state if such banks pledge and deliver to a third party custodial bank or 
the federal reserve bank collateral security for such deposits of the following types:

a.   United States government obligations;
b.   United States government agency obligations; or
c. Obligations of the state of New Hampshire in value at least equal to the 

amount of the deposit in each case.

293



29

2.  New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP) established pursuant to 
RSA 383:22.

3. Obligations fully guaranteed as to principle and interest by the United States 
government.  The obligations may be held directly or in the form of securities of or 
other interests in any open-end or closed-end management-type investment company 
or investment trust registered under 15 U. S.C. section 80a-1 et seq., if the portfolio 
of the investment company or investment trust is limited to such obligations.

4.  Other instruments as may be specifically authorized by amendments to the State Law.

VII .    MATURITY AND DIVERSIFICATION 

Investment maturities for operating funds shall be scheduled to coincide with projected cash flow 
needs, taking into account large routine expenditures (school district remittances, payroll and 
accounts payable) as well as anticipated revenue inflows. However, the maturity characteristics of 
the portfolio should comply with the following schedule:

Total Portfolio
Investments Maturing

Required Minimum Percentage
of Total Portfolio

180 Days or Under 100%

No more than 80% of the total investment portfolio shall be invested with any one financial 
institution.

VIII.    COMPETITIVE SELECTION OF INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS

Competitive quotes shall be requested from qualified financial institutions for various options 
with regards to terms and instrument, and provided to the Finance Director.  The Town Treasurer 
will accept the quote(s) which provide(s) the highest rate of return, within the maturity required, 
and within the parameters of this policy, taking into consideration all associated costs, 
requirements and capabilities.

IX. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

The Town shall require, from any institution in which investing activity is conducted, sufficient 
routine reports/documentation to enable an accurate evaluation to be made as to the results of the 
Town’s investment program as it relates to the Town’s stated objectives, guidelines and policies, 
and to assist in revealing areas for potential improvement.

X.   SAFEKEEPING AND COLLATERALIZATION

294



30

In accordance with RSA 41:29 V, the Town Treasurer shall ensure that prior to acceptance of any 
moneys for deposit or investment, including repurchase agreements, the federally insured bank 
shall have such funds, at the time of deposit or investment, secured by collateral having a market 
value at least equal to 102% of the amount deposited or invested over the FDIC limits.  Such 
collateral shall be held by a third party custodian and segregated for the exclusive benefit of the 
Town.  Only securities defined by the bank commissioner as provided by rules adopted pursuant 
to RSA 386:57 shall be eligible to be pledged as collateral.

The banking institution shall provide the Town Treasurer with at least monthly reports of the 
Town’s collateral position.  In addition, collateral agreements shall comply with provisions set 
forth in the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA), 
which require that the collateral agreement be:

1. in writing;
2. approved by the Board of Directors of the depository or its loan committee;
3. has been, continuously, from the time of its execution, an official record of the depository 

institution.

A Certificate of Insurance is not considered to be adequate collateralization.

XI.      INTERNAL CONTROLS

The internal controls for the Town of Hooksett shall be designed to prevent losses of public funds 
arising from fraud, employee error, misrepresentation by third parties, unanticipated changes in 
financial markets, imprudent actions by employees and officers of the Town.

1. Indemnification:  In accordance with RSA 41:6 (Surety Bond Required).

"Town Treasurers…Shall be bonded by position under a blanket bond from a surety 
company authorized to do business in this state.  The bond shall indemnify against 
losses through:

(a) The failure of officers covered to faithfully perform their duties or to 
account properly for all moneys or property received by virtue of their 
positions, or

(b) Fraudulent or dishonest acts committed by the covered officers."

2. The Town Treasurer conducts investment transactions via written instructions 
including Internet and reviews the bank statements daily to ensure that the 
appropriate transactions were made per the instructions.  All bank balances will be 
reconciled monthly by the Town Treasurer and reported to the Finance Director on a 
monthly basis.

3. The Finance Director, on a monthly basis, reviews and reconciles all bank account 
activity and records the investment transactions in the general ledger.

XII. REPORTING

The Town Treasurer shall submit quarterly to the Town Administrator an investment report that 
summarizes recent market conditions, economic development and anticipated investment 

295



31

conditions.  The report shall summarize the investment strategies employed, and describe the 
portfolio in terms of investment securities, maturities, risk characteristics and other features.  The 
report shall explain the total investment return and compare the return with budgetary
expectations.  The report shall include an appendix that discloses all transactions during the past 
quarter.
XIII. OTHER

This policy shall be reviewed at least annually by Town Council, or its designee, with changes 
made as warranted, followed by re-adoption by the governing body.

The Town Council reserves the right to implement changes to this policy without prior notice if it 
is deemed in the Town's best interest.

This policy is available for public review and inspection.  A copy may be obtained by contacting 
the Town Administrator.

XIV. POLICY APPROVAL/AMENDMENTS

The Council approved adoption of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their October 12, 
2005 meeting.

Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their 
September 9, 2009 meeting.

Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their 
September 8, 2010 meeting.

Town Council approved the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their September 14, 2011 
meeting.

Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their October 
10, 2012 meeting.

Town Council approved the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their September 25, 2013 
meeting.

Town Council approved amendments of the Town of Hooksett Investment Policy at their 
September 24, 2014 meeting.

       

296



32

Exhibit C

Town of Hooksett
35 Main Street

Hooksett, NH  03106

FUND BALANCE POLICY

SECTION 1. PURPOSE

The Town hereby establishes and will maintain reservations of Fund Balance, as defined 
herein, in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54, Fund 
Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Types Definitions.  This policy shall only apply to 
the Town’s governmental funds.  Fund balance shall be composed of nonspendable, restricted, 
committed, assigned and unassigned amounts.

The general purpose of this policy is to improve the Town of Hooksett’s financial 
stability by protecting itself against emergencies and economic downturns. Unassigned fund 
balance is an important measure of economic stability. It is essential that the Town maintain 
adequate levels of unassigned fund balance to mitigate financial risk that can occur from 
unforeseen revenue fluctuations, unanticipated expenditures, and similar circumstances. The fund 
balance also provides cash flow liquidity for the Town’s general operations.

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS

2.1)  Nonspendable Fund Balance - includes amounts that are not in a spendable form 
(such as inventory, tax deeded property subject to resale or prepaid expenses) or are required to 
be maintained intact (such a principal of an endowment fund).

2.2)  Restricted Fund Balance – includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific 
purposes stipulated by external resource providers (such as grantors) or laws or regulations of 
other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or through enabling 
legislation (the annual Town meeting). Restrictions may be changed or lifted only with the 
consent of the resource providers or the enabling legislation.  Non-lapsing warrant articles, 
library, income portion of permanent funds and Capital Project funds would be considered 
restricted.

2.3) Committed Fund Balance – includes amounts that can be used only for the specific 
purposes determined by a formal action of the Town’s highest level of decision making authority 
(Town Council).  Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the Town Council taking the 
same formal action that imposed the constraint originally. The Town Council’s actions must 
either be approved or rescinded, as applicable, prior to the last day of the fiscal year for which the 
commitment is made.  The amount subject to the constraint may be determined in the subsequent 
period.  This classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing 
resources have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual obligations.  

297



33

Expendable trust funds and legislative body votes relative to the use of unassigned fund balance 
at year-end are included in this classification.

2.4) Assigned Fund Balance – includes amounts the Town intends to be used for 
specific purposes.   For all governmental funds other than the General Fund, any remaining 
positive amounts are to be classified as “assigned”.  The Town Council expressly delegates this 
authority to the Town Administrator.  Items that would fall under this type of fund balance would 
be Police and Fire Detals, Ambulance Fund and Conservation Fund etc.  The Town also has 
assigned funds consisting of encumbrances in the general fund at year-end.

2.5) Unassigned Fund Balance – is the residual classification of the general fund and 
includes all amounts not contained in other classifications.  Unassigned amounts are technically 
available for any purpose.  Any deficit fund balance of another governmental fund is also 
classified as unassigned.

SECTION 3. SPENDING PRIORITIZATOINS

3.1) When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and 
unrestricted fund balance is available, restricted fund balance is considered to have been spent 
first.

3.2) When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the 
unrestricted fund balance classification can be used, committed amount should be reduced first, 
followed by assigned amounts and then unassigned amounts.

SECTION 4. DEFICIT FUND BALANCE

The Town will follow RSA 32:11 Emergency expenditures and over expenditures for 
situations which may cause an over expenditure of the total appropriations in the Town’s General 
Fund.

SECTION 5. UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE  – GENERAL FUND

As recommend by the New Hampshire Department of Revenue, the Town shall strive to 
maintain an unassigned fund balance in its General Fund equal to 8-17% of the total annual 
appropriations of the community (which includes the Town, County, School District and 
Precincts).  

5.1) Minimum Balance – The Town shall maintain a minimum unassigned fund balance 
of 5% of the general fund’s annual appropriations of the community.

5.2) Target Balance - The Town shall work toward maintaining an unassigned fund 
balance of 8% of the general fund’s annual budget, including Town, School and County 
appropriations.  

298



34

SECTION 6.   ANNUAL REVIEW

Town Council shall review and approve this policy annually.  

SECTION 7.  POLICY APPROVAL/AMENDMENTS

Town Council approved adoption of the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their 
May 13, 2009 meeting.

Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their September 
14, 2011 meeting.

Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their October 10, 
2012 meeting.

Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their September 
25, 2013 meeting.

Town Council amended the Town of Hooksett’s Fund Balance policy at their September 
24, 2014 meeting.

299



35

Exhibit D

Town of Hooksett
35 Main Street

Hooksett, NH  03106

POLICY: 
CELLULAR PHONES IN THE WORKPLACE 

SECTION I: PURPOSE 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines and administrative procedures for 
employees who have been identified as needing cellular phones (both Town provided and 
reimbursed (via allowances) personal phones) during working hours and for other times as 
needed for the health, safety, welfare, or operational efficiency of the Town. 

SECTION II: POLICY 
It is the policy of the Town that if an employee’s job duties require them to be readily 
accessible for frequent contact or critical contact with the Town staff or public, and the 
accessibility extends to time away from work or involves on-call responsibilities, then the 
eligible employee may have a choice to either use a Town-issued cellular phone, or provide 
their own cellular phone for which they will be compensated for business use pursuant to this 
Policy. The Town shall have the discretion to determine who is eligible as well as the service 
plan and features that will be provided, required, or otherwise reimbursed via allowances. 

SECTION III: ELIGIBILITY 
Employees whose job duties include the frequent need for a cellular phone may be provided a 
town issued cellular phone or, in lieu thereof, use their own personal cellular phone and 
receive a reimbursement allowance for business-related costs. Department heads may 
identify employees who hold positions that include the need for a cellular phone. The Town 
Administrator shall have final approval on all such determinations. Generally, an employee is 
eligible for a town issued cellular phone or a reimbursement allowance for using a personal 
cellular phone if at least one (1) of the following criteria are met: 

1) The job function of the employee requires considerable time outside of his/her assigned 
office or work area and it is important to the Town that she/he is accessible during those 
times; or 

2) The job function of the employee requires him/her to be accessible outside of scheduled or 
normal working hours where time sensitive decisions/ notifications are required. 

If an employee is eligible for a town issued cellular phone or a reimbursement allowance for 
a personal cellular phone based on satisfaction of at least one of the above criteria, then if the 
employee also needs data access for health, safety, welfare or operational efficiency 
concerns, their town issued cellular phone or reimbursement allowance shall provide data 
access or provide for a data plan. 

SECTION IV: LIMITATIONS ON TOWN PROVIDED CELLULAR PHONES 
A. Personal Use: Occasional brief personal use is allowable; however, employees should 
always use their own personal cellular phones for personal use, if possible. 

300



36

B. Text Messaging: Shall be limited whenever possible, unless the cellular phone has a 
service plan that provides for unlimited messaging or a messaging allowance and in either 
case, is approved for such use by the employee’s department head. 

C. Internet Access: Employees should use discretion when using their cellular phone to not 
access websites that would be in violation of the Town’s Computer Use Policy found in the 
Personnel Plan. D. Directory Assistance: Employees should avoid using cellular directory 
assistance so as to avoid additional charges. 

E. Reimbursement to the Town for Personal Use: If an employee’s personal use of the 
Town’s cellular phone results in an unreasonable charge to the Town, the user will be 
responsible for reimbursing the Town. This includes charges for text messaging, long 
distance and/or roaming charges, overage charges, multi-media charges, and charges for 
directory assistance. 

F. Data Downloads: Employees should attempt to download data in wi-fi networks so as to 
minimize costs. 

G. Any cellular phone that has data capabilities must be secured based on current security 
standards including password protection and encryption. If a cellular phone with data 
capabilities is stolen or missing, it must be reported to the employee's supervisor, the service 
provider, and to the Administration or IT Contactor as soon as possible.

H. Misuse: Use of the cellular phone in any manner contrary to local, state, or federal laws 
will constitute misuse, and may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate 
termination.

I. No expectation of privacy: Town issued cellular phones shall remain the sole property of 
the Town and shall be subject to inspection or monitoring at any time. Employees who are 
issued town cellular phones must understand that there is no expectation of privacy when 
using such phones. The Town has the right to review all records related to Town issued 
cellular phones, including but not limited to phone logs, text messages, and internet usage 
logs. Users should further be aware that such records may be subject to discovery under RSA 
Chapter 91-A (aka, the “Right to Know” law). 

J. Upon resignation or termination of employment, or at any time upon request, the employee 
will produce the device for return and inspection. Employees unable to present the device in 
good working condition will be expected to bear the cost of a replacement. 

SECTION V: REIMBURSEMENT ALLOWANCES FOR PERSONAL CELLULAR 
PHONES 
A. Allowance Amount: The amount shall be $11.53 per week for cellular phones utilizing an 
unlimited data plan, e-mail, texting and internet access features. No further reimbursement 
for cellular phones is available to employees who receive an allowance.

B. The allowance is neither permanent nor guaranteed. The Town reserves the right to 
remove a participant from this plan or cancel the allowance for business reasons. 

C. To receive the allowance, a “Personal Action Form” must be completed (see Appendix A). 

D. Allowance Payment: The approved cellular phone reimbursement allowance will be paid 
to the employee each week in the employee’s paycheck.

301



37

E. The employee is responsible for purchasing the cellular phone and establishing and 
maintaining a service contract with the cellular phone service provider of his/her choice. The 
cellular phone contract shall be in the name of the employee, who shall be solely responsible 
for all payments to the service provider. If the employee terminates the cellular phone 
contract at any point, s/he must notify his/her supervisor within five (5) business days. 

F. Because the cellular phone is owned personally by the employee, the reimbursement 
allowance is not considered taxable income and the employee may use the cellular phone for 
both business and personal purposes, as needed. The employee may, at his or her own 
expense, add extra services or equipment features, as desired. If there are problems with 
service, the employee is expected to work directly with the service provider for resolution. 

SECTION VI: LIMITATIONS ON PERSONAL CELLULAR PHONES 
A. For a personal cellular phone approved for a reimbursement allowance under this policy, 
support from the Town’s IT Contactor is limited to connecting the cellular phone to Town-
provided services, such as e-mail, calendar, and contacts. 

B. The Town does not accept any liability for claims, charges or disputes between the service 
provider and the employee. Use of the cellular phone in any manner contrary to local, state, 
or federal laws will constitute misuse, and may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including immediate termination if misused in furtherance of Town business, and then, 
depending on the nature of the misuse. 

C. Any cellular phone that has data capabilities must be secured based on current security 
standards including password protection and encryption. If a cellular phone with data 
capabilities is stolen or missing, it must be reported to the employee's supervisor, the service 
provider, and to the IT Director as soon as possible. 

D. Employees are expected to delete all Town data from the cellular phone when their 
employment with the Town is severed, except when legally required to maintain that data 
(e.g., litigation).

E. Note: Unlike Town provided cellular phones, users of personal cellular phones have an 
expectation of privacy and accordingly, if the Town desires to review the employee’s cellular 
phone records, it will first obtain a search warrant or subpoena the relevant records pursuant 
to RSA Chapter 91-A (aka, the “Right to Know” law). 

SECTION VII: EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES 
A. Excessive use of cellular phones during the work day for personal use can interfere with 
employee productivity and be distracting to others. During paid work time, employees are 
expected to exercise the same discretion in using cellular phones as is expected for the use of 
any town telephone or computer. Cellular phones may not be used at any work site where the 
operation of the phone would create an unreasonable distraction to the public or other 
employees. 

B. Employees are expected to make personal communications on non-work time, when 
possible. However, it is understood that occasional personal communications of short 
duration may be accomplished without disrupting others and without having an adverse effect 
on one’s job performance. Personal calls, incoming and outgoing, must be kept to a minimum 
and must be incidental to business use. Employees should use good judgment when making 
personal communications and should recognize that the Town incurs costs for each minute of 

302



38

air time on Town issued phones. Abuse of personal communications privileges may subject 
the employee to discipline. 

C. In order to ensure a productive work day, the following uses of any cellular phone are 
prohibited during working hours: 
1) Accessing the internet for non-work related purposes; 

2) Playing games; 

3) Watching movies, television, sports, etc.; and 

4) Any activity that violates town policy. 
D. Employees in possession of Town issued cellular phones are expected to protect them 
from loss, damage, or theft.

SECTION VIII: SAFETY IN USING CELLULAR PHONES 
A. This section applies to all use of Town provided cellular phones, and to all use of personal 
cellular phones when used for Town business. 

B. If use of their cellular phone is unavoidable, employees shall use hands-free options, 
abiding by applicable state laws. During hands-free operation, employees are expected to 
keep the usage to a minimum, refrain from discussions of complicated or emotional issues, 
and keep their eyes on the road. Special care should be taken in situations where there is 
heavy traffic, inclement weather or where the employee is driving in an unfamiliar area. 
Under no circumstances are employees allowed to place themselves at risk to fulfill business 
needs. 

C. With the exception of extraordinary circumstances, operators of authorized emergency 
vehicles are to comply with this Policy while driving. 

D. Engaging in text or email communications, or accessing the internet while driving is not 
allowable under any circumstance. Note: safely pull over to the side of the road before setting 
a destination and selecting a route for GPS-related applications.

E. Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of cellular 
phones while driving on duty may be subject to disciplinary action. 

F. Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of their cellular 
phone while driving will be solely responsible for all liabilities that result from such actions. 

G. Violations of this Policy will be subject to discipline, up to and including dismissal. 

SECTION IX: WAIVERS 
The Town Administrator or Town Council may waive any portion of this policy for good
cause shown. 

SECTION X: AMENDMENTS 
This policy may from time to time be amended by the vote of Town Council at a regularly 
scheduled meeting. 

SECTION XI: EFFECTIVE DATE 
This policy shall be effective 08/24/16 as per vote of the Town Council. 

303



39

Exhibit E
Town of Hooksett

35 Main Street
Hooksett, NH  03106

POST-ISSUANCE TAX COMPLIANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR 
TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS

SECTION I: PURPOSE

The purpose of this Tax-Exempt Obligation Post Issuance Compliance Policy and 
Procedures is to establish policies and procedures in connection with tax-exempt bonds 
and notes (the “Bond” or “Bonds”) issued by the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire (the 
“Issuer”) so as to maximize the likelihood that all applicable post-issuance requirements 
of federal income tax law needed to preserve the tax-exempt status of the Bonds are met.

SECTION II: COMPLIANCE COORIDATOR

A. The Finance Director shall serve as the Compliance Coordinator (“Coordinator”) 
and be responsible for monitoring post-issuance compliance.  

B. The Coordinator will maintain a copy of the transcript of proceedings in 
connections with the issuance of any tax-exempt obligations.  The Coordinator 
will obtain such records as are necessary to meet the requirements of this policy.

C. The Coordinator shall consult with bond counsel, a rebate consultant, financial 
advisors, Internal Revenue Services (“IRS”) publications and other resources as 
are necessary to understand and meet the requirements of this policy.

D. Training and education of the Coordinator and his/her staff will be sought and 
implemented upon the occurrence of new developments and upon the hiring of 
new personnel to implement this policy.

SECTION III: RECORD-KEEPING 

A. Financing Transcripts – The Coordinator shall confirm the proper filing with the 
IRS of an 8038 Series return, and maintain a transcript of proceedings for all tax-
exempt obligations issued by the Issuer, including but not limited to all tax-
exempt bonds, notes and lease-purchase contracts.  Each transcript shall be 
maintained for as long as the Bonds are outstanding, plus three (3) years after the 
final redemption date of the Bonds.  Said transcript may be maintained in 
electronic format and shall include at a minimum: 

1.   Form 8038s;
2.   Minutes, resolutions, and certificates;
3.   Certifications of issue price from the underwriter, if applicable;
4.   Formal elections required by the IRS;
5.   Trustee statements, if applicable;
6.   Records of refunded bonds, if applicable;
7.   Correspondence relating to bond financing;

304



40

8.   Reports of any IRS examinations for bond financing;
   9. Documents related to governmental grants associated with construction, 

renovation, or purchase of bond financed facilities, if applicable;
10. Publications, brochures, and newspaper articles, where applicable.

B. Modification to Financing Documents – The Coordinator shall determine if there 
is any “significant modification” to bond documents resulting in reissuance under 
Treasury Regulation §1.1001-3, in consultation with bond counsel and any other 
legal counsel and financial advisor.  The Coordinator shall retain proof of filing 
new Form 8038 and relevant documentation plus final rebate calculation on pre-
modification bonds.

SECTION IV: PROPER USE OF PROCEEDS

A. The Coordinator shall review the resolution authorizing issuance for each tax-
exempt obligation issued by the Issuer and shall:

1. Obtain a computation of the yield on such issue from the Issuer’s 
financial advisor;

2. Create a separate Project Fund (with as many sub-funds as shall be 
necessary to allocate proceeds among the projects being funded by the 
issue) and a separate Cost of Issuance Fund as necessary to allocate 
proceeds to Bond issuance costs into which the proceeds of the issue 
shall be deposited, as applicable;

3. Review all requisitions, draw schedules, draw requests, invoices and 
bills requesting payment form the Project Fund;

4. Determine whether payment from the Project Fund is appropriate, and 
if so, make payment from the Project Fund (and appropriate sub-fund 
if applicable);

5. Maintain records of the payment requests and corresponding records 
showing payments;

6. Maintain records showing the earnings on, and investment of, the 
Project Fund;

7. Ensure that all investments acquired with proceeds are purchased at 
fair market value;

8. Identify bond proceeds or applicable debt service allocations that must 
be invested with a yield-restriction and monitor the investments of any 
yield-restricted funds to ensure that the yield on such investments does 
not exceed the yield to which such investments are restricted;

9. Maintain records related to any investment contracts, credit 
enhancement transactions, and the bidding of financial products 
related to the proceeds;

10. Monitor and maintain records of the reimbursement of costs 
previously expended by the Issuer to ensure that such reimbursement 
occurs not more than 18 months after the later of (i) the dates of the 
expenditures or (ii) the date the project/asset was place in service (but 
not more than 3 years after the original expenditures were paid) except 
with respect to those expenditures for which the Issuer obtained a 

305



41

certificate of licensed engineer/architect to the effect that (I) at least 
five (5) years were necessary to complete the construction of the part 
of the project for which such expenditures were required; and (II) such 
expenditures shall be reimbursed not more than five (5) years after the 
date that the original expenditures were paid. 

SECTION V: ARBITRAGE/REBATE COMPLIANCE AND TIMELY 
EXPENDITURE OF PROCEEDS

A. The Coordinator shall review the No Arbitrate and Tax Certificate (or equivalent) 
(the “Certificate”) for each tax-exempt obligation issued by the Issuer and the 
expenditure records provided in Section III of this policy, above, and shall ensure 
that the Issuer takes the following actions:

1. Monitor and ensure that proceeds of each such issue are spent within 
the temporary period set forth in the Certificate;

2. If at the time of issuance, it appears that the Bonds will qualify for the 
small issuer exception to the rebate requirement, the Coordinator will 
monitor the amount of subsequent tax-exempt obligations issued or 
proposed to be issued in the calendar year in which the Bonds closed 
to ensure that the Issuer does not exceed the $5 million or $15 million 
threshold, as applicable, in such calendar year;

3. If at the time of issuance, based on reasonable expectations set forth in 
the Certificate, it appears likely that the issue will qualify for an 
exemption from the rebate requirement, the Issuer may defer taking 
any of the actions set forth in subsection (4) below.  Not later than the 
time of completion of construction or acquisition of the project, and 
depletion of all funds from the Project Fund, the Issuer shall make a 
determination if the expenditure of the Bond proceeds qualified for an 
exemption from the rebate requirements based on spending within a 6 
month, 18 month or 2 year period after issuance.  If a rebate exemption 
is determined to be applicable, the Issuer shall prepare and keep in the 
permanent records of the issue a memorandum evidencing this
conclusion together with records of expenditure to support such 
conclusion.  If the transaction does not qualify for rebate exemption, 
the Issuer shall initiate the steps set forth in (4) below;

4. If at the time of issuance it appears likely that arbitrage rebate 
calculations will be required, or upon determination that calculations 
are required pursuant to (3) above, the Issuer shall:

a. Engage the service of expert advisors (each a “Rebate Service 
Provider”) to assist in the calculation of arbitrage rebate 
payable in respect of the investment of Bond proceeds, or else 
shall ensure that it has adequate financial, accounting and legal 
resources of its own to make such calculations, and prior to 
each rebate calculation date, cause the trustee or other financial 
institution investing bond proceeds to deliver periodic 

306



42

statements concerning the investment of Bond proceeds to the 
Rebate Service Provider;

b. Provide to the Rebate Service Provider additional documents 
and information reasonable requested by the Rebate Service 
Provider;

c. Monitor efforts of the Rebate Service Provider;
d. Assure payment of required rebate amounts, if any, no later 

than 60 days after each 5-year anniversary of the issue date of 
the Bonds, and no later than 60 days after the last Bond of each 
issue is redeemed.

e. During the construction period of each capital project financed 
in whole or in part by Bonds, monitor the investment and 
expenditure of Bond proceeds and consult with the Rebate 
Service Provider to determine compliance with any applicable 
exceptions from the arbitrage rebate requirements during each 
6-month spending period up to 6 months, 18 months or 2 years, 
as applicable, following the issue date of the Bonds.

f. Retain copies of all arbitrage reports, trustee statements and 
other documents as required herein;

g. In lieu of engaging an outside Rebate Service Provider, the 
Issuer may make a determination that it has sufficient 
capabilities using its own personnel, supported by its regular 
accounting and legal advisers, to be able to make the required 
rebate calculations.  Such determination shall be evidenced in 
writing with specific reference to the personnel and advisers to 
carry out the calculations, and such written determination shall 
be maintained in the records of the bond transaction.

SECTION VI: PROPER USE OF BOND FINANCED ASSETS

A. The Coordinator shall maintain appropriate records and a list of all bond financed 
assets.  Such records shall include the actual amount of the proceeds (including 
investment earnings) spent on each of the bond financed assets.

B. With respect to each bond financed asset, the Coordinator will monitor and confer 
with bond counsel with respects to all proposed:
1. Management contracts;
2. Service agreements;
3. Research contracts;
4. Naming rights contracts;
5. Lease or sub-leases;
6. Joint venture, limited liability or partnership arrangements;
7. Sale of property or;
8. Any other change in use of such asset.

C. Section 141 of the Code sets forth private activity tests for the purpose of limiting 
the volume of tax-exempt bonds that finance activities of persons other than state 
and local governmental entities.  These tests serve to identify arrangements that 

307



43

actually or reasonably expect to transfer the benefits of tax-exempt financing to 
non-governmental persons, including the federal government.  The Coordinator 
shall provide to the users of any bond financed property a copy of this 
Compliance Policy and other appropriate written guidance advising that:
1. “Private business use” means use by any person other than the Issuer, 

including business corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, 
associations, non-profits corporations, natural persons engaged in trade or 
business activity, and the United States of America and any federal agency, as 
a result of ownership of the property or use of the property under a lease, 
management or service contract (except for certain “qualified” management or 
service contracts), “naming rights” contract, “public-private partnership” 
arrangement, or any similar use arrangement that provides special legal 
entitlements for the use of the bond financed property;

2. No more than 10% of the proceeds of any tax-exempt bond issued (including 
the property financed with the Bonds) may be used for private business use, of 
which no more than 5% of the proceeds of the tax-exempt bond issued 
(including the property financed with the bonds) may be used for any 
“unrelated” private business use - that is, generally, a private business use that 
is not functionally related to the government’s purposes of the Bonds; and no 
more than the lesser of $5,000,000 or 5% of the proceeds of a tax-exempt 
bond issued may be used to make or finance a loan to any person other than a 
state or local government unit;

3. Before entering into a special use arrangement with a non-governmental 
person that involves the use of bond financed property, the Coordinator will 
consult with bond counsel, provide bond counsel with a description of the 
proposed non-governmental use arrangement, and determine whether that use 
arrangement, if put into effect, will be consistent with the restrictions on 
private business use of the bond financed property;

4. In connection with the evaluation of any proposed non-governmental use 
arrangement, the Issuer will consult with bond counsel to obtain federal tax 
advice in whether that use arrangement, if put into effect, will be consistent 
with the restrictions on private business use of the bond financed property, 
and if not, whether any “remedial action” permitting under §141 of the Code 
may be taken as means of enabling that use arrangement to be put into effect 
without adversely affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds.

D. The Coordinator shall maintain a copy of any such proposed agreement, contract, 
lease or arrangement, together with the response by bond counsel with respect to 
said proposal for at least three (3) years after retirement of all tax-exempt 
obligations issued to fund all or any portion of bond financed assets.  

E. The Coordinator shall consult with bond counsel and other legal counsel and 
advisers in the review of any change in use of bond-financed or refinanced assets 
to ensure compliance with all covenants and restriction set forth in the Certificate.

F. The Coordinator shall confer at least annually with other personnel responsible 
for bond-financed or refinanced assets, to identify and discuss any existing or 
planned use of bond-financed or refinanced assets, to ensure that those uses are 
consistent with all covenants and restrictions set forth in the Certificate.

308



44

G. To the extent that the Coordinator discovers that any applicable tax restrictions 
regarding use of bond proceeds and bond-financed or refinanced assets will or 
may be violated, the Coordinator shall consult promptly with bond counsel and 
other legal counsel and advisers to determine a course of action to remediate all 
nonqualified bonds, if such counsel advises that a remedial action is necessary.

SECTION VII: BANK QUALIFICATION

If the Bonds are issued in a par amount of $10 million or less and designated by the 
Issuer as “bank qualified” under Section 265(b)(3) of the Code, the Coordinator will 
monitor the amount of subsequent tax-exempt obligations issued or proposed to be issued 
in the calendar year in which the Bonds closed to ensure that the Issuer does not exceed 
the $10 million threshold in such calendar year.

SECTION VIII: GENERAL PROJECT RECORDS 

A. For each project financed with tax-exempt obligations, the Coordinator shall 
maintain a copy of all material documents relating to capital expenditures 
financed or refinanced by tax-exempt proceeds, until three (3) years after 
retirement of the tax-exempt obligations or obligations issued to refund those 
obligations including (without limitation), the following:
1. Appraisals, demand surveys or feasibility studies;
2. Applications, approvals and other documentation of grants;
3. Depreciation schedules;
4. Contracts respecting the project, including construction contracts;
5. Purchase order;
6. Invoices,
7. Trustee requisitions and payment records;
8. Documents relating to costs reimbursed with Bond proceeds;
9. Records identifying the assets or portion of assets that are financed or 

refinanced with Bond proceeds, including a final allocation of proceeds.

SECTION IX: ADVANCE REFUNDINGS

A. The Coordinator, shall be responsible for the following current, post issuance and 
record retention procedures with respect to advance refunding bonds:
1. Identify and select bonds to be advance refunded and advice from internal 

financial personnel, and a financial advisor.
2. The Coordinator shall identify, with advice from the financial advisor and 

bond counsel, any possible federal tax compliance issues prior to structuring 
any advance refunding.

3. The Coordinator shall review the structure with the input of the financial 
advisor and bond counsel, of advance refunding issues prior to the issuance to 
ensure:

309



45

a. That the proposed refunding is permitted pursuant to applicable federal tax 
requirements if there has been a prior refunding of the original bond 
issues;

b. That the proposed issuance complies with federal income tax requirements 
which might impose restrictions on the redemption date of the refunded 
bonds;

c. That the proposed issuance complies with federal income tax requirements 
which allows for the proceeds and replacement proceeds of an issue to be 
invested temporarily in higher yielding investments without causing the 
advance refunding bonds to become “arbitrage bonds”;

d. That the proposed issuance will not result in the issuer’s exploitation of 
the difference between tax exempt and taxable interest rates to obtain a 
financial advantage nor overburden the tax exempt market in a way that 
might be considered an abusive transaction for federal tax purposes;

e. That the proposed refunding complies with applicable State law.
4. The Coordinator shall collect and review data related to arbitrage yield 

restriction and rebate requirements for advance refunding bonds.  To ensure 
such compliance, the Coordinator shall engage a rebate consultant to prepare a 
verification report in connection with the advance refunding issuance.  Said 
report shall ensure said requirements are satisfied.

5. The Coordinator shall, whenever possible, purchases SLGS to size each 
advance refunding escrow.  The financial advisor and/or bond counsel shall be 
included in the process of subscribing SLGS.  To the extent SLGS are not 
available for purchase, the Coordinator shall, in consultation with bond 
counsel and the financial advisor, comply with IRS regulations.

6. To the extent the Issuer elects to purchase a guaranteed investment contract, 
the Coordinator shall ensure, after input from bond counsel, compliance with 
any bidding requirements set forth by the IRS regulations.

7. In determining the issue price for any advance refunding issuance, the 
Coordinator shall obtain and retain issue price certification by the purchasing 
underwriter at closing.

8. After the issuance of an advance refunding issue, the Coordinator shall ensure 
timely identification of violations of any federal tax requirements and engage 
bond counsel in attempt to remediate same in accordance with IRS 
regulations.

SECTION X: CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
A. The Coordinator shall assure compliance with each continuing disclosure 

certificate and annually, per continuing disclosure agreements, file audited annual 
financial statements and other information required by each continuing disclosure 
agreement.  The Coordinator will monitor material events as described in each 
continuing disclosure agreement and assure compliance with material event 
disclosure.  Events to be reported shall be reported promptly, but in no event not 
later than ten (10) Business Days after the day of the occurrence of the event.  
Currently, such notice shall be given in the event of:
1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

310



46

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material;
3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements relating to the bonds reflecting 

financial difficulties;
5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS 
Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to 
the tax-exempt status of the bonds, or material events affecting the tax-exempt 
status of the bonds;

7. Modifications to rights of Holders of the Bonds, if material;
8. Bond calls (excluding sinking fund mandatory redemptions), if material, and 

tender offers;
9. Defeasances of bonds;
10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the bonds, if 

material;
11. Rating changes on the bonds;
12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer;
13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the 

Issuer or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other 
than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to 
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating 
to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material;

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 
trustee, if material.

SECTION XI: DUE DILIGENCE AND REMEDIAL ACTIONS

In all activities related to the Issuer’s Bonds, the Coordinator and his/her staff will 
exercise due diligence to comply with the Code provisions governing tax-exempt 
obligations.  The Issuer is aware of (a) the Voluntary Closing Agreement Program 
(known as “VCAP”) operated by the IRS which allows issuers to voluntarily enter into a 
closing agreement in the event of certain non-compliance with the Federal tax 
requirements and (b) the remedial actions available under Section 1.141-12 of the Income 
Tax Regulations for private use of bond financed property which was not expected at the 
time the Bonds were issued.

SECTION XII: PERIODIC REVIEW

The Issuer will monitor compliance with the guidelines contained in this policy as well as 
any other covenants not specifically included herein and will review and update these 
guidelines at least annually and whenever necessary due to changes in the law and 
circumstances.

311



47
312



Staff Report
Title: Town Council Rules of Procedures UPDATES

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
The Town Council, at their annual workshop of 08/08/18, discussed amendments to the Town Council Rules of 
Procedures to include sections:

1. 2.a – add “Motion to adopt the Family Services Guidelines”
2. 2.a – update item 12 for general “Administration” and “annual” vs. specific position and dates
3. 2.c.3.a – remove “if available taped voice vote may be used”
4. 2.c.3.d – remove “Minutes and attachments shall be posted separately from each other.”
5. 2.c.3.d – add “Minutes shall be posted on the Town website.”
6. 3.c – update “The Council shall not recognize a Councilor’s electronic method(s) of participation, 

attendance, or quorum.”
7. 3.g – update “The Chair and Vice-Chair and Secretary shall be seated at the head of the Council table in 

Chambers. 
8. 3.g – add “The Secretary shall be seated next to the Town Council Recording Clerk.”
9. 7.f.2 – update “New Business submitted by noon the Wednesday end of business two Thursdays”
10. 7.f.3 - update “New Business submitted after noon the Wednesday end of business two Thursdays”
11. 9.a – update “no later than noon the Wednesday end of business two Thursdays”

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to approve the amendments to the Town Council Rules of Procedures as presented.

OR

Motion to approve amendments to the Town Council Rules of Procedures for item(s) # x,x,x above.

Fiscal Impact
None.

Prepared By: Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

313



Town of Hooksett 
Town Council Rules of Procedures

Adopted as of:  01/10/2001
Amended as of:  04/11/18 08/22/18

Resolved by the Town Council of the Town of Hooksett, NH that the following be and hereby are adopted as 
the Rules of the Hooksett Town Council. 

1. The Following Rules shall be adopted by a majority of the Hooksett Town Council and these 
rules shall become effective immediately upon their adoption.

a. Riggins Rules and Parliamentary Law at a Glance by E.C. Utter should be used as a guide 
when proper procedure is in question except where modified herein.

b. Acceptable Procedure is determined by the acting Chair. 

2. Procedures for electing officers are as follows:
a. Annually, at the first meeting of the new Town Council:

1. The Town Clerk shall swear-in all new Councilors as a group.
The members thereof shall:

2. Choose, from among their members, a Chair, a Vice Chair and a Secretary. In 
addition to the powers conferred upon the Chair, the Vice Chair and the 
Secretary, they shall continue to have all the rights, privileges and immunities of 
a member of the Town Council.

3. Motion that the Town Council confirms by a roll call vote, that the Town of 
Hooksett will adopt RSA 31:104, 31:105 and 31:106 to provide immunity and 
indemnify all Town Councilors, other elected officials, employees, agents as 
well as appointed officials that serve on committees and boards within the Town 
of Hooksett; specifically covering immunity from civil liability for discretionary 
acts, according to RSA 31:104, indemnification for costs of defense of civil 
suits, according to RSA 31:105 and indemnification for civil rights claims, 
according to RSA 31:106.

4. Motion to have the Town Council Chair sign ancillary documents as agent to 
expend as a result of Town Council prior approval of the documents.

5. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete the Council’s section of the 
Annual Report.

6. Motion to have the Town Council Chair complete Tax Deed Waivers.
7. Motion to adopt the Town Council Rules of Procedures.
8. Motion to adopt the Administrative Code (which includes the Investment and 

Fund Balance Policies).
9. Motion to adopt the Family Services Guidelines.
10. Motion to have the Tax Collector sign payment plans for deedable properties.
11. Motion to have the Town Administrator approve payment plans for deedable 

properties (Town Administrator cannot forgive interest or principal).
12. Motion to have a Councilor work with Administration the Administrative 

Services Coordinator to coordinate the annual Town Council Old Home Day 
booth (3rd Saturday in September) and Employee Appreciation Picnic (Friday in 
October prior to Columbus Day holiday) 

b. The above election shall be by majority vote of the Town Council present at the first 
meeting.

c. Duties of Officers
1. Chair: 

314



Town Council Rules of Procedures 2
a. The Chair with the Town Administrator shall post all meetings and set 

meeting agenda.
b. Lead all meetings in an orderly manner using these procedures, Hooksett’s 

Town Charter, Riggins Rules and Parliamentary Law as guides for 
appropriate protocol.

2. Vice Chair: 
a. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair shall conduct the Council 

Meeting until such time as the Chair is present. 
3. Council Secretary: 

a. The Council Secretary shall be responsible for recording the attendance of 
Council members by roll call.  (If available taped voice vote may be used)
at the beginning of each meeting.

b. The Council Secretary shall be responsible for polling and recording all roll 
call votes. 

c. If the Council Secretary is absent, the chair shall ask for a volunteer.  If 
there is no volunteer, the Chair shall appoint a Council member to act as 
Council Secretary until such time as the Council Secretary is present. 

d. The Town Council Secretary shall act as clerk of the Council and shall 
review and approve (with or without edits) the draft (unofficial) minutes of 
the meeting recorded by the Recording Clerk. If there is no Recording 
Clerk present at meeting, the Town Council Secretary will be asked to keep 
minutes. Minutes and attachments shall be posted separately from each 
other.  Only the Minutes section will appear in the Town Council agenda 
packet. Minutes shall be posted on the Town website.

e. The Town Council Secretary shall perform such other duties in the meeting 
as may be requested by the presiding officer of Council.

f. In case of the absence of the Chair and the Vice Chair the Council 
Secretary shall call the Council to order and act as Chair.

3. Council Meetings 
a. The Council shall meet in regular session on the 2nd and 4th Wednesday of every month, 

except as noted on Town Calendar, at 6:00pm.  When time permits, a regular meeting may 
be adjoined to a workshop session. 

b. The place of meetings shall be the Council Chambers unless otherwise designated. 
c. A quorum of the Council for the transaction of any business shall be two-thirds (2/3) of 

the members currently in office. The Council shall not recognize a Councilor’s electronic 
method(s) of participation, attendance, or quorum. 

d. The Council reserves the right to end meetings at 9:30.  The Council shall motion to 
extend public session meetings past 9:30pm as follows “motion to extend public session 
until meeting is adjourned”. Uncovered business will be included in the next meeting 
agenda.  Meeting may be closed by a 2/3 roll call vote.

e. The Council may meet for an informal workshop session or special meetings by Council 
vote on an as needed basis, in accordance of Section 3.5 C of the Town Charter.  The 
place of meeting shall be the Council Chambers. 

f. When, after consultation with the Vice Chair and the Town Administrator, the Chair 
determines that the Council has insufficient business to warrant a meeting, the Chair may 
cancel said meeting after informing all councilors and receiving individual approval from 
2/3 of the council members and shall not be inconsistent with the meeting provisions of 
the Town Charter.  Agenda items scheduled for a meeting that is canceled shall be carried 
over to the next regular meeting.

315



Town Council Rules of Procedures 3
g. Council members shall be seated in Council Chambers as determined by consensus of 

the Council. The Chair and Vice-Chair and Secretary shall be seated at the head of the 
Council table in Chambers. The Secretary shall be seated next to the Town Council 
Recording Clerk.

h. Council members, staff and members of the general public participating in meetings shall 
address all questions or remarks through the Chair confine their remarks to the merit of 
pending questions; and shall not engage in personalities. 

i. Any member may leave the Council Chambers while in regular session after notice to the 
Chair of pressing business providing there is no loss of quorum as determined by the 
Chair.

4. Town Employees
a. The Town Administrator will attend all regular meetings or request representation from a 

Town Department to attend in their place.
b. The Town Administrator shall be responsible for providing the Council with necessary 

background information on all items of business before the Council. 
c. The Town Administrator may have the head of any department or division or other 

employee of the Town in attendance at any meeting when items within their responsibility 
or knowledge is being discussed.  All questions shall be directed to the Town 
Administrator who may, when necessary, defer to a department head or employee.  Staff 
should be made aware of all items on the agenda to be ready to discuss items in respect to 
their department or area of responsibility.

5. Voting
a. Every member present, including the Chair, when a question is put shall vote either aye 

(yes) or nay (no) or abstain and give reason for abstaining, in accordance with the Town 
Charter.

b. Council Members wishing to abstain from voting shall so indicate and give reason for 
doing so. 

c. All votes shall be voice votes unless determined to be a roll call vote.
d. Roll call votes should be used anytime there is a motion based on 1) a public hearing item, 

2) any monetary item over $10,000 and 3) at the request of any Councilor for any matter.
e. Roll call votes shall be in a random order with the Chair voting last.  

6. Debate 
a. Council members must raise their hand to be recognized by the Chair.
b. Rules of Debate on all motions shall be as follows:

1. The council member, who introduces a motion, may speak to that motion. 
Thereafter, every council member may speak to the motion two times only. The 
sponsoring Council member may also address the motion two times, thereby 
allowing the sponsor the right to address his or her their motion a total of three 
times. 

2. If by 2/3 vote it is determined additional discussion is needed each council 
member may only speak an additional 2 times on a motion.

3. Decorum in debate: In order to assist in the carrying out of debate in an orderly 
and productive manner, Council members shall: 

a. Address all questions and remarks through the Chair. Do not address 
audience or council members. 

b. When commenting on another Councilor’s statement or question, identify 
the speaker, statement and when the statement was made. 

c. Confine remarks to the merits of the pending question.

316



Town Council Rules of Procedures 4
d. Not engage in personalities or question the motives of other Councilors. 

c. Any member who wishes to force an end to debate must first obtain the floor by being 
duly recognized to speak by the chair and must then move the Previous Question.  Such a 
motion must be seconded, and then adopted by a two-thirds vote, or by unanimous 
consent.  It is not in order to interrupt a speaker with cries of “Question” or “Call the 
question.”, and even if no one is speaking, it is still necessary to seek recognition.

7. Order of Business
a. Agenda Order of Council Meetings

I. Call to Order
II. Proof of Posting

III. Roll Call
IV. Pledge of Allegiance
V. Special Recognitions

VI. Scheduled Appointments
VII. Approval of minutes

VIII. Agenda Overview
IX. Public Hearings
X. Consent Agenda

XI. Town Administrator’s Report
XII. Public Input

XIII. Nominations/Appointments
XIV. 15 Minute Recess
XV. Old Business

XVI. New Business
XVII. Subcommittee Reports

XVIII. Public Input
XIX. Non-Public Session
XX. Adjournment

b. Public Input
1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council 

Meeting.  Time will be divided equally among those wishing to speak; however, 
no person will be allowed to speak for more than 5 minutes. 

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any meeting.  
Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal or 
derogatory about any other person.

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must be 
addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town 
Administrator, will determine if the question can be answered at that time.  
Questions cannot be directed to an individual Councilor and must not be 
personal in nature.  Issues raised during Public Input, which cannot be resolved 
or answered at that time, or which require additional discussion or research, will 
be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible for researching and 
responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by bringing to 
the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting.  The Chair reserves the right 
to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to deliberation.

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a 
subsequent meeting. 317



Town Council Rules of Procedures 5
5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the 

Chair.  Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted during 
Public Input.

c. Nominations for all Board and Committee applicants may be made during the 
nominations/appointments portions of the Council meeting. Boards and Committees shall 
receive their respective applications and make recommendations for nominations.
Appointment vote for a nominee will be scheduled at the next Council meeting.  
Nominations and appointments for new July terms shall be at the June Town Council 
meetings.

d. Scheduled Appointments
1. A scheduled appointment shall have one person as a speaker when possible and 

follow the rules for addressing the Council.
2. A scheduled appointment shall not exceed 15 minutes to address the Council 

unless the Council votes to extend.
3. Board and Committee applicants shall be invited to attend a Council meeting as 

a scheduled appointment to state their interest.  This meeting shall be either prior 
to or on the same night of their nomination.

4. Boards and Committees shall meet at minimum once a year as a scheduled 
appointment to provide an overview of their activities and member attendance 
reports.

e. Old Business
1. Business carried over from a previous meeting. 

f. New Business
1. New Business should be submitted to the Town Administrator or Council Chair. 
2. New Business submitted by noon the Wednesday end of business two Thursdays

before a regular meeting may be considered for the next meeting by request. The 
Chair may schedule the topic on the Agenda under New Business as the schedule 
allows.  Any new business brought forward at a council meeting shall not be 
acted upon at that meeting except by a motion to waive this rule by vote of 2/3rd

of the members present.  
3. New Business submitted after noon the Wednesday end of business two 

Thursdays preceding a regular scheduled meeting will be considered for the next 
meeting agenda unless time sensitivity is determined by Town Administrator or 
Chair.

8. Non-Public Session
a. The Council shall motion to exit in non-public, then motion to seal the minutes of the non-

public session as appropriate.
b. Non-public sessions do not require motions to extend the meeting past 9:30pm.
c. Non-public minutes shall consist of the subject matter and motions only. No minutes of 

the subject discussion shall be taken.
d. A councilor not present at the time non-public session minutes are taken shall receive 

these sealed minutes along with the rest of the Council.
e. Non-public minutes and/or material in possession of Town Councilors at a Council 

meeting shall be handed into the Administrative Services Coordinator at the end of the 
meeting for shredding of confidential information.

f. Unsealing of the non-public session minutes for the current fiscal year
(June 1st to May 31st) shall occur annually at the Council’s last meeting in May when, in 
the opinion of a majority of members, the circumstances that sealed the minutes no longer 
apply in accordance with RSA 91:3 III.

9. Filing Agenda items
318



Town Council Rules of Procedures 6
a. Every item of business to come before the Council for action must be filed with the 

Town Administrator or Council Chair no later than noon the Wednesday end of business 
two Thursdays prior to the regular Council Meeting.

b. The Agenda shall be posted by the close of business on the Wednesday prior to the regular 
Council Meeting.

c. It shall be the duty of the Town Administrator to mail by first class postage said agenda 
and any available supporting documents to each Councilor (if not already picked-up) by 
Thursday of the week prior to the regular Council Meeting unless a Councilor requests, in 
writing, to receive it in electronic format only.

10. Addressing the Council 
a. Persons other than members of the Council shall not be permitted to address the Council 

except during the designated agenda Public Input or by invitation of the Chair. 
b. A time limit for addressing the Council may be established by the Chair. 
c. The speaker shall not enter into a debate with any person, the Chair or Council members.

11. Amendment To Rules
a. Council rules may be suspended by a 2/3-majority vote of all Council members.  The 

purpose for suspension must be clearly stated before the vote is taken and 2/3 of all 
Council members must declare the matter one of such priority that it would be detrimental 
to hold over until the next regular Council Meeting. 

b. The rules may be amended or new rules adopted by a 2/3 vote of all members of the 
Council. Any such proposed alteration or amendment by any Councilor shall be submitted 
in writing at a regular Council Meeting under the order of new business.

11. Community Outreach
a. The Council Chair has the authority to act on the Council’s behalf to present and/or sign 

letters of achievement for community outreach to include but not limited to Town of 
Hooksett departments, businesses, residents, and volunteer or membership groups.  This 
authority is for times when the community outreach happens off-schedule to Town 
Council meetings.

12. Procedure for Adoption of Ordinances pursuant to Section 3.6 of the Charter. 

a. Prior to a Council member introducing an ordinance, the Council shall discuss the contents 
which may include editorial revisions and textual modifications. An ordinance needing 
revisions based on this discussion will be brought back to the Council in a final format at their 
next scheduled meeting. The final version of an ordinance shall be introduced by one 
Councilor for a public hearing at the Council’s next scheduled meeting. No second to a 
motion and/or vote is required to move an ordinance to a public hearing. The Council shall 
not take final action on any proposed ordinance until at least seven (7) days after said public 
hearing(s). 

b. After the public hearing the Council shall put the proposed ordinance in final form, which 
may include editorial revisions and textual modifications resulting from the proceedings of 
that hearing. An additional public hearing shall be held if the ordinance is substantively 
altered by the Town Council after public hearing. Subsequent public hearings shall be held at 
least 14 days after the prior public hearing and with the notice provided in Section 3.5 (A) of 
the Charter. The Council shall not take final action on any proposed ordinance until at least 
seven (7) days after said public hearing(s). 

319



Town Council Rules of Procedures 7
13. Procedure for Town Administrator Annual Evaluation

a. Council’s first meeting in May – Council will receive Town Administrator’s self-evaluation to include status 
on his/her goals with comments for period ending June 30th of the same fiscal year along with a blank 
evaluation form.

b. Council’s second meeting in May = Councilors are to complete and submit the Town Administrator
evaluation form via e-mail to the Council Chair and cc: Administrative Services Coordinator (or hand deliver 
to same at meeting).

c. First week in June = Administrative Services Coordinator and Council Chair consolidate each Councilor’s 
Town Administrator evaluation data into one report.

d. Council’s first meeting in June – Councilors to review consolidated Town Administrator evaluation report 
for edits.

e. Council’s second meeting in June – Councilors and Town Administrator to receive Town Administrator 
evaluation report in agenda packet and review at this meeting.

f. Council’s July Workshop meeting – New council to establish goals for new fiscal year.

14. Standing Moment of Silence
a. The Council Chair may call a moment of silence for the deceased with ascent of the Town 

Council at the beginning of the meeting

15. Special Recognition
a. Special Recognition may include but is not limited to:

 Hooksett Youth Achiever of the Month
 Boston Post Cane Recipient
 Retiring employees
 Longevity employees (at Council’s last regularly scheduled meeting each 

September)

16. Town Administrator’s Report
a. New hires will be invited and encouraged to attend the Council meeting following his/her 

hire date when the Town Administrator will announce his/her Department, name and start 
date.”

17. Approval of Minutes
a. Council Final Acceptance (Approval) of Minutes:  Council, at their next regularly 

scheduled meeting, reviews and accepts (with or without edits) the minutes (draft) of the 
prior meeting.

b. Council Correction to Previously Accepted (Approved) Minutes: If there are errors in 
motions identified in previously accepted minutes, the Council shall motion in their 
current meeting minutes to make the correction. The older incorrect minutes shall be
updated & reposted as “corrected” and showing the date of the motion for the correction.  
Errors in minutes of descriptions of subjects discussed may be corrected if the description 
would change the motion of the subject.  Scrivener’s errors (typos) may be corrected by 
the Recording Clerk without a motion of the Council.  Minutes are not required to include 
stenographic or verbatim transcripts.

c. Council Minutes for Town Archives:  Draft, accepted and corrected minutes shall be 
submitted to the Town Clerk for archives.

320



Town Council Rules of Procedures 8

18. Public Hearings
a. The Town of Hooksett follows the NH State statutes (RSAs) and Town Charter in 

determining when a public hearing is required for agenda items before the Town 
Council.  

Below are the items that require public hearings (these have a public notice in the Union Leader):
 New or amended Town Ordinances - notice is per Chapter 231:132-a of the NH Revised Statutes 

annotated, and section 3.6 of the Hooksett Town Charter
 New or amended Town Charter – notice is per NH RSA 49-B:5
 Accept Donation/Grant/Reimbursement of Funds over $10,000 – notice per RSA 31:95-b, III (a) (ex. 1) 

NHDOT Bridge Aid funds reimbursement for the Benton Road Culvert project, 2) FEMA funds for the 
reimbursement of February 8th, 9th, & 10th 2013 severe snowstorm expenses, 3) New Hampshire Highway 
Safety Agency grant to allow for 18 DWI/DUI overtime patrols)

 Accept Donation of Property over $5,000 – notice per RSA 31:95 e, II   (ex. Catholic Medical Center in 
Manchester NH to the Hooksett Fire-Rescue Department and the Town of Hooksett in the amount of 
$14,500.00 (Physio-Control LUCAS 2 device)

 New or amended Hazard Mitigation Plan
 Town Roadway Improvements – (ex. project alternatives for the roadway improvements design(s) at the 

Hooksett Hackett Hill Road and Rte. 3A intersection)
 Discontinuance of Class VI Town Roadway
 Conservation Easements – notice is per NH RSA 36-A & NH RSA 477:45-47

Note: Land use items require 10 day prior public notice in Union Leader and all other items require 7 days. 

Public Hearings not required, however Town may conduct out of courtesy (these do NOT have a public notice 
in the Union Leader):

 Establishing Town Roadway Speed Limits
 Renaming Town Roadways - (ex. Water Works Drive, Hooksett, NH for the closed off portion/loop of 

Industrial Park Dr. that will be closed off due to the GE Expansion)
 Potential Departmental Reorganizations

321



Town Council Rules of Procedures 9

Town Council Rules of Procedures
Adopted:  01/10/2001

Amendments

Date Amended Section Amended
August 14, 2003 Added Section 7-c.

Added Section 7-b-1, 2 & 3.
Added Section 7-f-2.

January 27, 2010 Changed Section 7-a Scheduled Appointments – added 7 pm.
Changed Section 7 - Order of Business - moved Non-Public Session towards 
the end of the meeting.

March 9, 2011 Changed Section 7 - Order of Business – added Consent Agenda after Agenda 
Overview and deleted Scheduled Appointment time (7:00 pm).  Scheduled 
Appointments to start immediately after Nominations/Appointments.

October 12, 2011 Added Section 6-c.  

November 30, 2011 Changed Section 7-a Agenda Order – Moved “Town Administrator’s Report” 
up before “Public Input”.

February 22, 2012 Changed Section 7-b    Public Input (See file)

August 14, 2013 Changed Section 5. d. sentence 2 “The Chair” to “Any Councilor”
Removed Section 5.d. sentence 3
Changed Section 7. d.  “spokesman” to “speaker”
Added to Section 7.d. “when possible” after “spokesman”
Changed Section 7. f. 3. “only if” to “unless” 
Added Section 8. c. at end, “unless a Councilor requests, in 
writing, to receive it in electronic format only.”  

December 18, 2013 Added Section 11 Community Outreach

May 28, 2014 Added Section 12 Procedure for Adoption of Ordinances pursuant 
to Section 3.6 of the Charter.

August 13, 2014
 Section 2.a - Annually, at the first meeting of the new Town Council – added:

o 1. The Town Clerk shall swear-in all new Councilors as a group.
o 3. Motion that the Town Council confirms by a roll call vote, that the Town of Hooksett will adopt RSA 

31:104, 31:105 and 31:106 to provide immunity and indemnify all Town Councilors, other elected officials, 
employees, agents as well as appointed officials that serve on committees and boards within the Town of 
Hooksett; specifically covering immunity from civil liability for discretionary acts, according to RSA 31:104, 
indemnification for costs of defense of civil suits, according to RSA 31:105 and indemnification for civil 
rights claims, according to RSA 31:106.

o 4. Motion to have the Town Council Chair sign ancillary documents as agent to expend as a result of Town 
Council prior approval of the documents.

o 5. Motion to adopt the Town Council Rules of Procedures.

322



Town Council Rules of Procedures 10

 Section 2.c.3 – Council Secretary:
o d. Changed - Administrative Assistant to Recording Clerk and Added - The posted minutes shall have an 

attachment of the overview sheet of the Council reading file and Council Chair signed ancillary documents.

 Section 3 – Council Meetings:
o c. Added - A quorum of the Council for the transaction of any business shall be two-thirds (2/3) of 

the members currently in office. The Council shall not recognize a Councilor’s electronic 
method(s) of participation, attendance, or quorum. 

 Section 5 – Voting
o c. removed – On roll call votes, Council Members shall vote alphabetically by last name, said 

name to be called on a rotating basis so that the name first called at the previous vote shall be 
name last called for the next vote, with the Chair voting last. Added - Roll call votes shall be in a 
random alternate order with the last Councilor who made a motion to be the first Councilor to 
vote on the next roll call.

 Section 7 – Order of Business added:
o IV. Special Recognitions (after Pledge of Allegiance) and VIl. Public Hearings
o c. changed appointments to applicants and added - Boards and Committees shall receive their 

respective applications and make recommendations for nominations. Appointment vote for a 
nominee will be scheduled at the next Council meeting.  Nominations and appointments for new 
July terms shall be at the June Town Council meetings.

o d. added: -
 2. A scheduled appointment shall not exceed 15 minutes to address the Council unless the 

Council votes to extend.
 3. Board and Committee applicants shall be invited to attend a Council meeting as a 

scheduled appointment to state their interest.  This meeting shall be either prior to or on 
the same night of their nomination.

 4. Boards and Committees shall meet at minimum once a year as a scheduled appointment 
to provide an overview of their activities and member attendance reports.

 New Section 8 – Non-Public Session – Added:
o a. The Council shall motion to exit in non-public, then motion to seal the minutes of the non-

public session as appropriate.

September 10, 2014 Changed Section Section 5 – Voting c. reworded:  Roll call votes 
shall be in a random order with the Chair voting last.  

August 12, 2015 -Section 2.A.6 add:  Motion to adopt Administrative Code.
-Section 2.C.3.d add: The Town Council Secretary shall act as 
clerk of the Council and shall approve unofficial minutes of the 
meeting recorded by the Recording Clerk. The posted minutes 
shall include a reference of the page number where the attachment 
of the overview sheet of the Council reading file and Council Chair 
signed ancillary documents can be found.
-Section 3.g. delete: Council members shall be seated in Council 
Chambers as determined by consensus of the Council advice of the 
Chair.
-Section 3.g. add:  The Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary shall be 
seated at the head of the Council table in Chambers. 
-Section 8.b. add: Non-public minutes shall consist of the subject 

323



Town Council Rules of Procedures 11
matter and motions only. No minutes of the subject discussion 
shall be taken.
-Section 8.c. add: A councilor not present at the time non-public 
session minutes are taken shall receive these sealed minutes 
along with the rest of the Council.
-Section 8.d. add: Unsealing of the non-public session minutes for 
the current fiscal year (June 1st to May 31st) shall occur annually at 
the Council’s last meeting in May when, in the opinion of a 
majority of members, the circumstances that sealed the minutes no 
longer apply in accordance with RSA 91:3 III.
-Section 13. Add: Procedure for Town Administrator Annual 
Evaluation

August 24, 2016 Section 2a – added 5,6, 8,9,10,11
Section 2c1 d – “Minutes and attachments . . . agenda packet.”
Section 3d – added “The Council shall motion . . . meeting is adjourned”
Section 8b – added “Non-public . . . past 9:30pm.”
Section 9a – added  “no later than . . . regular Council Meeting.”
Section 14 – new section “Moment of Silence”
Section 15 – Clarified “Special Recognition”

November 9, 2016 Section 7 – Order of Business – moved Scheduled Appointments under Special 
Recognitions

August 9, 2017 Section 7 – Order of Business – added II Proof of Posting
Section 14 – Added “Standing” to Moment of Silence
Section 16 – Reworded:  New hires will be invited and encouraged to attend a
the Council meeting following his/her hire date when the Town Administrator 
will announce his/her Department, name and start date with “Welcome to the 
Hooksett Family”

January 24, 2018 Section 8 Non-Public Session – Added: “Non-public minutes and/or material 
in possession of Town Councilors at a Council meeting shall be handed into 
the Administrative Services Coordinator at the end of the meeting for 
shredding of confidential information.”  

March 28, 2018 Section 2c3d – Council Secretary – further defined responsibility to review 
draft (unofficial) minutes    
Section 17 – Approval of Minutes – added entire section to further defined 
Council process to approve minutes

April 11, 2018 Section 5c,d,e – Roll Call Votes – further defined Council roll call votes
Section 18 – Public Hearings – added entire section to define Council public 
hearings

324



Staff Report
Title: Town Administrator Goals 07/01/18-06/30/19

Date: 08/22/2018
Background Discussion of Issues
The Town Council, at their annual workshop of 08/08/18, discussed the Town Administrator’s 
goals for period 07/01/18 – 06/30/19; nine (9) goals were drafted.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to establish the Town Administrator’s goals for fiscal year 07/01/18 – 06/30/19 as 
presented.

Fiscal Impact
To be determined.

Prepared By: Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator
Town Administrator’s Recommendation

325



ADDENDUM TO TOWN ADMINISTRATOR EVALUATION FOR PERIOD JULY 1, 2017 – JUNE 30, 2018

Town Administrator Tangible Goals for 2018/2019. 

Goal 1:  Old Town Hall – complete project sooner.

Goal 2:  Find new Director of Public Works and Town Engineer.

Goal 3:  Solve Parks & Recreation despite no full-time Director – solutions.

Goal 4:  Evaluate new hires under probationary period.

Goal 5:  Evaluate the current Town Fire Department needs based on data on number of fires and 
ambulance calls.

Goal 6:  Work with SNHU to determine if PILOT (payment in lieu of taxes) is appropriate.

Goal 7:  Create a Community Development guidebook for developers as a checklist for compliance 
with Hooksett requirements to promote continuity of developments in town.

Goal 8:  Promote Hooksett to “go green”.  Evaluate the potential to expand for expanding alternate 
providers for utilities in Town (i.e. alternate to Comcast).

Goal 9:  Work with the Hooksett Sewer Commission on the evaluation of a warrant article for a TIF 
District.

Town Administrator Date   

Town Council Chair Date    

326


	Town Council Agenda
	2016-1080 - TC Minutes 042518-U.docx
	2016-1050 - TC Minutes 062718-U.docx
	2016-1069 - TC Minutes 071118-U.docx
	2016-1095 - TC WORKSHOP Minutes 080818-U.docx
	2016-1071 - 082218 PW DONATION PH-1.doc
	2016-1071 - Staff Report - Donation of Sand pro.docx
	2016-1076 - 082218 HPD GRANT PH.doc
	2016-1076 - Staff Report - K9 $25,000.docx
	2016-1076 - 20180731101538738.pdf
	2016-1092 - 082218 HPD K-9 DONATION PH.doc
	2016-1092 - Staff_Report_K9_August_22.docx
	2016-1092 - Staff_Report_K9_August_22a.docx
	2016-1092 - K-9_donations_for_8-22_meeting.docx
	2016-1078 - Staff Report - 2nd annual NNO event.docx
	2016-1093 - Staff_Report_STB-donation.docx
	2016-1094 - Staff Report - Back to School Supplies Donations.docx
	2016-1072 - Staff Report-39 Pine Street Bond Release.pdf
	2016-1072 - Backup for Staff Report 39 Pine Street.pdf
	2016-1083 - Open Appointed Board and Committees (2018).docx
	2016-1083 - credentials - August Nominations and Appointments.pdf
	2016-1083 - august 2018 Nominations and Appointments.doc
	2016-1086 - Staff_Report - Final Council Assignments.docx
	2016-1053 - Staff Report NHMA Policies 2018.docx
	2016-1053 - NHMA POLICY 2018.pdf
	2016-1091 - SR Banking.docx
	2016-1077 - Staff Report - Stormwater Asset Management.docx
	2016-1066 - SR MS-535 2018.docx
	2016-1066 - Reconciliation of MS 535 to June 30, 2018 Budget Summary.pdf
	2016-1066 - MS 535.pdf
	2016-1084 - SR Budget Transfers FY 2018-19.docx
	2016-1084 - Transfer #2019-01.pdf
	2016-1087 - Staff Report Fire Lane Ordinance Waiver Request 082218.pdf
	2016-1088 - Staff Report Mutual Aid Agreement-Pembroke 082218.pdf
	2016-1089 - Staff Report - Hooksett General Assistance Guidelines.docx
	2016-1089 - General Assistance Guidelines.pdf
	2016-1061 - Staff Report Town Charter Updates 082218.docx
	2016-1061 - Town Charter Updates 082218.pdf
	2016-1067 - Staff Report Administrative Code 082218.docx
	2016-1067 - Admin Code 082218.docx
	2016-1065 - Staff Report TC Rules of Procedures 082218.docx
	2016-1065 - TC Rules 082218.doc
	2016-1062 - Staff Report TA Goals 2018-2019 082218.docx
	2016-1062 - TA GOALS 070118-063019.docx



